Department of Neurology Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

CAROTID STENOSIS, ENDARTERECTOMY, AND THE BRAIN

Brain microcirculation, diffusion, and cognitive function before and after carotid endarterectomy in patients with a high-grade carotid stenosis

Lauri Soinne

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki in Auditorium 4, Meilahti Hospital, on the 20th of November, 2009, at 12 noon.

Helsinki, 2009

Supervisors:

Professor Markku Kaste MD, PhD, FAHA, FESO Department of Neurology Helsinki University Central Hospital University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Docent Turgut Tatlisumak MD, PhD Department of Neurology Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

Reviewers:

Matti Hillbom, MD, PhD Professor of Neurology University of Oulu

Niku Oksala, MD, PhD, DSc Docent, Consultant Vascular Surgeon, Clinical lecturer University of Kuopio

Opponent:

Juhani Sivenius, MD, PhD Professor of Neurology University of Kuopio

© 2009 by Lauri Soinne Helsinki University Print 2009

ISBN 978-952-92-6277-9 ((paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-5805-9 (pdf) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

To Kirsi Marjaana

CONTENTS				
LIST OF O	IGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6		
ABBREVIA	TIONS	7		
ABSTRACT		9		
	CTION	11		
		11		
2. REVIEW	OF THE LITERATURE.	13		
2.1	Anatomy and physiology of carotid arteries and the cerebral circulation	13		
	2.1.1 Cerebral arterial circulation	3		
	Collateralization	4		
	2.1.2 Cerebral perfusion and its physiology	6		
	Cerebrovascular reactivity	17		
2.2	Imaging methods of carotid disease and cerebral blood flow	19		
	2.2.1 Measurement of carotid stenosis	20		
	2.2.2 Imaging of cerebral blood flow	21		
	2.2.3 Ultrasonology	22		
	I ranscranial Doppler ultrasound	23		
	Pulsatility index	24 54		
	Cenchrowegewien vogementen negativity	24 25		
	2.2.4 Magnetic vasongnes imaging	13 26		
	2.2.4 Magnetic resonance imaging	20 26		
	Diffusion and ischaemia	20 27		
	Apparent diffusion coefficient	27)8		
	Perfusion-weighted imaging	20		
	Dynamic suscentibility-weighted holus tracking	.)))		
2.3	Carotid occlusive disease	31		
	2.3.1 Epidemiology and risk factors	31		
	2.3.2 Overall stroke risk	32		
	Stroke risk in symptomatic carotid disease	33		
	2.3.3 Pathophysiology	33		
	Modes of clinical presentation	33		
	Atherosclerotic plaque and its destabilization	35		
	Coagulation, haemostasis, and haemorheology	37		
	Cerebral haemodynamics	10		
	White matter changes	12		
	Cognitive function	14		
2.4	Treatment of carotid stenosis	15		
	2.4.1 Carotid endarterectomy (CEA)	15		
	2.4.2 Medical treatment	17		
	2.4.3 Effects of CEA on the functioning of the brain	18		

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY					
4. SUB	4. SUBJECTS AND METHODS				
	4.1	Subjects	51		
	4.2	Controls	53		
	4.3	Methods	55		
		4.3.1 Imaging techniques	55		
		4.3.2 Imaging data analyses	. 56		
		4.3.3 Neuropsychological assessment	. 57		
		4.3.4 Laboratory analysis	. 59		
		4.3.5 Carotid endarterectomy	. 59		
4	4.4	Statistical analyses	.59		
5. RES	ULT	`S	. 61		
	5.1	Changes in brain diffusion	61		
		5.1.1 Patients with carotid stenosis	. 61		
		5.1.2 Patients vs. controls	. 65		
	5.2	Changes in brain perfusion	.65		
		5.2.1 Interhemispheric, within-group differences	.65		
		5.2.2 Between-groups differences	.67		
	5.3.	Cognitive changes	.69		
	5.4	Change in blood coagulation, fibrinolysis, and haemorheology	.73		
		5.4.1 General clinical and coagulation and fibrinolysis-associated variables	. 73		
		5.4.2 Comparison between symptomatic and asymptomatic patients	. 74		
		5.4.3 Effect of medication	76		
		5.4.4 Degree of carotid stenosis	. 76		
		5.4.5 Plague characteristics	. 77		
6. DISC	6. DISCUSSION				
	6.1	Changes in brain diffusion	.78		
	6.2	Changes in brain perfusion	80		
	6.3.	Cognitive changes	82		
		6.3.1 Cognitive dysfunction	. 82		
		6.3.2 Cognitive improvement	. 83		
	6.4	Change in blood coagulation, fibrinolysis, and haemorheology	.84		
(6.5	Limitations of the studies	. 87		
(6.6	Summary of findings and their implications	. 89		
7. CON		USIONS	. 91		
ACKN	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS				
REFER	REFERENCES				
ORIGI	ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS122				

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original articles referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-IV).

- I Soinne L, Helenius J, Saimanen E, Salonen O, Lindsberg PJ, Kaste M, Tatlisumak T. Brain diffusion changes in carotid occlusive disease treated with endarterectomy. *Neurology* 2003;61:1061-1065.
- II Soinne L, Helenius J, Tatlisumak T, Saimanen E, Salonen O, Lindsberg PJ, Kaste M. Cerebral hemodynamics in asymptomatic and symptomatic patients with high-grade carotid stenosis undergoing carotid endarterectomy. *Stroke* 2003;34:1655-1661.
- III Soinne L, Helenius J, Tikkala I, Saimanen E, Salonen O, Hietanen M, Lindsberg PJ, Kaste M. Tatlisumak T. The effect of severe carotid occlusive disease and its surgical treatment on cognitive functions of the brain. *Brain Cogn* 2009;69:353-9.
- IV Soinne L, Saimanen E, Malmberg-Céder K, Kovanen P, Lindsberg PJ, Kaste M, Lassila R. Association of fibrinolytic system and hemorheology with symptoms in patients with carotid occlusive disease. *Cerebrovasc Dis* 2005;20:172-9.

The original articles are reprinted with written permission of the copyright holders. The thesis also contains some unpublished data.

ABBREVIATIONS

ACA	anterior cerebral artery
ACOA	anterior communicating artery
ADC	apparent diffusion coefficient
ADCav	average apparent diffusion coefficient
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ASA	acetosalicylic acid
AVLT-D	Auditory Verbal Learning Test, delayed recall
AVLT-SUM	Auditory Verbal Learning Test, sum score of attempts
BA	basilar artery
BHI	breath-holding index
BNT	Boston Naming Test
CBF	cerebral blood flow
CBV	cerebral blood volume
CB-VISP	Corsi Blocks visual span
CCA	common carotid artery
CEA	carotid endarterectomy
CI	confidence interval
CS	carotid stenosis
CT	computed tomography
DSC MRI	dynamic susceptibility contrast magnetic resonance imaging
DWI	diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging
ECA	external carotid artery
Gd-DTPA	gadolinium diethylenetriaminepenta-acetic acid
GE	gradient-echo
GM	grey matter
Hct	hematocrit
HITS	high-intensity transient signal
HR	hazard ratio
ICA	internal carotid artery
LA	leukoaraiosis
LCT	Letter Cancellation Test
LDL-C	low density lipoprotein cholesterol
MCA	middle cerebral artery
MES	microembolic signal
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MTT	mean transit time, the CBV:CBF ratio
PCA	posterior cerebral artery
PCoA	posterior communicating artery
PET	positron emission tomography
PP-SUM	Purdue Pegboard, sum score
PVH	periventricular hyperintensity
PWI	perfusion-weighted imaging
ROI	region of interest
rtPA	recombinant tissue plasminogen activator
RVLT-D	Rev Visual Learning Test delayed recall
	reg . sour Dourning root, actuyed rooun

RVLT-SUM SD	Rey Visual Learning Test, sum score of attempts standard deviation
STROOP-INT	Stroop Interference, difference of colour/word timing
Т	Tesla
TCD	transcranial Doppler
TIA	transient ischaemic attack
TMA	Trail Making Test A
TMB	Trail Making Test B
US	ultrasound
VA	vertebral artery
WF-C	Word Fluency, category
WF-L	Word Fluency, letter
WM	white matter
WMH	white matter hyperintensity
WR-SIMIL	WAIS-R Similarities
W-VESP	WAIS Verbal Digit Span

ABSTRACT

Aims: Carotid atherosclerotic disease is a major cause of stroke, but it may remain clinically asymptomatic. The factors that turn the asymptomatic plaque into a symptomatic one are not fully understood, neither are the subtle effects that a high-grade carotid stenosis may have on the brain. The purpose of this study was to evaluate brain microcirculation, diffusion, and cognitive performance in patients with a high-grade stenosis in carotid artery, clinically either symptomatic or asymptomatic, undergoing carotid endarterectomy (CEA). We wanted to find out whether the stenoses are associated with diffusion or perfusion abnormalities of the brain (I, II) or variation in the cognitive functioning of the patients (III), and to what extent the potential findings are affected by surgery. We further aimed to compare the findings of the clinically symptomatic and asymptomatic subjects (I-IV). Microcirculation was studied both from the viewpoint of perfusion imaging (II) and the procoagulant and anticoagulant activities in the blood (IV). Coagulation and fibrinolytic parameters were compared with the rate microembolic signals (MES) and the macroscopic appearance of stenosing plaques in surgery (IV).

Methods: We recruited 92 consecutive consenting patients fulfilling strict inclusion criteria who were referred to CEA to Helsinki University Central Hospital, ending up with 98 endarterectomies, 54 on symptomatic and 44 on asymptomatic carotids. We used the total study population in study IV, collecting blood samples prior to operation for determination of fibrinogen, thrombin-antithrombin complex, prothrombin fragments PF 1 and 2, tPA antigen and activity, plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) antigen and activity, D-dimer, and hematocrit. The patients underwent transcranial Doppler (TCD) monitoring of MES counts and vasoreactivity testing with determination of breath-holding index (BHI) before and after surgery (II, IV). During the standard CEA, the macroscopic characteristics of the exposed plaque were recorded. A subpopulation of 46 subjects underwent magnetic resonance imaging with diffusion-weighted and perfusion-weighted sequences with dynamic susceptibilityweighted bolus tracking approach on the day before CEA, as well as 3 and 100 days afterwards (I-III). Of the MR-imaged patients, 44 underwent a comprehensive domainwise neuropsychological assessment according to the same schedule (III). The severity of white matter lesions was graded from conventional images. The imaging and neuropsychological parameters were compared using data on matched, strictly healthy control populations (I, III).

Results: At baseline, regardless of symptoms, the average apparent diffusion coefficients were higher in the ipsilateral white matter (WM), and they were higher than in control subjects. After CEA, the interhemispheric difference was abolished, but the levels remained higher than in controls (I).

Patients with symptomatic stenoses had longer mean transit times and lower cerebral blood flow at baseline than asymptomatic patients, and the difference was more pronounced in WM. Perfusion deficits were associated with symptomatic status, and they were corrected by CEA. In TCD, preoperative pulsatility was lower in symptomatic patients, and only their vasoreactivity improved after surgery (II).

The baseline cognitive performance of the patients was poorer than that of healthy controls in all domains. It was inversely correlated to the severity of leukoaraiosis. Despite transient cognitive worsening after surgery, mostly in attentional tasks, the cognitive performance of the patients improved similarly than in control persons over the months of study. However, patients with deepest hypoperfusion displayed a greater cognitive improvement, most clearly in the domain of executive functions.

Patients with symptomatic plaques had higher hematocrit and a trend for higher tPA antigen and MES rate. Hematocrit, tPA antigen, PAI-1 antigen and activity correlated with the degree of stenosis. In multivariate analysis, tPA antigen and high hematocrit were risk factors for symptomatic stenosis.

Conclusions: Carotid stenosis has an effect on diffusion in the ipsilateral WM, and the effect is partially reversible by CEA. The finding may be associated with the development of leukoaraiosis (I). Asymptomatic and symptomatic subpopulations differ from each other in terms of microcirculation and in their vascular physiological response to removal of stenosis (II). Although CEA may be associated with a transient cognitive decline, a true improvement of cognitive performance by CEA is possible in patients with the most pronounced perfusion deficits (III). Mediators of fibrinolysis and unfavourable hemorheology may contribute to the development of a symptomatic disease in patients with a high-grade stenosis (IV).

1. INTRODUCTION

Carotid arteries are the major suppliers of the human cerebral circulation. They are also predilection sites for atherosclerotic change, a long-standing inflammatory process of the arteries which is the most formidable threat to well-being in aging individuals in the Western world ^{1, 2}. One of the central manifestations of atherosclerosis is stroke, resulting in the greatest loss of quality-adjusted life years of all diseases ³. In Finland, approximately 14 000 cases of stroke occur every year ⁴. Carotid occlusive disease accounts approximately for 15-20 % of all strokes ⁵. A high-grade carotid stenosis (CS), being one of the major causes of stroke, is an important target for preventive treatment.

Stenosing atherosclerotic lesion of the carotid artery may cause stroke by giving rise to embolization of thrombi or plaque debris in the brain or by impairing brain perfusion ^{6, 7}. The development of CS or occlusion may also occur silently without recognized neurological symptoms. Surgical treatment of a high-grade stenosis by carotid endarterectomy (CEA) is an evidence-based form of treatment, and it improves the long-term outcome and survival of patients with a symptomatic carotid stenosis, but in asymptomatic carotid stenoses the benefit is considerably smaller ^{8, 9}. Intensive research has suggested many potential biological markers and pathological changes that may render a plaque more vulnerable, but still the process of transformation into an unstable plaque is incompletely understood ¹⁰⁻¹².

The role of impaired microcirculation in producing cerebral symptoms is less clear. Unfavourable anatomy or physiology in form of a less well-developed collateralization or cerebrovascular reactivity may give rise to symptoms in a susceptible individual, and the rheological properties of blood could also have an effect, as well as the balance between procoagulant and anticoagulant factors in the blood. It has been suggested that a tight CS might contribute to the development of degenerative changes in the white matter, often referred to as leukoaraiosis (LA) or white matter lesions (WML), consisting of patchy or diffuse areas of hypodensity in the cerebral white matter (WM) on computed tomography or white-matter hyperintensities (WMH) on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) ^{13, 14}. The association between CS and LA has not been conclusively shown, although hypoperfusion is considered to play a key role in the pathogenesis of LA ^{13, 14}.

Does CEA have other effects on the brain tissue apart from the prophylaxis of cerebrovascular events? Since the advent of this treatment, the possibility of improving cognitive functioning by restoring blood flow has been discussed. Despite a number of studies, there is no

conclusive evidence that any improvement would occur ¹⁵. To the contrary, surgery may expectedly be a risk factor causing at least a transient decline of cognitive functions even in absence of clinical stroke ¹⁶⁻¹⁸. Many of the studies are descriptive, and repeated assessment of cognition is challenging in patients with multiple concomitant diseases and other confounding elements.

The present-day MRI methodology provides new tools for brain imaging. With diffusionweighting (DWI) it is possible to reveal hyperacute ischemic change and have an in-vivo measure of biological diffusion shedding new light e.g. to the pathophysiology of WM ¹⁹⁻²¹. Perfusion-weighted imaging (PWI) gives a rapid assessment of cerebral microcirculation: dynamic susceptibility-contrast MRI (DSC MRI) is a widely-used method utilizing a simultaneous collection of the MR signal during the passage of a paramagnetic contrast agent bolus through the brain ^{22, 23}. By acquisition of data it is possible to determine perfusion using mean transit time of the bolus (MTT) , cerebral blood volume (CBV), and cerebral blood flow (CBF) ²⁴⁻²⁷.

Elucidation of the microcirculation and diffusion by the new MRI techniques could provide new insight into the effect of a high-grade stenosing lesion of carotid artery and its surgical removal on the subserved brain vasculature, in addition to the traditional methods of neuropsychological assessment and the transcranial Doppler ultrasonology. Combining an assay of the central elements of coagulation, fibrinolysis, and hemorheology would integrate the approach with the key determinants of microcirculation on the blood level.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Anatomy and physiology of carotid arteries and the cerebral circulation

The brain is one of the most metabolically active organs, reflected by a high rate of oxygen consumption ²⁸. As the brain is unable to store energy, the neurons are most dependent on adequate continuous delivery of oxygen, and blood supply to the brain is highly prioritized in the circulatory system. Although the brain represents only approximately 2 % of the body mass its share of the resting cardiac output is one-fifth ²⁹. In cases of circulatory compromise this share may considerably increase at the cost of other end-organs. Intracranially, the blood flow is protected by vascular anatomy providing collateral circulation, and by autoregulation of cerebral blood flow (CBF).

2.1.1 Cerebral arterial circulation

The brain receives its blood supply principally through four arteries: two internal carotid arteries (ICA) and two vertebral arteries (VA) [Figure 1]. Convexity of the aortic arch gives rise to the brachiocephalic trunk (innominate artery) giving origin to the right common carotid artery (CCA) and the right subclavian artery. The left common carotid and the left subclavian arteries originate directly from the aortic arch. At the level of the upper border of the thyroid cartilage, the CCAs bifurcate into external and internal carotid arteries (ECA, ICA), the former supplying the jaw, face, neck, and meninges, and the latter passes up the neck without branching, enters the skull through the carotid canal of the petrous bone and supplies the anterior circulation of the brain as well as the eye. Within the cranium, ICA forms a sigmoid carotid siphon which emits the ophthalmic artery before piercing through dura and passes medially to the anterior clinoid process, ascending to the bifurcation where it gives rise to the anterior and middle cerebral arteries (ACA, MCA) right after the origin of the posterior communicating artery. MCA supplies the convexity of the hemisphere and ACA approximately the anterior communicating artery (ACOA) in front of the optic chiasm.

Vertebral arteries arise from the proximal subclavian artery, ascending through the foramina of the transverse processes of the cervical vertebrae. They pass posteriorly around the articular processes of the atlas, entering the skull through the foramen magnum. The two vertebral arteries join each other at the pontomedullary junction, forming the basilar artery (BA) in the midline. BA ascends ventrally up to the ponto-mesencephalic junction, dividing

into the posterior cerebral arteries (PCA). BA gives rise to anterior inferior cerebellar and superior cerebellar arteries along with numerous paramedian, short and long circumferential penetrators. PCAs encircle the midbrain at the tentorial level, and they supply the occipital lobe and the inferior part of the temporal lobe. Small perforating arteries arising from PCA supply also the midbrain, the thalamus, hypothalamus and geniculate bodies. The posterior communicating arteries (PCoA) anastomose with the PCAs after their origin. There are many anatomical variations to the basic arterial tree structure.

Carotid arteries and their branches (the anterior circulation) provide approximately three fourths of the total inflow to the brain in humans, the rest entering the skull through the vertebrobasilar system (the posterior circulation) to the posterior parts of the brain. The systems anastomose at the base of the brain to form the circle of Willis, where PCoAs interconnect MCA and PCA, and so the most cranial part of ICA is connected with the proximal PCA. The carotid flow normally subserves predominantly the ipsilateral cerebral circulation with little cross-over flow to the contralateral side ²⁹.

Collateralization

When ICA fails to produce the ordinary supply to the cerebral vasculature, mainly five sources of alternative flow may be recruited. They are commonly divided into primary and secondary collaterals. The primary collaterals are arterial segments of the circle of Willis, providing existing anastomoses for immediate diversion of blood to areas with shortage of flow. The most important primary collateral route in ICA stenosis or occlusion is the opposite ICA providing the flow via the circle of Willis through ACA. Reversal of flow in the ophthalmic artery is a sign of a secondary collateralization and exchange of blood from ECA to ICA, and another secondary source is leptomeningeal anastomoses on the brain surface. Adequate collateralization may prevent haemodynamic insufficiency and protect from strokes $^{30-34}$; on the other hand, presence of leptomeningeal collaterals has been associated with a greater stroke risk in a few studies ^{35, 36}. Even in cases of well-developed collateral supply there are regions of the brain that are especially vulnerable to perfusion deficit: borderzone areas between basal cerebral arterial territories including the internal borderzone in the centrum semiovale and corona radiata, as well as the areas subserved by perforating endarteries supplying the WM and subcortical GM nuclei. There is considerable individual variation in the boundary zones ³⁷.

Secondary collaterals may represent anatomically existent routes, but enhanced capacity of these pathways may require time to develop. The opening and recruitment of collaterals may

be mediated by haemodynamic, metabolic, and neural mechanisms, and angiogenesis may stimulate their growth. There are also precapillary anastomoses between arterioles, but their clinical significance in case of an impending infarction is inconsiderable ²⁹.

The determination of collateral recruitment is not customary in the conventional radiological work-up, and the evaluations have appeared inconsistent even in the digital subtraction angiography (DSA) that provides best information invasively. The modern methods of imaging corroborate the importance of the variable collateral anatomies for CBF ^{31, 38}. However, the contribution of an individual pathway is not easily assessed or quantified in the clinical practice. Obviously, a more refined diagnostic methodology and approach to study collateralization is needed.



Figure 1. Blood supply to the brain.



Figure 2. The supply territories of the main cerebral arteries, middle cerebral (MCA), anterior cerebral (ACA), and posterior cerebral (PCA) arterial territory.

2.1.2 Cerebral perfusion and its physiology

Cerebral perfusion denotes microcirculation of the brain, which essentially refers to the blood flow through the cerebral vascular bed with its capillary networks, and the exchange of gases and nutrients therein. Most of the blood in the brain is located in the capillaries, and this volume forms approximately 4 % of the GM and 1-2 % of the WM volume. The net blood pressure causing the flow through the capillary network is called cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), and it represents the pressure gradient across the cerebral vascular bed. Consequently, for an estimate of mean CPP, intracranial pressure is subtracted from the mean arterial pressure ³⁹. CPP needs to be maintained within adequate limits to avoid hypoperfusion leading to ischaemia, as well as hyperperfusion implying inadequately high perfusion pressure and blood flow, which can be detrimental to the brain tissue and lead to hyperemia, vasogenic oedema, and secondary elevation of the intracranial pressure ³⁹.

The efficiency of microcirculation is dependent on arterial blood pressure, blood velocity, the structure and characteristics of the capillary network and its permeability, and the diffusion rates of gases and solutes. Usually, the perfusion is symmetrical in the hemispheres, and the perfusion rates are higher in the GM than in the WM. In resting humans, the average blood flow in GM is estimated to be 69 ml/100 g/min, and in WM 28 ml/100 g/min. Brain perfusion may be characterized with parameters such as mean transit time (MTT) in seconds,

cerebral blood volume (CBV) in mL/100 g, and cerebral blood flow (CBF) in mL/100 g/min, and their relationship may be given as

MTT = CBV / CBF 25, 26, 39-41

CBF is influenced by many factors including carbon dioxide, oxygen, blood pressure, and metabolic demand. Its coupling to brain metabolism is tight, and the local blood flow varies markedly in proportion to brain activity as proposed originally by Roy and Sherrington in 1890⁴², to ensure adequate oxygen delivery. How much the oxidative metabolism increases with brain activation and what mechanisms mediate the haemodynamic response are still debated issues, although it is evident that glial cells and calcium also play a role in the signaling process of neurons ^{43, 44}. An important regulator of basal CBF is nitric oxide synthesized by endothelial cells, catalyzed by one of the isoforms of nitric oxide synthetase (eNOS) ⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷.

Cerebrovascular reactivity

Cerebrovascular autoregulation refers to the fast-acting metabolic, myogenic, and neurogenic mechanisms that maintain cerebral blood flow constant over a wide range of perfusion pressure, shielding the brain against hypoxia at low perfusion pressure and against brain oedema at high perfusion pressure ⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰.

This constancy is mainly brought on by vasodilatation or vasoconstriction on the precapillary level depending on whether perfusion pressure needs to be increased or decreased. Although changes in blood pressure are transmitted to the cerebral circulation, normally functioning autoregulation tends to return the original level within seconds ⁴⁹. The overall mechanism of autoregulation is not fully understood. The myogenic hypothesis indicating a direct response of smooth muscle in resistance arterioles to alterations in perfusion pressure could explain the short reaction time. Endothelial factors, primarily nitric oxide, have been attributed a tentative mediating role in autoregulation after nitric oxide synthetase inhibition in humans, the experimental results are mixed ⁵¹.



Figure 3. Blood pressure – cerebral blood flow curve showing the autoregulatory plateau (reproduced with permission from Hademenos GJ, Massoud TF. *The Physics of Cerebrovascular Diseases*. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1998)

The efficiency of autoregulation as a physiological mechanism is restricted by internal thresholds; in the normal brain, CBF is maintained constant at arterial pressures approximately over the range from 50-65 to 125-170 mmHg according to various estimates^{29, 49, 52}. Yet, the upper and lower ends of the autoregulatory plateau are not constant. Many external factors have a strong bearing on the autoregulatory function: autoregulation is strongly influenced by arterial carbon dioxide and oxygen levels, e.g. attenuated by hypercapnia and enhanced by hypocapnia, largely mediated by pH changes, and sympathetic activation shifts the autoregulatory curve rightwards preventing exercise from leading into cerebral hyperperfusion ^{49, 53}. Sex steroid hormones have been shown to change vascular reactivity, estrogen tending to enhance vasodilation and testosterone vasoconstriction ⁵⁴⁻⁵⁷. Age and gender are determinants of cerebral vasoreactivity as well ⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰. Long-standing changes may be induced by chronic states, such as chronic hypertension causing a rightward shift in the autoregulatory curve ⁶¹.

Vasomotor reactivity implies the compensatory potential of the blood-flow regulating vessels, primarily arterioles and precapillary sphincters with diameters not more than 50 μ m by change of their diameter. This potential can be specifically tested by observing the response in

CBF or blood flow velocity to an evoked haemodynamic change, e.g. in arterial blood pressure or posture, or to a change in the carbon dioxide content of blood, which may be induced with CO₂ inhalation, breath holding, hyperventilation, or administration of acetazolamide, carbonic anhydrase, which has a potent vasodilating effect on the cerebral resistance vasculature ^{48, 62, 63}. Also changes in oxygen content trigger autoregulatory responses. Vasoactive infusions have also been used, such as L-arginine. Continuous assessment methods utilizing spontaneous variations in CPP without specific clinical intervention have also been described ^{64, 65}. According to the testing methodology we can talk either about static or dynamic autoregulation: the former refers to an overall comparison of steady-state measurements whereas the latter takes into account the latency of the response ^{66, 67}.

Autoregulation is impaired by several diseases such as ischemic stroke, traumatic brain injury, and subarachnoid haemorrhage ⁶⁸⁻⁷¹. Autoregulatory reactions may gradually decline in increasing degrees of ischaemia, and clinically lower vasomotor reactivity has been detected ipsilaterally in symptomatic carotid stenosis ^{72, 73}. Impaired vasomotor reactivity has been associated not only with poorer collateralization but also with a greater stroke risk in ICA stenosis or occlusion and the perioperative need for shunting during CEA ^{34, 74-78}. Conversely, the significance of autoregulation as a protective mechanism is evident in traumatic brain injury, in which preserved autoregulation is associated with good outcome ^{64, 65, 68}.

2.2 Imaging methods of carotid disease and cerebral blood flow

Cerebral angiography became the study of choice for brain vasculature and disorders after its invention 1927, and it gave the user a dynamic qualitative image of the cerebral circulation as filling-up and then wash-out of vessels with contrast. Later on, the revolutions of computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for structural imaging restricted the use of cerebral angiography to vessel imaging. At present, digital subtraction angiography (DSA) is still considered the gold standard for the imaging of a carotid stenosis as well as cerebral vasculature. However, in consequence of the fast technical development CT angiography and MR angiography together with ultrasound, even in vessel imaging DSA has to a great extent been replaced by less invasive or non-invasive methods in the clinical practice, and the safer newer methods have also paved the way for quantitative assessment of CBF.



- A = narrowest point of ICA stenosis
- B = normal-width artery distal to ICA stenosis
- C = estimated original width at the narrowest point of stenosis
- D = normal CCA proximal to the bulb
 - NASCET method of measurement: stenosis = (B-A)/B * 100 %.
 - ECST method: stenosis = (C-A)/C * 100 %.
 - Common carotid method: stenosis = (D-A)/D * 100 %

Figure 4. Calculation of stenosis degree.

2.2.1 Measurement of carotid stenosis

Subjective visual assessment of the stenosing lesion is not sufficient for guiding treatment decisions but a method of measurement is necessary ⁷⁹. A variety of methods have been used to this end, which together with the generally poor study designs has largely undermined the possibility of meta-analytical approach ⁸⁰. Of three most commonly used methods, the NASCET (The North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial) measurement has become the standard in practice ^{81, 82}. The NASCET method compares the minimal residual lumen at the point of stenosis to a normal ICA width, with parallelly aligned walls, measured beyond the bulb area (Figure 4)⁸¹. The ECST (European Carotid Surgery Trial) measurement compares the minimal residual lumen at the point of stenosis to the estimated 'normal' diameter of the carotid bulb 83. The common carotid index method comparing the minimal residual lumen to the diameter of normal CCA may be the most reproducible but despite an earlier recommendation it is not commonly used ⁸⁴. The ECST method involves a hypothetical measurement that may induce subjective variation, and it leads to higher percentages of stenosis compared to NASCET method, which could produce an underestimation of percentage and cannot be applied in cases of near-occlusion. In principle, the three measurements are mathematically convertible⁸⁴. The percentages of stenosis in the following are given according to NASCET method if not otherwise indicated.

2.2.2 Imaging cerebral blood flow

The first successful quantitative measurements of the CBF with inhaled nitrous oxide as the tracer were published in 1945⁸⁵. At present, there are several techniques for imaging and quantitative measurement of CBF and metabolism in addition to structural imaging. Part of them utilize different kinds of diffusible inert tracers, nonradioactive such as ¹³¹Xenon in xenon-enhanced CT, or radioactive such as technetium-99m-hexamethyl-propylamine-oxime (⁹⁹Tc-HM-PaO) in single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) or various positron-emitting radioisotopes, e.g. 18-fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸FDG) or 15-oxygen (¹⁵O) in positron emission tomography (PET). These methods are based on quantification of the accumulated diffusible indicator in the brain tissue, and consequently they give an image of the true perfusion of the tissue. The advantages of xenon-enhanced CT are acquisition of both structural images and quantitative CBF estimates, whereas the disadvantages are the sedative and CBF-increasing effect of the tracer as well as often movement artifacts and low signal-tonoise ratio⁸⁶. PET is a versatile tool yielding several physiological parameters in addition to flow, such as oxygen metabolism, but it is better suited to research purposes as its use is restricted by availability, technical demands, expenses, and the limited spatial resolution. Implementation of single-photon emission computed tomography is simpler and the expenses are more reasonable but its resolution is lower and quantitation problematic, and the longer half-lives of the radiotracers make repeated measurements difficult.

The tracers may also be intravascular, measuring the flow inside the vascular compartment, as in perfusion CT and dynamic susceptibility-contrast perfusion MRI (DSC MRI). The high-speed helical CT scanners and image reconstruction software have enabled the development of perfusion CT methodology, where the acquisition of data is possible during the passage of an iodinated contrast agent, and the perfusion can be calculated on a pixel-by-pixel basis from the arterial enhancement (arterial input function). The advantages of the method are acquisition of both structural images, angiography, and maps of mean transit time (MTT) and cerebral blood volume (CBV) and CBF, on a widely available equipment. The disadvantages are the burden of radiation and contrast agent exposure, which limit repeated imaging. Up to now, the coverage of the brain has also been limited, but this setback is greatly overcome by the modern multi-detector row scanners. At present, perfusion CT has already become a validated and fast technique that can be used to guide acute stroke therapy and predict outcome. In a similar manner, DSC MRI utilizes a nondiffusible intravascular tracer whose effect on magnetic susceptibility during its passage is evaluated by a fast series of MR scanning (the MRI methodology is discussed in more detail in the section 2.2.4)

2.2.3 Ultrasonology

Medical ultrasound (US) utilizes emission of high-frequency inaudible sound pulses (usually of the range 2-20 MHz) and gathering of the reflected sound from the body. The pulses are repeated in a rapid succession in slightly different directions, and the position of the structure producing the reflection can be calculated from the time interval between transmission of the pulse and reception of the reflection. It is an ideal method for soft tissue imaging, limited by its inability to penetrate air or gas. Speed of ultrasound varies in different tissues depending on their density and elasticity; for instance, bone distorts and rapidly attenuates the propagation of the sound wave.

An observer of a moving source of sound waves will measure higher or lower frequency than that actually emitted by the source depending on whether the source is moving towards or away from the observer. This phenomenon is known as the Doppler effect, named after the Austrian physicist Christian Doppler who first described it. The Doppler shift, frequency difference between the emitted and reflected sound signal, can be utilized in medical ultrasonology of moving targets by transmitting a sound signal and observing the change of frequency. The frequency difference can be given as

$$f_d = f_t - f_r = 2 f_t v \cos \theta / c$$

where v is the velocity of the target, c the speed of sound in tissue, θ the angle between the US beam and the moving target, and f_t the transmitted and f_r the received frequency.

In vasculature, the reflection is predominantly from moving erythrocytes in the sample volume, and thus the Doppler shift signal contains a spectrum of frequencies. The ultrasound system may utilize continuous wave emission with a separate transducer for reception of the returning ultrasound, or pulsed wave emission which can provide also a depth estimation of the source of the reflected beam with a single transducer both emitting and receiving the sound ⁸⁷. With application of different ultrasonological techniques it is possible to visualize the vessel morphology (B-mode imaging), combine the spectral analysis or colour-coded blood flow with morphology in a real-time viewing (Duplex sonography or colour-coded Doppler flow imaging). Power Doppler imaging produces colour coding of the flow based on the amplitude of the signal. With modern techniques, it has been possible to improve the detection of surface morphology with construction of three-dimensional ultrasound or enhance the signal-to-noise ratio with contrast agent and harmonic imaging ⁸⁸.

Noninvasive imaging is the mainstay of screening methodology in vascular disease. Since the introduction of the Doppler principle into the medical field over three decades ago, US methods have become the first line of imaging. In investigation of carotid disease, US is the most commonly performed imaging method ⁸⁹. In principle, US examinations are easily applied, but they require training and expertise, and as such they are highly operator-dependent. They can be used repeatedly, and the cost is very reasonable in comparison to other techniques. Transcranial Doppler approach was introduced into clinical practice in 1981 ⁹⁰.

Ultrasonological determination of stenosis degree is the screening method for detection of carotid stenosis. In its early forms, the atherosclerotic process may be reflected by the measured thickness of the wall structure (intima-media thickness, IMT), which has been used as a surrogate in many follow-up trials and is associated with clinical atherosclerosis, e.g. coronary events ⁹¹. In intermediate and high-grade stenosis of advanced atherosclerotic process, it is possible to observe the echogenicity of the plaque. Fibrous tissue and calcifications produce more shadowing, and lipid-laden plaques are associated with more echolucency, as well as intraplaque haemorrhage or thrombosis. Heterogeneous plaques and echolucency as a sign of greater lipid content or intraplaque haemorrhage have been associated with a greater stroke risk ⁹²; however, the viewing angles are limited, and the assessment of plaque morphology or surface structure is not considered very reliable ^{93, 94}. So far, studies on the predictive value of intraplaque composition have not yielded uniform results that would guide treatment decisions. Finally, at the later stages of atherosclerotic process, detection of the stenosis and quantification of its degree is the most clinically important parameter. Consequently, different diagnostic criteria have been proposed for a high-grade (70-99 %) stenosis. Peak systolic velocity (PSV) > 230 cm/sec, end-diastolic velocity (EDV) > 100 cm/sec, and ICA PSV/CCA PSV ratio > 4.0 have been found to provide optimized accuracy, and these cut-off points form the basis of a consensus statement for the US velocity criteria in CS⁸⁹. However, these criteria do not apply to near-occlusions, and US cannot reliably differentiate occlusion from a near-total carotid occlusion ^{88, 89}.

Transcranial Doppler ultrasound

Transcranial Doppler ultrasound (TCD) measures local blood flow velocity and direction in the proximal intracranial arteries through skull bone or its natural openings ⁹⁰. It is mainly used in the assessment and management of cerebrovascular disease, such as acute infarction, emergence of vasospasm after subarachnoid haemorrhage or elevations of intracranial

pressure. It is a suitable method for continuous monitoring, and it can be used to demonstrate right-to-left cardiac shunts, to quantify the rate of microembolization to the brain, to support the diagnosis of cerebral circulatory arrest, or to study vasomotor reactivity ⁹⁵. Recent studies indicate that TCD may enhance the lysis of acute cerebrovascular thrombi, because the recanalization rate in TCD-monitored rtPA-thrombolyses has been higher; however, proper application may be crucial as the insonation may not be harmless ⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸.

The major advantages are low cost of use, noninvasiveness, repeatability, option of continuous monitoring, and that it provides the simplest bedside method for non-invasive crude estimation of CBF. In addition to being operator-dependent, the main disadvantage is limitation to imaging of certain segments of the main intracranial arteries, and a minority of subjects do not have any applicable US window at all temporally ⁹⁵. A more accurate depiction of vascular anatomy and smaller arterial branches and venous structure is possible with transcranial colour-coded sonography methodology.

Pulsatility index

Gosling index of pulsatility (PI) is a measure for the shape of the spectral waveform, calculated by

PI = (Peak systolic velocity – end-diastolic velocity)/mean flow velocity ⁹⁹

PI is a relatively constant TCD parameter, normally within the range of 0.5-1.4 ¹⁰⁰. Higher values are associated with decreased compliance of the vasculature or increased intracranial pressure, lower values with low-resistance states such as poststenotic flow or arteriovenous malformation ¹⁰⁰. Although PI is often considered a measure of downstream vascular resistance, it is dependent on the driving force as well as downstream impedances, so it is an inaccurate reflection of the vascular resistance ¹⁰¹.

Detection of emboli

Particulate and gaseous material in the blood flow differ from erythrocytes by acoustic impedance properties; the reflection and the scattering of the Doppler US beam enhances the intensity of the received signal which is called 'a high-intensity transient' signal (HIT), or generally microembolic signal (MES) in TCD. These have been detected in various manifestations of vascular and cardiac disease, such as carotid stenosis, aortic arch atheroma,

atrial fibrillation, or myocardial infarction, or general cerebrovascular disease. Especially, HITS may be encountered in connection with cardiovascular procedures and surgery, including coronary bypass, catheterization and cardioversion, as well as carotid endarterectomy or angioplasty. Therefore, continuous monitoring of MES can be used in surveillance under operation. The problems of MES detection are not only the variability of occurrence but also of the methodology and detection thresholds, determination of the type of the signal detected, and the differentiation from artifacts, and these reduce the interobserver agreement and overall comparability of studies. New automated methods of discrimination are being developed.

In carotid occlusive disease, ulceration of the plaque with platelet aggregates and fibrin clots may give rise to MES, and asymptomatic occurrence of MES has indicated an increased risk of cerebral ischemic events ¹⁰². It is suggested that MES detection could also be used in evaluation of response to antithrombotic therapy ¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵. During CEA, TCD monitoring may provide data on the MES occurrence in different phases of the procedure as well as yield real-time haemodynamic information. MES maxima usually occur during the dissection phase, shunting, release of clamping, closure of wound, and during the first hours after the procedure. Their number has correlated to the ensuing MRI lesions, and the development of postoperative cerebral ischaemia ^{106, 107}. The haemodynamic monitoring may reveal decreases in flow velocities that indicate corrective measures to be taken, e.g. shunt placement, or appropriate medication and fluid administration. In one study, MES during dissection and closure, > 90% decrease in MCA velocity and > 100% increase in PI at clamp release were associated with intraoperative stroke ¹⁰⁸. Correspondingly, a notable (> 100%) rise in flow velocity after clamp release may predict increased risk for postoperative hyperperfusion syndrome ^{109, 110}.

Cerebrovascular vasomotor reactivity

Since the vasodilating effect of carbon dioxide (CO_2) is primarily based on vasoreactivity of arterioles and precapillary sphincters, the blood velocity in the basal arteries is roughly proportional to CBF. As the effect on the basal cerebral arteries is small, TCD is a suitable and widely adopted method for evaluation of reactivity of the brain vasculature ^{63, 111, 112}. Thus, on manipulation of pCO₂ concentration, the change in flow velocity in basal arteries reflects the change of diameter in vasomotor arterioles. A simple screening test for co-operative subjects is breath-holding, where the patient is instructed to hold the breath for at

least 30 seconds. By following the flow velocity during testing it is possible to derive a breath-holding index (BHI) ^{113, 114}

$$BHI = [(V_{bh} - V_r)/V_r * 100] / s$$

where V_{bh} denotes mean MCA velocity at the end of breathing holding period, V_r the resting MCA mean velocity, and s the seconds of time of breath holding.

Another way to induce a vasodilatory stimulus is to administer acetazolamide, a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor, which causes an increase in cellular and extracellular CO_2 , leading to a rise in blood flow velocity ⁶². The same effect is produced by increasing p CO_2 concentration in inhaled air ⁶³.

2.2.4 Magnetic resonance imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is still a relatively recent invention although it is a highly developed and extremely versatile imaging modality. MRI is based on relaxation behavior of hydrogen atoms or protons when they are placed in a strong external magnetic field and transiently perturbed with radiowaves. When hydrogen atoms with their dipolar magnetic fields are in an external magnetic field, the spinning nuclei become aligned with the external field, either parallel or antiparallel to it. The parallel alignment is slightly more common, leading to a net effect of a weak longitudinal magnetization. Although the alignment is not perfect, i.e. the precession movement of protons involves a vector in the plane perpendicular to the external field, there is no net transverse magnetization. Radiofrequency pulses used to perturb the protons produce transverse magnetization, and the MRI systems may be regarded as designed to measure this effect.

Diffusion-weighted imaging

By diffusion-weighting (DW), it is possible to track the molecular motion of water (the Brownian movement of protons), i.e. diffusion, by labeling the molecules with very fast-changing magnetic gradients. The application of a spin echo T2 sequence with two opposed equal gradient pulses to create DW was first described by Stejskal and Tanner (1965), but not until decades later was the MR equipment advanced enough for clinical application of DWI ²⁰.

The signal intensity (SI) of a DW image may be expressed as

$$SI = SI_0 * exp (-b * ADC)$$

where SI_0 is the baseline signal intensity (T2-weighted image, b = 0) and

$$\mathbf{b} = \gamma^2 \mathbf{G}^2 \delta^2 \left(\Delta - \delta/3 \right)$$

where b denotes the diffusion sensitivity factor implying the degree of diffusion-weighting, γ the gyromagnetic ratio, G the magnitude of gradient pulses, δ the gradient duration, and Δ the time between the two gradient pulses. ADC denotes apparent diffusion coefficient, and it gives a measure for diffusion in living tissue.

Diffusion is anisotropic in biological tissues because of natural boundaries to diffusion of water ^{115, 116}. Thus, measurement of diffusion is direction-dependent and, in principle, needs to be done in several directions ¹¹⁶. A basic approach would be to reconstruct images in which the white matter anisotropy is averaged, which would render them to subjective evaluation and visualization of areas with diffusion abnormality. Another more quantitative approach would be to construct image maps of ADC, cancelling the T2 weighting of basic echo planar sequence, which would allow a reproducible assessment of abnormal signal as well as the signal of normal-appearing tissue. Acquisition of images in at least three orthogonal directions will ensure a rotationally invariant estimate of isotropic diffusion ¹¹⁷. In the course of postprocessing the images, their natural logarithms may be averaged to form the rotationally invariant resultant image. By applying linear least-squares regression, this image and the natural logarithm of the T2-weighted image used as a reference can be fitted to the b values, and the negative slope of the ensuing line will represent the average ADC value (ADC_{av}) . More advanced postprocessing requires the possibility of using the strong sensitizing gradients with at least six different spatial orientations. This approach forms the basis for the diffusion tensor imaging, which allows estimation of white matter anisotropy (fractional anisotropy) and mean diffusivity of the tissue, and thus integrity of the tissue microstructure 117-120.

Diffusion and ischaemia

When blood supply to the tissue is diminished and the flow decreases below a critical level, which may be below 20 ml/100 g/min, ensuing energy metabolism failure (electrical failure)

disrupts electrolyte and water homeostasis (membrane failure) triggering a process that leads to cytotoxic oedema ¹²¹⁻¹²⁴. The ADC of brain water is seen to decline already within minutes after onset of ischaemia ^{125, 126}. Experimentally, the mean diffusivity of brain water declines abruptly within the first 15 minutes of stroke, and diminishes for hours to a plateau level that may be 60 % of normal ¹²⁷. Subsequently, the acute drop in diffusivity and the ADC values is modified by ensuing vasogenic oedema and increased tissue water, peaking at 1-2 days and declining within 4-8 days ^{128, 129}. In parallel, the process of deteriorating cellular integrity contributes to the diffusion change. As a result, diffusivity levels are 'pseudonormalized' within several days after stroke onset, and they continue to rise for days and weeks ¹³⁰⁻¹³⁵. Nevertheless, it is notable that the early ADC decrease may also be reversible; still, the reversal may not exclude selective neuronal loss in the rescued area ¹³⁶⁻¹³⁹. At the chronic stage, the consistently high diffusivity reflects the few barriers to water movement in the lesions after necrotic cell death ^{130, 135, 140}. Especially at the hyperacute stage of ischaemia, DWI methodology has become an essential and unique tool of modern imaging. By now, its applications are considerably larger and continuously expanding.

Apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC)

Apart from ischaemia, the ADC of tissue water may change in many acute and chronic states. Acutely, the process of cortical spreading depression first characterized by Leão in 1944 involves a propagating wave of cortical depolarization, which is associated with displacement of water molecules and transiently lowered water diffusion ^{141, 142}. In the same way, ADC changes characterize peri-infarct depolarizations, which accompany ischemic lesions and seem to worsen ischaemia, either by number of depolarization waves or their duration ¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵. ADC levels have been shown to decrease also in hypoglycemia ^{146, 147}. Epileptic activity may give rise to cellular oedema and postictally vasogenic, and DWI changes seem closely associated to ictal phenomena ¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵⁰. In brain trauma, it is possible to visualize diffuse parenchymal changes not apparent in conventional sequences with DWI, and it may be helpful in prediction of outcome in diffuse axonal injury ¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵⁵. In abscesses, ADC values are strongly decreased, which may be due to restricted water mobility with high viscosity and cellularity within the lesion ^{156, 157}. The most common demyelinating disorder, multiple sclerosis (MS) causes a variety of DWI changes: acute demyelinating lesions with infiltrated inflammatory cells, vasogenic oedema and demyelination with preserved axons usually increases ADC levels but also decreased levels may be encountered, hypothetically explained with intramyelinic oedema¹⁵⁸. In herpes simplex encephalitis the ADC levels may be decreased, or rarely increased in cases of vasogenic oedema. In neoplasia, ADC levels may be

useful in differentiating some tumours, e.g. low-grade gliomas are associated with higher levels than high-grade gliomas or lymphomas ¹⁵⁹. DWI can be informative in acute leukoencephalopathies such as posterior reversible leukoencephalopathy, hypertensive encephalopathy, and eclampsia, as well as toxic encephalopathies associated with the use of cyclosporin, tacrolimus, interferon alpha, or immunoglobulin therapy ¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶⁴. The clinical value in this setting is centered on the ability of DWI to differentiate between vasogenic and cytotoxic oedema, as the latter may at times represent irreversibly lost ischemic tissue: cytotoxic oedema lowers the ADC values and appears hypointense on ADC maps, whereas vasogenic oedema increases the ADC values, appearing hyperintense on ADC maps

Also chronic processes affecting cellular microstructure would be expected to have an effect on ADC values. Longitudinal studies reveal age-related increases in intracranial cerebrospinal fluid-filled spaces, mainly at the cost of cortical gray matter volume ¹⁶⁸⁻¹⁷⁰. The most common parenchymal change in the white matter (WM) degeneration or leukoaraiosis (see p. 42), is radiologically a patchy or diffuse attenuation of the white matter which makes it look hyperintense on T2-weighted MRI ¹³. Leukoaraiosis is associated with elevated ADC values, which correlate with the degree its severity ^{171, 172}. Furthermore, in cases with more severe leukoaraiosis, also the normal-appearing WM has higher ADC levels ¹⁷¹. On the other hand, normal healthy aging seems associated with fairly little changes in ADC levels, although some frontally weighted increase in diffusivity and decline in fractional anisotropy with aging has been detected ¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁵.

Perfusion-weighted imaging

Perfusion-weighted imaging indicates depicting microcirculation with MR techniques. Perfusion weighting may be based on susceptibility techniques (DSC MRI) or blood oxygenation-level dependent imaging (BOLD). The more invasive DSC MRI with either SEor GE-based sequences is commonly used clinically ¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁷⁹. Imaging based on BOLD is largely utilized for cortical activation studies and more in research purposes.

Dynamic susceptibility-weighted bolus tracking

DSC MRI is performed by combining the simultaneous use of a paramagnetic contrast agent, such as gadolinium diethylenetriaminepenta-acetic acid (Gd-DTPA), and a rapid collection of the MR signal during the passage of the bolus through the brain ²³. Gd-DTPA induces a pronounced susceptibility effect and spin dephasing, extending approximately to 5 μ m from

the capillaries into the brain tissue. The susceptibility difference between the contrast agent and the brain tissue creates local magnetic field gradients, diminishing phase coherence and signal intensity in the tissue surrounding the vessel. Gd-DTPA is cleared from the brain tissue in seconds, leading to recovery of signal intensity ¹⁸⁰⁻¹⁸². During hypoperfusion, the drop in signal intensity is less accentuated and may be negligible in the ischemic brain, which creates a contrast between hypoperfused and normal regions. The temporal and spatial resolution of the technique have been improved by technical advances, improving signal-to-noise ratio and acquisition speed. By now, it is possible to cover a large volume of the brain.

Quantification of the signal change to yield absolute haemodynamic parameters involves extensive postprocessing of raw images, and the values seem dependent on the applied methodology^{179, 183-186}. One of the most commonly used has been the deconvolution approach, referring to the determination of MTT and CBF from arterial and concentration curves in the tissue ^{26, 187}. DSC MRI data analysis for producing quantitative results has inherent limitations and thus far has not fulfilled the criteria of strict quantification ^{183, 188-191}. Crucially, the quantitative analysis of perfusion data is based solely on the measurement of an arterial input function, which has intrinsic requirements difficult to fulfill with DSC MRI¹⁹². Furthermore, although the shape of the function can be determined with a fair accuracy, its height remains arbitrary²⁵. Moreover, signal change in relation to the concentration of contrast agent is different in brain tissue and larger vessels, and blood hematocrit in microvasculature is estimated to be lower than generally in the systemic circulation, and individual variation therein would be an additional confounding element ²⁵. The signal is also affected by the orientation of large vessels in the magnetic field. Although the method has provided reproducible results in human studies, the basic assumptions of the approach may be restrictive in study of elderly patient populations with severe cardio- and cerebrovascular disease ^{25, 26, 193-195}

2.3 Carotid occlusive disease

Narrowing and occlusion of precerebral arteries subserving the brain was independently described by Wepfer and Willis in the 17th century, and the former already appreciated the potential of the finding to cause strokes ¹⁹⁶. In 1856, Rudolf Virchow described a case of carotid occlusion in a patient who had lost vision from one eye ¹⁹⁶. As a result of various reports and findings, it became evident by the early 20th century that carotid disease was one of the central causes of cerebral ischaemia. Development of vascular imaging with arteriography contributed to the understanding of carotid occlusive disease that enabled the observation of stenosing lesions in vivo¹⁹⁷. Clinically, especially the work of C. Miller Fisher paved the way for understanding of the clinical significance of occlusive lesions as well as of the potential value of restoring the circulation by treatment ^{198, 199}.

2.3.1 Epidemiology and risk factors

The estimated overall prevalence of carotid artery plaques in general population-based studies has varied from one-eighth to over one-fourth, depending especially on age $^{200-203}$. However, the prevalence of stenosis degree considered clinically significant (usually exceeding 50 %) is clearly lower, less than 10 %, as a rule $^{203-209}$. In two large studies, the prevalence rates of clinically significant stenosis in populations above 65 years of age have been 5-7 % in females and 7-9 % in males, and the recent meta-analysis ended up with figures of 12.5 % for men and 6.9 % for women in the age group of 70 years or more $^{204, 205, 210}$. In high-risk subpopulations, such as males in their late seventies, the prevalence may have been as high as 28 % 201 . In the same way, co-existence of peripheral arterial disease or ischemic coronary heart disease increases the prevalence of carotid occlusive disease severalfold $^{211-215}$.

Carotid atherosclerosis is associated with several non-modifiable and modifiable risk factors. Of the non-modifiable risks, age and male sex have consistently come out in population-based studies and meta-analysis ^{94, 200, 202-204, 209, 210}. Of the modifiable risks, arterial hypertension is strongly associated with the development of carotid atherosclerosis, especially systolic hypertension, according to a few population-based studies ^{209, 210, 216}. Smoking seems to be a considerable independent risk factor for CS, along with being a risk for general vascular disease ²¹⁷. Such an overall risk factor is also diabetes mellitus, in particular type 2, which is a notable risk factor for CS ²¹⁸. Physical inactivity is also associated with increasing carotid atherosclerosis, although the efficacy of physical exercise as a preventive intervention is not unequivocal. Smoking may effectively counteract the benefit from physical activity and

optimized diet ²¹⁹. There is evidence that also renal disease and non-alcoholic liver disease are risk factors for carotid atherosclerosis, as well as obstructive sleep apnoea ²²⁰⁻²²³. Homocysteine has been shown to correlate with the severity of carotid atherosclerosis in several large studies ²²⁴⁻²²⁶. However, the intervention studies with homocysteine lowering have failed to show effect in stroke prevention or carotid atherosclerosis ^{227, 228}. Evolving hypotheses involve lifestyle factors such as shift work, which may be associated with earlier carotid atherosclerosis ²²⁹.

2.3.2 Overall stroke risk

Stenosing lesions in the carotid system may account for 15-20 % of all ischemic strokes ⁵. However, the causality between the mere existence of a stenosing lesion and a stroke is not easy to establish, which complicates the evaluation of the true incidence and prevalence of symptomatic carotid disease. In a population-based study, the incidence of stroke among white Americans with at least a moderate carotid stenosis was estimated as 27 per 100 000 ²³⁰. A few stroke databases have registered the frequency of moderate or high-grade carotid stenosis in stroke patients. In the Oxfordshire Community Stroke Project, up to 40 % of all anterior circulation strokes had at least a moderate carotid stenosis or occlusion, whereas in the Lausanne Stroke Registry not more than 13 % of stroke patients had at least a moderate-grade stenosis ⁵, ²³¹. The pooled analysis of the major randomized CEA trials showed that a stenosis exceeding 70 % was detected in 21 % of patients who experienced TIA or stroke, and a moderate stenosis (50 - 69%) in 25 % of patients ²³².

The overall annual risk of stroke attributed to the presence of a carotid stenosis seems fairly low, of the magnitude of 1.5 % or less ^{207, 233, 234}. Still, on a population level, it was associated with a threefold stroke risk ²³⁵. Prevalent cardiovascular disease increases the stroke risk at least twofold, raising it to a level around 3 % per year, and the individual risk depends on the presence of additional risk factors such as age, hypertension, peripheral arterial disease, and diabetes mellitus, in addition to coronary heart disease ²³⁶⁻²⁴¹. Higher degrees of stenoses are associated with a greater stroke risk, approximately 4-8 % ^{238, 241, 242}. The association to the stenosis degree is not linear, however, as asymptomatic near-occlusions as well as occlusions that have remained silent are associated with a low stroke risk, probably due to sufficient collateralization ²⁴³⁻²⁴⁵. Notably, also the stroke etiology is heterogeneous, according to NASCET data suggesting cardioembolic or small-vessel etiology in up to 45% of cerebral ischaemia in subjects with a significant asymptomatic carotid stenosis ^{243, 246}.

Stroke risk in symptomatic carotid disease

The clinical manifestations of a symptomatic state are transient ischemic attacks (TIA) and hemispheric strokes (see 2.3.3), and their occurrence dramatically increases the risk of vascular events. A high risk of early recurrence after TIA and minor stroke is evidenced by a number of studies, and the risk seems to be highest in large-artery atherosclerosis ²⁴⁷⁻²⁵². A very high recurrence risk, weighted towards the very first days, has been described especially in patients with carotid stenosis, with a reported rate of 21 % at two weeks ^{248, 253}. Although the major endarterectomy trials recruited patients with nondisabling condition and relatively late, as a whole, they still show the benefit of early surgery ²³². This marked difference in stroke risk between recently symptomatic and asymptomatic high-grade stenosis indicates that the underlying processes in the stenosis are not static but the plaque may become unstable or 'active'. The natural course of stroke risk in the medical arms of the major randomized trials has indicated a rapid decline, reaching the level of an asymptomatic stenosis within two years ^{81, 83}. The risk is lower in women (hazard ratio [HR] 0.79, 95 % confidence interval [CI] 0.64-0.97), and higher in patients older than 65 years (HR 1.70, CI 1.28-1.56), higher in patients with hemispheric TIA or stroke in comparison to those with amaurosis fugax (HR 1.88-2.33, CI 1.38-3.13), and higher in diabetics (HR 1.31, CI 1.05-1.65) and in cases of an irregular or ulcerated plaque (HR 1.35, CI 1.11-1.64)²⁵⁴.

2.3.3 Pathophysiology

The clinical syndromes caused by ICA disease result from two principal mechanisms that are not mutually exclusive: 1) intracranial arterial thrombosis caused by embolism or extension of thrombus into the cerebral arteries, and, 2) perfusion failure caused by haemodynamic insufficiency ²⁵⁵. The most common cause of arterial narrowing is atherosclerosis - a chronic, indolent, and essentially inflammatory disease process, which has a predilection for large- and medium-sized arteries and leads to the accumulation of lipids and fibrous tissue material into the vessel wall. A considerably smaller minority of stenosing lesions are caused by arterial dissection, post-radiation damage, large-vessel vasculitides such as Takayasu arteritis, or connective tissue pathology such as fibromuscular dysplasia ²⁵⁶.

Modes of clinical presentation

Transient ischemic attack (TIA) is defined as 'a clinical syndrome characterized by an acute loss of focal cerebral or monocular function with symptoms lasting less than 24 hours and

which are thought to be due to inadequate cerebral or ocular blood supply as a result of low blood flow, thrombosis or embolism associated with disease of the arteries, heart, or blood' ²⁵⁷. Proposed definition of stroke has been recently revised as 'a clinical syndrome characterized by an acute loss of cerebral function with symptoms lasting more than 24 h or leading to death, and which is thought to be due to either spontaneous haemorrhage into the brain substance (haemorrhagic stroke) or inadequate cerebral blood supply to a part of the brain (ischemic stroke) as a result of low blood flow, thrombosis or embolism associated with diseases of the blood vessels (arteries or veins), heart or blood' ²⁵⁸. Thus, both manifestations are typified by sudden onset and a focal neurological loss, usually maximal intensity at onset, whereas distinguished by the duration of symptoms.

The differentiating timeline is arbitrary, based on mutual agreement ²⁵⁹. Actually, TIA and stroke form a continuum, as indicated by an identical etiology and prognosis for vascular events of patients with focal symptoms lasting less or more than 24 hours ²⁶⁰. Longer duration of symptoms is associated with a greater likelihood of a visible ischemic lesion in imaging as well as a greater risk of recurrence ²⁶¹⁻²⁶³. In general, in more than half of TIA cases, signs of ischaemia in relevant locations are displayed by DWI or combination of DWI and PWI ²⁶⁴⁻²⁶⁷. As the duration of TIA is generally considerably shorter than 24 hours and new methods of imaging allow visualization of hyperacute ischaemia, new definitions and timelines have been suggested ^{268, 269}. The recent guideline has adopted a tissue-based definition ('A transient episode of neurological dysfunction caused by focal brain, spinal cord, or retinal ischaemia, without acute infarction'), and recommends neuroimaging preferably with MRI ²⁷⁰. Approximately 23 % of strokes are preceded by TIA, and the subsequent stroke risk may be even higher after TIA than after a hemispheric stroke, and the prognosis may be improved by active and undelayed measures and investigations in specialist stroke services ²⁷¹.

Transient monocular blindness, amaurosis fugax, which is usually a short-lived phenomenon of monocular visual curtain-like or foggy obscuration of vision lasting seconds to minutes, represents a classical form of carotid TIA ²⁷². Often the loss of vision starts from the upper part of the visual field, and less frequently appears ascending from below, but it may also be patchy or sectorial ^{272, 273}. Altitudinal presentation, speed of onset within seconds, abundance of attacks as well as visual loss induced by bright light ('retinal claudication') are often associated with carotid etiology, whereas constricting pattern of the visual loss or the presence of positive light phenomena may increase the possibility of other etiologies ²⁷⁴⁻²⁷⁶. Apart from carotid etiology, especially the possibility of giant cell arteritis in the elderly should be considered, as well as ophthalmological causes such as retinal venous occlusion, vitreous

haemorrhage, or optic nerve disease as differential diagnoses ^{274, 277, 278}. In a population-based series from the U.S.A., amaurosis fugax accounted for 24 % of carotid TIAs ²⁷⁹. In connection with atheromatous carotid disease, the annual risk of stroke or death after amaurosis fugax is estimated as 3-5 %, which is approximately 50 % lower than the risk after hemispheric symptoms ^{257, 280}.

Hemispheric symptoms in TIA or stroke caused by a CS may stem from large-vessel territories, mainly MCA or sometimes ACA, their branches, or infarctions may occur in the watershed or borderzone territories between ACA and MCA or MCA and PCA, or lenticulostriate artery level between the deep and superficial perforators, the internal borderzone. Watershed infarctions may be more common in association to severe stenoses. but any typical patterns may be difficult to identify because of individual variation ^{281, 282}. Thus, the hemispheric symptoms of CS are predominantly anterior circulation syndromes. The most common manifestations of hemispheric TIAs involve motor and sensory dysfunction of contralateral limbs, purely motor dysfunction, sensory dysfunction, and isolated dysphasia ²⁷². Contralateral distal arm and hand are the most consistently affected parts. A specific albeit uncommon manifestation is 'limb-shaking TIA', episodes of irregular flapping, twisting, trembling or wavering movement of contralateral arm or leg, which is usually associated with severe CS and thought to result from haemodynamic insufficiency ²⁸³⁻ ²⁸⁵. The stroke syndromes related to a symptomatic CS overlap with those resulting from other embolic sources, and cannot be differentiated on clinical grounds, despite some distinguishing features on group level, such as fractional arm weakness in symptomatic CS (hand and shoulder differently affected) or reduced consciousness in cardioembolism ²⁸⁶. The clinical manifestations include the whole range of findings in combinations or in isolation, sensomotor hemiparesis, aphasia or dysphasia, apraxia, and neglect. Ocular infarctions may also occur, by way of central retinal artery or branch occlusions and ischaemic optic neuropathy.

Atherosclerotic plaque and its destabilization

The complex pathophysiological process of the stenosing plaque, during which lipid and other blood-borne material accumulates in the vessel wall, involves various pathways of disease operating and interacting at the different stages, often silently over years and decades until its clinical manifestations appear. Inflammation is one of the central factors throughout the process up to the activation stage of the plaque, whereas endothelial dysfunction has an integral role especially at the initiating and earlier stages ²⁸⁷. Branching sites with turbulent

flow are preferential places for lesion formation, partly mediated by altered mechanical stress ²⁸⁸. As a rule, the early lesions evolve slowly, and the encroachment of lumen is balanced by adaptive vasodilatation and enlargement of the vessel (remodeling). Although the clinical manifestations are local, the pathological process is systemic, as evidenced by the frequent findings in other vascular beds than the one clinically affected ²⁸⁹. The course of disease is highly variable, depending on the acquired risks as well as the genetic risk, and according to recent evidence, the course need not be inevitably progressive ^{290, 291}. A prospective population-based ultrasound has shown that the early-stage steady and slow progression may later on be abrupt and episodic, possibly as a result of disruptive events and healing periods ²⁹².

Atherosclerosis is essentially a pathology of the intimal layer, leading to accumulation of lipid in the intima, collection of inflammatory cells, and proliferation of smooth muscle cells ^{288, 293,} ²⁹⁴. The first stages ('fatty streak' with lipid-containing foam cells) may appear already in childhood. The endothelial cells have many physiological functions, forming a selectively permeable barrier layer between the vessel wall and flowing blood with tight intercellular junction complexes, a non-thrombogenic surface producing effectors that regulate inflammatory and immunological stimuli ²⁸⁸. Endothelial injury, promoted e.g. by lipids, shear stress and flow disturbances, may lead to impaired vasodilatation and increased adherence of leukocytes, impaired fibrinolysis, and finally even to apoptotic denudation and severe loss of protective functions ²⁹⁵. Smooth muscle cells may be transformed into proliferative forms, and with extracellular matrix elements they may be forming a fibrous cap covering the denuded plaque ^{296, 297}. Elevated lipid levels, particularly low-density cholesterol (LDL), cause the ingestion of LDL which undergoes oxidation becoming still more atherogenic, further impairing the endothelial function, and triggering proinflammatory reactions ²⁹⁴. Inflammatory cells, predominantly circulating monocytes, may enter the dysfunctional vessel wall by means of adhesion molecules and become macrophages, and after engulfing the lipid material, foam cells. Apart from macrophages, also T and B lymphocytes as well as mast cells are involved during the atherogenesis. Search for antigens in study of immune activation ongoing in the lesions has raised interest in several pathogens such as Chlamydia pneumoniae, Epstein-Barr and Herpes simplex type-2 viruses, and an association between antibody titers and progression of atherosclerosis has been found ²⁹⁸. However, there is little prospective evidence that the antibodies predict vascular risk, and the intervention trials with antibiotics have not been successful ²⁹⁹. It is possible that advanced plaques gather bacterial DNA and no single agent has a causative role although microbes may have etiopathogenetic role in the process ³⁰⁰.
Activation or destabilization of the atherosclerotic plaque, turning it into a symptomatic phase, is difficult to predict. As the plaque grows and stenosis degree increases, thrombus formation is more common, giving more easily rise to distal embolization from the stenosis, and the risk is increased in the presence of ulceration or eccentricity of the plaque ³⁰¹. Other mechanisms of symptom generation are local occlusion by a thrombus, which is more infrequent, and occlusion of small vessel origins by the growing plaque ²⁹³. Several minor studies comparing plaque pathology in symptomatic and asymptomatic stenoses have implicated a significant association between symptoms and plaque rupture, thinning of fibrous cap, and infiltration by macrophages and T cells ¹⁰. A large histopathological study confirmed the high degree of inflammatory infiltration and cap rupture in symptomatic plaques as well as the association between the pathology to time course since the last event ³⁰². The components of the fibrous cap may be depleted by various matrix-degrading metalloproteinases and other proteases expressed by inflammatory cells and smooth muscle cells, predisposing to rupture. The lipid core of the plaque contains high concentrations of tissue factor, which is very thrombogenic in contact with blood and presented especially by apoptotic macrophages ³⁰³. The blood contact is followed by deposition of thrombocytes, and the ensuing thrombosis is dependent on the balance between procoagulant and anticoagulant activity in the blood. Adhesion molecule expression has been suggested to be associated with symptomatic state, either as correlating positively to the endothelial expression or negatively to the expression in intima-media ^{12, 304}. Apart from the mechanism of cap degradation, the other mechanism of plaque rupture is physical force, predisposing sites with high structural stress to disruption.

Identification of the vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque is challenging. By now, it is accepted that the composition of the lesion may be the major determinant of the clinical manifestation of atherothrombosis rather than the mere grade of stenosis or volume of the plaque. This has sparked an interest in the novel methods of imaging the plaque and created a trend of molecular imaging. Considerable progress is expected in the next few years by a multimodal approach to patients with CS, by combining clinical history and epidemiology, versatile imaging, and biochemical markers for better identification of vulnerable plaques ³⁰⁵.

Coagulation, haemostasis, and haemorheology

Coagulation of blood and haemostasis, arrest of blood flow, are the very essence of atherothrombotic strokes. Clinical thrombosis involves blood flow, platelet-vessel

interactions, and the coagulation system. The phenomenon of blood coagulation is a highly interwoven interaction of platelet activation, fibrin formation for the backbone of the thrombus, and fibrinolysis for its breakdown. The intertwined elements need to be considered together to have an overview of the clotting process (for a simplified outline, see Figure 5) ³⁰⁶. The intricate balance between procoagulant and anticoagulant or fibrinolytic activity in blood could be crucial in generation of symptoms in cerebrovascular disease, and appropriate haemostatic markers would be of interest in identifying and possibly treating high-risk groups.

Several potential markers measurable in vivo are produced during the cascades. One of the key players is thrombin which induces conversion of fibrinogen into fibrin at the end of the cascade, but it has multiple actions as a procoagulant activator of several coagulation factors and platelets as well as an anticoagulation effect through protein C activation, which also enhances fibrinolvsis ^{306, 307}. When thrombin is cleaved from prothrombin, either by intrinsic or extrinsic activation system, prothrombin fragments 1 and 2 (PF 1 and 2) are released into the plasma, reflecting the degree of prothrombin activation and thrombin generation. The predominant thrombin inhibitor is antithrombin III, the most important inhibitor of coagulation proteases, and the forming thrombin-antithrombin complex has also been used as an assessable indicator of thrombin activity ³⁰⁸. Fibrinolytic activity is dependent on the conversion of plasminogen to plasmin, in which tissue-type plasminogen activator (t-PA), of endothelial origin, appears to have a central role ^{306, 309, 310}. t-PA activity is regulated by several inhibitors, especially type 1 plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1). Fibrin cleavage by plasmin produces several degradation products, such as fibrinopeptide A and B as well as cross-linked D-dimer, which is considered specific to fibrin polymer ^{306, 311}. In prospective studies, PF 1 and 2 levels have predicted cerebral and cardiac ischemic events and t-PA antigen levels have predicted stroke, and especially fibrinogen has been shown to be an independent risk factor for stroke and its severity ³¹²⁻³¹⁷. Still, the haemostatic markers have not yet produced useful prognostic variables for routine clinical use, partly for methodological reasons 270, 318.





Flow characteristics of blood, rheology, determine its ability to perfuse the brain; consequently, haemorheology is an important variable also in cerebral ischaemia. Blood is a non-Newtonian fluid, the viscosity of which in normal circumstances mainly depends on red blood cell mass, hematocrit (Hct), and fibrinogen, which constitutes the largest quantity of high-molecular-weight proteins in the plasma ³¹⁹. Not only high fibrinogen but also high Hct can be regarded as a risk factor for stroke. In humans, CBF is inversely correlated with blood viscosity, although autoregulation to some extent counteracts the fluctuations and protects the brain ^{320, 321}. At the acute stage, haemorheological abnormalities are common, and they may partly be due to non-specific acute-phase changes such as fibrinogen increase but in many cases they may just as well be chronic ³²²⁻³²⁴. All the same, elevated Hct in acute stroke may be associated with reduced reperfusion and tissue survival rates and increased mortality ³²⁵⁻³²⁷. Despite the potential effect on CBF, acute intervention trials aiming at haemodilution in acute ischemic stroke have not proven to improve survival or outcome ³²⁸.

In the context of carotid stenosis, platelets have essential functions not only in primary haemostasis and in acute vascular events but also in endothelial repair and during the formation and growth of atherosclerotic plaques. The mere presence of atherosclerotic plaque may lead to platelet activation ³²⁹⁻³³¹. The degree of arterial stenosis is an important factor in recruiting platelet deposition, contributing to the instability of the forming platelet-rich thrombus at the stenotic site ³³². Also, the contribution of thrombin generation in an experimental model of shear force-induced thrombosis and its inhibition during high grade stenosis-associated thrombus formation demonstrate that the growth of these thrombi is indeed thrombin-dependent 332, 333. Clinical observations supporting this view have been reported ^{334, 335}. Accordingly, a disturbed balance between the finely regulated procoagulant and fibrinolytic activity in blood could contribute in the process when an asymptomatic CS turns into a symptomatic one. The stability of the atherosclerotic plaque could also be regulated by local fibrinolytic activity in the plaque macrophages. As a potent activator of matrix metalloproteinases, plasmin could contribute to plaque instability. Urokinase-like plasminogen activation is co-localized with thrombosis on the surface of an atherosclerotic plaque, and the theory of plasminogen system involvement is supported by extensive studies in knock-out animal models ^{336, 337}. Furthermore, plasminogen activators and their regulators are upregulated in failing arterialized venous grafts, underlining the possible role of the fibrinolytic system in the events ³³⁸. Also haemorheology may have an especially important role in the high-pressure setting of carotid artery flow and through shear stress forces affect haemostasis, thrombosis, and the growth of plaques. The association between haemorheology and atherosclerosis may be more obvious in men³³⁹.

Cerebral haemodynamics

The CS could give rise to ischaemia by cutting down the blood flow to the brain and causing haemodynamic insufficiency, which used to be a popular explanation for cerebral events ²⁹³. However, the blood flow through the stenosis is not affected until the stenosis degree exceeds 50 %, and substantial reduction does not occur until the high-grade levels (Figure 6) ³⁴⁰.



Figure 6. Changes of pressure gradient and flow through progressive luminal obstruction of a vessel (reproduced with permission from Hademenos et al., *Stroke* 1997;28:2067-2077)

By way of autoregulation, the cerebral perfusion pressure may still be maintained within normal limits. A considerable drop in blood pressure does not often cause cerebral symptoms, and when occurring, the symptoms tend to be nonfocal, such as presyncopal signs. However, if the collateralization is defective as a result of anatomy or acquired disease, autoregulatory reserves may be exhausted so that CBF is affected, causing a gradual rise in oxygen extraction fraction, and probably leading to an increased stroke risk, at least in symptomatic stenoses or occlusions ^{75, 341-345}. Haemodynamic compromise is not regarded as a major pathogenetic mechanisms of ischaemia in carotid occlusive disease, but in a minority of patients the pattern of ischaemia follows borderzones between arterial territories, as a potential sign of a haemodynamic etiology ^{282, 346}. The radiological diagnosis of a borderzone or watershed infarction is not accurate, not only because of the considerable variation of watershed zones but also because some of these infarctions apparently result from embolism ²⁹³. Nevertheless, prevalence of carotid occlusive disease is high in patients with an observed borderzone infarction, both cortical and especially internal ³⁴⁷. Haemodynamic etiology is suggested also by precipitation of stroke symptoms by sudden haemodynamic change such as systemic hypoperfusion during cardiopulmonary bypass, severe haemorrhage, or as a result of autonomic failure or overzealous antihypertensive treatment ³⁴⁸⁻³⁵⁰.

Both embolic and haemodynamic mechanisms may in fact interact: haemodynamic factors may determine whether an embolization leads to occlusion of vasculature or is 'washed out' with reperfusion of the tissue ^{347, 351}. This could partly explain the variance of outcome in carotid occlusions, when the embolus either causes a permanent vessel occlusion or is fragmented with reperfusion of the vessel, and the co-occurrence of embolic and haemodynamic stroke patterns ³⁴⁷. Overall, considering the diagnostic difficulties, it is currently held that the significance of low flow in cerebral ischaemia is not fully understood ²⁹³. It is also notable that in discussions 'symptomatic' state usually denotes focal clinical manifestations, whereas long-term effects, such as the effect of potentially increased MES loads over longer periods of time because of diminished washout, or chronic relative hypoperfusion, are controversial or unknown.

White matter changes

Leukoaraiosis (LA) or white matter lesions (WML) refer to bilateral and either patchy or diffuse areas of hypodensity of the WM on CT or hyperintensity on T2-weighted MRI ^{13, 352}. Its frequency in older patient groups has ranged between 21% and 100% depending on the imaging method and the study population ³⁵³. In a study population representing young and healthy working-age individuals, the prevalence of WML was reported as 5.3 % ³⁵⁴. Overall, the figures are relative as they are based on variable rating scales, and the results are dependent on the applied MR technology, the very basis of WM research ³⁵⁵⁻³⁵⁸. Consistently, the risk of developing WML increases with age, and the finding is often referred to not only as WM lesions or hyperintensities (WMH) but also as age-related WM changes ^{353, 359}. Still, WML are seen also in younger individuals and stroke patients ^{354, 360, 361}. Customarily, WMH have been divided into periventricular (PVH) and deep hyperintensities (HI) by topography, and punctate, early confluent or confluent by nature and extent. A population-based topographical study on healthy individuals aged 60 - 64 has confirmed that the periventricular WM has the highest frequency of hyperintense lesions, closely followed by deep HI particularly in occipital and frontal lobes, some degree of WMH being present in every subject ³⁶². Susceptibility to development of LA and the lesion volume seem genetically influenced ^{363, 364}. Vice versa, pronounced LA is the hallmark of several hereditary diseases, such as leukodystrophies, and especially CADASIL (cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy)³⁵³. The tendency of WML to progress over time seems associated with the initial severity of the lesions, presence of lacunes and previous strokes, diabetes and blood glucose levels, and increases in diastolic and systolic blood pressure ³⁶⁵⁻³⁶⁹. Also elevated homocysteine levels correlate with the degree of LA, and homocysteine has been considered a marker of endothelial dysfunction ³⁷⁰⁻³⁷². Even birth parameters such as lower birth or placental weight have been suggested to affect the proneness to LA ³⁷³.

In LA pathology, the most conspicuous findings are gliosis, axonal loss, myelin pallor, and enlargement of perivascular spaces ^{352, 374}. The ischaemic appearance is most consistent in extensive confluent lesions, whereas PVH appear rather non-ischaemic with subependymal gliosis and ependymal discontinuity, enhanced by disturbed flow of cerebrospinal fluid ^{14, 375}. In pathological studies, chronic ischaemia, myelin degradation, apoptosis, and axonal transport failure have appeared as integral parts of pathophysiology ³⁷⁶⁻³⁷⁸. Thus, chronic cerebral ischaemia and hypoperfusion have been regarded as the main etiology for LA, but its pathogenesis remains incompletely understood and the terms controversial ¹⁴. The cerebral WM is supplied mainly through long penetrating arteries stemming from branches of the major cerebral arteries on the pial surface with few anastomoses. In cases of small vessel disease, the structure of the vessels changes with arteriolosclerosis, hyaline thickening, elongation and increased tortuosity, leading to altered blood supply and either localized necrosis and cavitation or diffuse rarefaction, LA^{14, 379, 380}. In terms of pathology, LA may be considered a diffuse manifestation of small vessel disease. It may be accompanied with focal isolated lacunar infarctions, and either focal or diffuse manifestation can predominate. Notably, small vessel disease occurs also without arterial hypertension, as does LA ^{14, 379}. Consequently, it has been postulated that mere alterations in blood pressure regulation could contribute to the pathogenesis of LA, since patients with LA display more variation in BP and possibly poorer autoregulation¹⁴. CBF reductions have been detected in LA regions, and even a steal phenomenon has been described ³⁸¹⁻³⁸⁴. However, it is possible that the decrease in CBF is an effect rather than a cause, or an epiphenomenon. Still, lower CBF has been reported also in the normal-appearing white matter of subjects with LA, in the same way as lower fractional anisotropy and higher mean diffusivity and ADC_{av} values on diffusion tensor imaging and DWI 120, 171, 384.

Apart from ischemic hypothesis, it has been suggested that disruption of blood-brain barrier could lead to WM damage through extravasation of plasma proteins ^{385, 386}. A unifying theory could be offered by endothelial dysfunction and a systemic failure in arteriolar function ^{370, 387}.

Clinical consequences of LA are evident and manifold, although LA may at times be considered asymptomatic or its effects go unnoticed. Firstly, it is associated with cognitive impairment that is especially related to frontal-lobe performance with deficits in executive functions and information processing speed ³⁸⁸⁻³⁹⁴. Some data suggest that WM hyperintensities predict dementia, and it has long been evident that LA often coexists and interacts with Alzheimer's disease, sharing many risk factors with it and modifying the overall cognitive profile of the patients ^{395, 396}. LA is also associated with late-onset depressive symptoms ³⁹⁷. Subjects with advanced LA have problems with gait and a poorer balance, and there is evidence of an increased risk of falls and urinary complaints ³⁹⁸⁻⁴⁰⁰. LA is a risk factor for stroke and vascular events, symptomatic haemorrhagic transformation after thrombolysis of acute ischemic stroke, and poorer outcome and death after stroke ⁴⁰¹⁻⁴⁰⁶.

In a high-grade CS, ensuing relative hypoperfusion could in principle be associated with subclinical changes in the parenchyma, especially in the WM. Presence of LA with a carotid stenosis has predicted stroke events, especially lacunar, during follow-up ^{407, 408}. At least partly reversible metabolic changes such as diminished N-acetyl aspartate and elevated lactate in MR spectroscopy in hypoperfused ipsilateral brain have been described in patients with CS, but the results are variable ⁴⁰⁹⁻⁴¹¹. Experimentally produced chronic hypoperfusion has caused widespread changes in the WM and cognitive disturbance in animals ^{378, 412}. Consequently, an increased propensity to ischemic WM degeneration could be expected in a high-grade CS with a haemodynamic compromise also in humans, and the decreased reactivity and perfusion in LA could make the WM more susceptible to transient ischaemia and myelin rarefaction ^{381, 384}. Recent data have given support to the hypothesis, as well as suggested an association between the carotid plaque characteristics, namely intraplaque haemorrhage and lipid content, and WM hyperintensities ^{413, 414}.

Cognitive function

As a risk factor for stroke, CS is inevitably associated with cognitive decline and dementia. CS is a known risk factor for lacunar infarctions, part of which are silent, and they are known to interfere with cognitive performance ⁴¹⁵. Also subclinical parenchymal changes associated with continuous silent microembolization or a haemodynamic deficit in a high-grade CS could give rise to cognitive impairment, although the stenosis would clinically be categorized as an asymptomatic one. Indeed, in two cross-sectional studies, the subjects with high-grade asymptomatic carotid stenoses were found to have impaired cognition in comparison with subjects without stenoses ^{416, 417}. The study with a more detailed neuropsychological protocol found the impairments in the domains of attention, psychomotor speed, memory, and motor functioning. Apart from lacunar infarctions, the CS group had no more MR lesions, which did

not support the notion of silent embolization ⁴¹⁷. Also the other study with a follow-up design found the association regardless of MR findings and after adjustment to vascular risk factors, supporting the notion of asymptomatic CS as an independent risk factor for cognitive impairment and decline ⁴¹⁶. A recent report suggested that reduced cerebrovascular reactivity could explain some cognitive decline in these patients ⁴¹⁸.

Impaired haemodynamics due to heart failure is associated with impaired cognition, in a similar way, and cerebral hypoperfusion may precede and even contribute to onset of clinical dementia ⁴¹⁹⁻⁴²¹. There is also some evidence that the effect of constitutional hypotension might not always be offset by autoregulation but give rise to cognitive deficits, primarily those of attention and memory ⁴²². Thus, the fraction of patients with a high-grade CS and insufficiently compensated cerebral circulation could be expected to be at risk of cognitive effects.

2.4 Treatment of carotid stenosis

The understanding of the carotid pathology as an etiology of stroke improved greatly during the last century, which paved the way for the development of efficient medical treatment of the risk factors associated with carotid atherosclerosis as well as the surgical and endovascular techniques for stroke prevention. Medical treatment may be regarded as the backbone of treatment for all patients whereas carotid interventions are selectively indicated.

2.4.1 Carotid endarterectomy (CEA)

The first successful surgical removal of the stenosing plaque (CEA) was performed in 1953 but not reported until 1975 ⁴²³. The main impetus to a more widespread use were given by the early reports, leading eventually to a vast and variable surgical practice ^{424, 425}. Five randomized controlled trials have been performed on the safety and efficacy of surgery on symptomatic CS ^{81, 83, 426-430}. The early two studies with limited sample sizes did not produce conclusive evidence on the value of surgery, unlike the latter trials, of which the North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial (NASCET) and the European Carotid Surgery Trial (ECST), complemented with a minor population from the Veterans' Administration Cooperative Symptomatic Carotid Stenosis Trial, altogether with 6092 patients and 35 000 years of follow-up, form the main body of evidence which the present guidelines and practice are largely based upon ²³².

In symptomatic CS, appropriate CEA is an efficacious means of prevention. In symptomatic patients with 70-99 % stenosis, CEA can decrease the risk of stroke by more than 60 % (relative risk 0.39, CI 0.28-0.51), and in those with moderate stenosis (50-69%) by 25 % (relative risk 0.75, CI 0.56-0.94)²⁵⁴. Absolute 5-year reduction of risk of any stroke or death was 15.3 % (CI 9.8-20.7) in patients with 70-99 % stenosis and 7.8 % (CI 3.1-12.5) in patients with 50-69 % stenosis. No 5-year benefit was seen in near-occlusions, however, possibly indicating the presence of good collateralization, neither did patients with < 50%stenosis benefit from surgery. Risk reduction figures were essentially similar for disabling stroke. Of the subgroup analyses of pooled data, it appeared that in addition to the degree of stenosis, also age, sex, and time from the last event modified the efficiency. Men had the most benefit as well as patients of age 75 years or more and those randomized within two weeks since symptoms. Women with a stenosis of moderate degree (50-69 %) did not benefit from surgery, partly because of lower stroke risk on medical treatment and higher surgical risks, whereas in the high-grade stenosis group, the benefit was clear ⁴³¹. Timing of CEA has become an important factor as the stroke risk is known to be high in the early phase after symptoms, and the benefit appears to wane after two-week delay, essentially vanishing in moderate stenoses after this period and in high-grade stenoses by three months. The guidelines have adopted this recommended timeframe, although it is obvious that at present the delays tend to be longer $^{432-434}$. The operative risks are highest in emergency CEAs, but early CEA in stable patients with minor stroke or TIA does not seem to have higher risk than delayed surgery 435 . In the pooled analysis, the perioperative risk of stroke or death was 6.2 % 232

In asymptomatic CS, the benefit of surgery is considerably smaller. Of altogether seven trials, three major comparable ones were included in the latest systematic review ^{8, 436-438}. In this review, the relative risk reduction in the surgical group was 31 % (RR 0.69, CI 0.57-0.83) for any stroke or death. Absolute risk reduction was 3.0 % over a mean follow-up of approximately 3 years. The overall perioperative complication rate was 2.9 %. Subgroup analyses were performed in the two large trials showing a greater benefit from CEA in men, and in women the benefit within the follow-up time was not significant ⁸. In contrast to symptomatic CS, the benefit of surgery in asymptomatic CS did not appear proportional to the degree of stenosis or age, but the data were considered insufficient ^{8, 232}.

2.4.2 Medical treatment

The mainstay of secondary prevention is antithrombotic treatment together with modification of risk factors ⁴³⁹. Antiplatelet drugs are used on the basis of symptom-based stroke prevention trials, mainly acetosalicylic acid (ASA), clopidogrel, or dipyridamole, mostly in combination with ASA. No stroke prevention studies have focused exclusively on patients with carotid stenosis, and the evidence is elicited from non-cardioembolic stroke prevention studies. In secondary prevention, ASA may reduce the relative risk of vascular events by 13-22 %, and the effect may even be doubled by combining extended-release dipyridamole 440-⁴⁴². Clopidogrel is not inferior to the combination and may be better in comparison with mere ASA for vascular events 443, 444. In the setting of a symptomatic CS, administration of ASA is associated with less microemboli, and also clopidogrel given prior to CEA has reduced postoperative embolization rate ^{103, 445}. Also combination of ASA and clopidogrel seems to reduce MES in recently symptomatic CS but cannot be recommended owing to the reported increase in major bleeding risk in stroke patients ^{105, 446, 447}. ASA has been recommended even for primary prevention in patients with asymptomatic CS, based on the regular ASA use in the medical arm of the major carotid trials, in which the ASA use was associated with fewer myocardial infarcts ⁴⁴⁸. Anticoagulants are effective in stroke prevention in patients with atrial fibrillation, but in non-cardiogenic stroke anticoagulation provides no extra benefit over antiplatelet treatment ^{449, 450}. In carotid stenosis, anticoagulation has been used in the clinical practice in cases of crescendo TIA or progressing stroke, or in an assumed symptomatic lowflow state, without specific evidence to support the practice.

Statins (3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-CoA reductase inhibitors) used for lipid-lowering in patients with coronary heart disease have considerably reduced the incidence of fatal and non-fatal stroke, albeit that cholesterol has previously been considered a weak risk factor for stroke ⁴⁵¹. A comprehensive meta-analysis of the earlier statin trials up to 2003 found a relative risk reduction of 21 % for stroke without heterogeneity between the studies, and a consistent correlation between low-density lipoprotein cholesterol decrease (LDL-C) and stroke risk reduction as well as progression of carotid intima-media thickness ⁴⁵². The only statin trial designed primarily for secondary prevention of stroke showed a clear risk reduction of both fatal and non-fatal strokes with an aggressive treatment (atorvastatin 80 mg) in patients with TIA or minor stroke and no history of coronary heart disease ⁴⁵³. Apart from the LDL-C reduction which seems to be the main driving force behind the decrease in stroke risk, statins may act through anti-inflammatory, antiatherothrombotic, neuroprotective, and plaque-stabilizing properties and effect on endothelial function, which might be beneficial

especially in CS ^{452, 454,456}. In the atorvastatin stroke trial, a secondary analysis supported the notion of special benefit in the carotid stenosis subgroup with a 56 % reduction of subsequent carotid revascularization in the group randomized to atorvastatin ⁴⁵⁷. Consequently, although the absolute stroke risk reduction with statins is modest in general, they are an essential part of medical treatment in CS patients, at least in those with less than optimal lipid profile.

Antihypertensive treatment is needed in the majority of patients with CS, and it is one of the cornerstones of medical treatment. There is evidence that the choice of antihypertensive agent may make a difference in secondary prevention, centering on the renin-angiotensin system: treatment with angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor perindopril with indapamide was associated with better outcome in patients with previous stroke or TIA, and treatment with angiotensin receptor blocker losartan was associated with 25 % relative risk reduction for stroke in comparison with patients on atenolol despite identical blood pressure control ^{458, 459}. Also candesartan has been associated with significantly less non-fatal strokes ⁴⁶⁰. Based on the evidence, prevention guidelines have adopted the recommendation to favour ACE inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers in antihypertensive treatment, if possible ⁴³². Since there are no antihypertensive trials specifically in patients with CS, the particular benefit in this group is not known. However, some preliminary findings support the antiatherogenic and endothelial function improving effect of ACE inhibition also in human carotids ⁴⁶¹.

2.4.3 Effects of CEA on the functioning of the brain

CEA may be considered protective of cerebral functions, as it is an effective means of stroke prevention. Still, it is also a risk factor for stroke, since a complicated course of surgery may produce the unwanted result, especially in unstable patients ⁴³⁵. The frequency of stroke and death in recent large reports have been not dissimilar to the pooled analysis of the previous large CEA trials, being 5.6-7.9 % for those operated on for TIA or stroke ^{232, 462}. Apart from frank strokes, perioperative ischaemia is more often clinically silent, and postoperative DWI lesions are detected in at least one-tenth of patients ^{16, 17, 107, 463, 464}. Nevertheless, cognitive decline may not be recognized in this group in the clinical practice.

At least transient cognitive decline seems to occur in a substantial proportion of patients undergoing CEA ^{16-18, 465, 466}. Postoperative decline has been more common in aged individuals, diabetics, and carriers of apolipoprotein E-ɛ4 allele, and it has occurred regardless of whether general or regional anesthesia was applied ^{18, 465, 467}. The decline may mostly be DWI-negative ¹⁷. All the same, it is often attributed to diffuse perioperative embolization or

haemodynamic instability or dysregulation ^{468, 469}. However, the studies have had limited sample sizes to verify a relationship between HITS or dysregulation and cognitive impairment ^{466, 468-470}. Despite a single positive report on the association of gliofibrillar protein S-100B levels with subtle cognitive decline, the biochemical markers have not been useful indicators in CEA ⁴⁷¹⁻⁴⁷³. Not only embolization and hypoperfusion but also postoperative cerebral hyperperfusion may be associated with long-term cognitive decline that can be detectable without structural signs of damage in MR imaging and be persistent over a half-year follow-up ^{474, 475}. Overall, the long-term course and significance of the postoperative cognitive decline is undetermined.

Since the advent of carotid endarterectomy as an established treatment method, many subjects having had carotid surgery have themselves reported subsequent cognitive improvement, which has probably been readily explained by improved cerebral circulation after revascularization. However, the results of the earlier studies attempting to objectively evaluate the neuropsychological effects of the carotid surgery and the improvement of perfusion have reported highly controversial results, the early studies tending to report improvement, the recent ones being more neutral or reporting decline ^{15, 476}. The variance of results has been partly explained by methodological problems, e.g. lack of controls, insufficient control of confounding factors such as learning or practice effect, heterogeneity of samples, as well as natural recovery from the index event, and finally, the number of patients in most of these studies has been limited. Laterality of cerebral functions also brings about variation ¹⁰⁸. Furthermore, it is possible that the proneness of asymptomatic and symptomatic populations to cognitive change is different. The earlier studies rarely correlated their findings to other functional methods such as imaging. Even in a study reporting postoperative cognitive improvement and cerebral circulation, the finding could not be attributed to increased cerebral blood flow ⁴⁷⁷. Judging by the data available at the time, a systematic review concluded a decade ago that although majority of the studies reported a postoperative cognitive improvement, no conclusion can be drawn on the effect of CEA on cognition because of the methodological issues ¹⁵. A recent systematic review found few studies published after 1990 showing any clear improvement in cognition after CEA, and ended up with the same conclusion that no substantial effect on cognition can be elicited, although most studies are still underpowered with a high risk of false negative results ⁴⁷⁶. Yet, two small studies utilizing functional imaging (SPECT) and a moderate-sized study with TCD diagnostics, all with limited cognitive examination batteries, suggest the existence of a haemodynamically compromised subpopulation that could benefit from CEA in terms of cognition 478-480.

3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study was to combine new MR methodology to find out whether a highgrade carotid stenosis, clinically symptomatic or asymptomatic, and surgical treatment of such a stenosis are associated with changes in brain microcirculation and diffusion, and whether the changes are associated with the neuropsychological performance of the patients.

The aims can be divided in four sections:

I to evaluate brain diffusion with MRI in asymptomatic and symptomatic patients with carotid occlusive disease before and after endarterectomy, and to compare the results with those of healthy controls [paper I]

II to evaluate cerebral perfusion and vasoreactivity in patients with carotid occlusive disease before and after endarterectomy, and to determine if the responses differ in symptomatic and asymptomatic patients, using MRI and transcranial Doppler ultrasound (TCD) [paper II]

III to evaluate cognitive functions in patients with carotid occlusive disease and compare their performance with that of healthy controls; to evaluate the cognitive change after endarterectomy and analyze whether the change is associated with cerebral perfusion or diffusion findings or whether the change is different in asymptomatic and symptomatic subgroups [paper III]

IV to find out if some parameters of blood coagulation, fibrinolysis and haemorheology differ between asymptomatic and symptomatic patients with a high-grade stenosis [paper IV]

4. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

4.1 Subjects

The study protocols for the Helsinki Carotid Endarterectomy Study (HeCES) were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Departments of Neurology and were carried out according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and the institutional guidelines. We recruited 92 consecutive consenting patients fulfilling the inclusion criteria who had been referred to the neurological or the surgical department of our university teaching hospital for treatment of their high-grade carotid stenoses. Six patients had both carotid arteries operated in the study, making the total number of endarterectomies 98. The subjects had to be independent in daily life (modified Rankin scale \leq 2), without potential cardiogenic origin of emboli, with no history of previous ipsilateral carotid endarterectomy (CEA) or radiotherapy, and with a surgically accessible carotid stenosis measured 70 % or more in digital subtraction angiography according to NASCET criteria ⁴²⁶. After giving their written informed consent, they underwent a thorough clinical examination and detailed interview by a stroke neurologist for classification and assessment of risk factor profile (Table 1).

The total study population was used for the laboratory analyses in the study IV. Apart from the neurological symptoms and the female predominance in the asymptomatic group, demographics of the two groups did not differ (Table 1). On the whole, 74 had had cerebral symptoms: 54 had had a recent minor hemispheric stroke, TIA or amaurosis fugax in the territory of the stenotic artery (median 41 days, interquartile range 22-80 days), whereas in 20 cases the symptoms were attributed to another cerebral territory, rendering the operated plaque asymptomatic (median 106 days, interquartile range 59-198). The remaining 18 patients were totally free of cerebrovascular symptoms. In the symptomatic plaque group, 19 patients had an ongoing anticoagulant medication, and so had one patient in the 'other symptoms' group. The average time from symptoms to operation was 77 days (median 58) in the non-anticoagulated and 55 (median 38) in the anticoagulated patients. The data of the patients and their removed plaques were analyzed comparing both symptomatic vs. asymptomatic patients as well as plaques. Separate analyses were made for patients with and without anticoagulation and for patients on or off statin or ACE inhibitor treatment .

The populations of the substudies I-III were limited by the availability of scanning facility and the study neuropsychologist, or by the presence of a contraindication to imaging, as well as the patient's individual consent to participate in the substudies ⁴⁸¹.

	TOTALLY ASYMPTOMATIC (n=18)	SYMPTOMATIC, OTHER (n=20)	SYMPTOMATIC PLAQUE (n=54)	
Gender: female/male (%)	10/8 (44%) *	7/13 (65 %)	15/39 (72 %)	
Age (years)	65.0 (60.7-69.2)	65.0 (61.5-68.5)	64.4 (62.1-66.7)	
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	26.5 (24.3-28.7)	26.1 (24.5-27.7)	27.8 (26.6-29.0)	
Carotid stenosis (%, NASCET)	76.3 (72.7-79.9)	76.7 (73.4-80.1)	78.7 (76.2-81.2)	
Coronary heart disease	8 (44 %)	9 (45 %)	17 (31.5 %)	
Peripheral arterial disease	5 (28 %)	8 (40 %)	15 (28 %)	
Arterial hypertension	11 (61 %)	13 (65 %)	38 (70 %)	
Diabetes mellitus	4 (22 %)	6 (30 %)	13 (24 %)	
Dyslipidemia	9 (50 %)	16 (20 %)	32 (59 %)	
Smoking				
Current	4 (22 %)	7 (35 %)	17 (31 %)	
Former	10 (56 %)	10 (50 %)	27 (50 %)	
Stroke	-	13 (65 %)	26 (48 %)	
Preoperative TIA	-	13 (65 %)	28 (52 %)	
Statin use	7 (39 %)	10 (50 %)	22 (41 %)	
ACE inhibitors	2 (11 %)	6 (30 %)	12 (22 %)	
Antiplatelet agents	15 (83 %)	16 (80 %)	32 (59 %)	
Anticoagulation	1 (5.6 %)	3 (15 %)	21 (39 %)	
Time since symptoms (days)	-	158 (75-240)	55 (42-67)	

Table 1. Demographic and clinical profiles of asymptomatic and symptomatic subgroups in study IV(n = 92; means and 95 % confidence intervals for continuous variables).

(* p < 0.05, χ^2 test)

4.2 Controls

Two sets of control populations were selected. For the study I, the age- and sex-matched controls (n = 45, mean age 61.9 ± 10.8 , range 42-85 years) were chosen from a strictly healthy population. They had to fulfill the following criteria: no symptom, sign or history of any neurological disease or a systemic disease with a potential brain involvement; no family history of dementia or multiple sclerosis; no regular medication except for hormonal substitution or topical therapies, and no history of excessive alcohol intake over longer periods. All subjects were white and Finnish in origin. They underwent scanning in an MR imaging study of healthy humans with normal scanning results and no sign of carotid stenosis 173, 482.

A control population was chosen also for serial neuropsychological assessment, and their results were used as reference values in the study III. The group consisted of strictly healthy volunteers who were recruited by word of mouth. Half of them were a part of the aforementioned larger control population set undergoing MR imaging. The control persons were selected by age, sex, education, and social class. After sorting the patients by the respective criteria, we selected a matching control person for every second surgical patient, ending up with 22 control persons. Controls were matched for age (\pm 5 years), sex, and education and/or social class classified with three-category scales ⁴⁸³ (Table 2).

	Patients	Controls
Age	65.3 (± 8.4)	67.0 (± 8.9)
Body mass index	26.4 (± 4.2)	25.5 (± 4.2)
Cerebrovascular events		
Stroke	7 (16 %)	0
TIA	14 (33 %)	0
None	23 (51 %)	22 (100 %)
Gender (female/male)	16/28	9/13
Education (years)	9.6 (± 3.2)	10.2 (± 4.8)
Higher	5 (11 %)	4 (18 %)
Secondary	16 (36 %)	8 (36 %)
Basic	23 (52 %)	10 (45 %)
Social class		
Non-manual	12 (27 %)	6 (27 %)
Skilled manual	20 (46 %)	11 (50 %)
Unskilled manual	12 (27 %)	5 (23 %)
Arterial hypertension	16 (70 %)	0
Coronary heart disease	9 (39 %)	0
Diabetes	8 (35 %)	0
Peripheral arterial disease	7 (30 %)	0

Table 2 . Clinical profiles of the patients and controls at baseline (\pm SD) in Study III.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Imaging techniques

MRI

All MR images were acquired on a Siemens Magnetom Vision whole-body clinical scanner (Siemens Medical Systems) operating at 1.5 Tesla, with a standard head coil. All imaging studies were completed without complications. The first imaging (n = 45) was performed in the evening on the day before surgery, and the scanning was repeated 3 days (postoperative) (n = 42) and 100 days (chronic) (n = 37) after CEA. Control subjects (n = 45) for the diffusion MR study were imaged once. No adverse effects occurred during the scanning procedure.

DWI was performed with a spin-echo echo-planar imaging sequence having a repetition time of 4000 ms, an echo time of 103 ms, and a gradient strength of 25 mT/m covering 19 fivemm-thick slices (interslice gap 1.5 mm, field of view 230 x 230 mm², and matrix size 96*128 interpolated to 256*256). Diffusion was measured in three orthogonal directions (x, y, and z) with 2 b-values (b = 0 and b = 1000 s/mm²).

In addition to axial DSC-MRI, conventional T2- and proton-density-weighted images were obtained. The first imaging was performed in the evening on the preoperative day, and it was repeated 3 days and 100 days after CEA.

DSC-MRI was performed with a gradient-echo echo-planar imaging sequence with a repetition time of 1.2 ms, an echo time of 42.1 ms, flip angle 90°, and a gradient strength of 25 mT/m covering five 5-mm-thick slices (interslice gap 1.5 mm, field of view 230 x 230 mm², and matrix size 128*128). The centermost slice was leveled with corpus callosum and anatomical landmarks to keep the slicing constant. The slices were imaged one per second a total of 60 times. After collection of 7 baseline images, gadopentetate dimeglumine (GD-DTPA, Magnevist, Schering AG, 0.15 mmol/kg) was injected into the antecubital vein via an 18-gauge catheter at a speed of 5 mL/s using an MR compatible power injector (Spectris, Medrad), followed by a 10 mL flush of saline. The DSC-MRI data was analyzed as described in detail previously ⁴⁸⁴.

Transcranial Doppler ultrasound

For the transcranial Doppler ultrasound the patient was examined in supine position in a quiet room. The recordings were made from ipsilateral MCA through the transtemporal window. A commercially available equipment (Nicolet EME Pioneer TC 4040) was used, and the 2-MHz pulsed-wave transducer was held in position by an external device. The baseline assessment was done within a few hours before surgery, and the postoperative one prior to the second MR imaging three days after surgery. Cerebral vasomotor reactivity was determined ipsilaterally by means of a breath-holding index as described previously, as well as Gosling's pulsatility index (p. 24). Microembolic signals were recorded by insonating middle cerebral artery at 50 mm depth. The audible Doppler shift and transformed spectra were monitored online for 45-60 minutes. High-intensity transients that fulfilled the criteria of international recommendations were interpreted as microembolism (MES): short unidirectional signals occurring within the blood flow spectrum together with the characteristic sound without association to any potentially artefactual event ⁴⁸⁵.

4.3.2 Imaging data analyses

In each hemisphere, 11 distinct neuroanatomical structures were selected for the analysis (normal-appearing frontal, parietal, temporal, and occipital grey and white matter, and the watershed regions between the territories of middle cerebral artery and anterior and posterior cerebral artery (Fig. 7). T2 images were used to identify the relevant anatomical structures. ROIs were subsequently drawn manually on the CBF maps and transferred to the equivalent maps of absolute CBV and MTT. For each ROI, the following parameters were recorded: the surface area (40-120 pixels), the mean, standard deviation (SD), and range of the given values. The ROIs were analyzed blindedly with a commercially available image analysis software (Alice, Hayden Image Processing Group, Perceptive Systems Inc.).





A) the parietal grey (1) and white matter (2), **B**) the anterior watershed (3) and posterior watershed region (4), **C**) the frontal grey (5) and white matter (6), the thalamus (7), **D**) the temporal grey (8) and white matter (9), the occipital grey (10) and white matter (11).

Two observers independently and blindedly evaluated the baseline and postoperative MTT maps for presence of a perfusion deficit (Figure 8). Digital subtraction angiographies were analyzed by NASCET criteria by one experienced neuroradiologist (O.S.) blinded to the clinical data ⁴²⁶.



Figure 8. Large perfusion deficit on MTT map

4.3.3 Neuropsychological assessment

The cognitive assessment was done on the day before CEA, 4 days after the operation (5.0 days after baseline), and at approximately 100 days (mean 102), in the same quiet room at approximately the same daytime, by either of two certified neuropsychologists. The control population was examined thrice with the same timing. The same examiner was used for repeated evaluations, and all controls were examined by the same examiner at all stages. The comprehensive neuropsychological test battery was completed in the same order, using parallel forms of tests in a randomly crossed fashion when applicable.

The test battery was designed using validated tests ⁴⁸⁶. Language domain was assessed by The Boston Naming Test (BNT) as naming and recognition of common objects (60), and Word fluency with the letter and category naming with one-minute generation of words by a letter (WF-L) or by a category (WF-C). Verbal memory and learning were evaluated by Auditory Verbal Learning Test with 5 trials to learn 10-word lists, scoring both sum score of trials (AVLT-SUM) and delayed memory recall (AVLT-D) and immediate verbal memory with WAIS-R Digit Span forwards and backwards (W-VESP). Visual memory and learning by Rey Visual Learning Test scoring the sum of five trials as well as delayed recall (RVLT-SUM, RVLT-D), and immediate visual memory was evaluated with Corsi Blocks visual span forwards and backwards (CB-VISP). Motor dexterity was evaluated with Purdue Pegboard, scoring performance of the hand contralateral to the stenosis (PP-CONTRA). Attention was assessed with Letter Cancellation Task (LCT) and Trail Making A (TMA). Executive functions were assessed with The Trail Making and Stroop tests, making use of the differences of performance times in Trail Making A and B (TMB-TMA) as well as the word and colour naming in Stroop test (STROOP-INT) divided by the time spent on the first task. Mood was evaluated with Beck Depression Inventory.

The distributions of the raw scores were studied, and logarithmic transformation was applied to BNT and TMB-TMA, and square root transformation to STROOP-INT. The individual raw scores were standardized into Z scores using the controls' baseline performance as the norm for the mean and standard deviations, and inverted for the time-based tasks for the increase of score to consistently indicate improvement of performance and decrease worsening. Domain scores were derived as average Z scores of the subtests. Compound cognitive score (CCS) was calculated by summing up the individual z scores and dividing by the standard deviation (SD) of summed scores. Cognitive change scores were calculated by subtracting the baseline scores from the timely score, and then by subtracting the average learning effect of controls from this result and by dividing the result by the SD of the control group ^{487, 488}. A worsening of more than one standard deviation of CCS was considered dysfunctional.

4.3.4 Laboratory analysis

Free flowing blood samples were collected from antecubital vein closely prior to operation at 8-10 a.m. into polypropylene and siliconized glass tubes for determination of fibrinogen (Clauss), thrombin-antithrombin complex (ELISA, Behring), prothrombin fragments PF 1 and 2 (ELISA, Behring), tPA antigen (Biopool, TintELIZA) and activity (Biopool, chromogenic assay) and PAI-1 antigen (Biopool, TintELIZA) and activity (Biopool, one-stage chromogenic assay). D-dimer was determined by ELISA assay (Asserachrom[®] D-Di, Diagnostica Stago, Asnieres Sur Seine, France). Plasma was separated immediately, centrifuged and processed. Description of the procedure as well as plasma processing conditions and intra- and interindividual variabilities of our assays have been published previously ⁴⁸⁹. Plasma total homocysteine was measured using a standard competitive immunoassay method (Immulite[®] 2000) from plasma sample stored at -70°C. Haemoglobin, hematocrit, and platelet count were obtained using an ordinary autoanalyzer. Serum cholesterol and triglycerides were assessed by immunochemical methods, and serum calcium photometrically. High-sensitivity CRP assays were made with a sandwich enzyme immunoassay (UC CRP ELISA, Eucardo Laboratory, San Diego, CA).

4.3.5 Carotid endarterectomy

All standard CEAs were performed by one experienced vascular surgeon (E.S.). The operator systematically recorded the morphology of the plaque at the operation denoting the general appearance: smooth vs. ulcerated plaque, presence and degree of calcification, loose atheroma, and intraplaque haemorrhage.

4.4 Statistical analyses

Distributions of the variables were studied with Shapiro-Wilk W test. Interhemispheric and regional variation as well as comparison between asymptomatic and symptomatic patient groups were studied with repeated-measures analysis of variance or covariance using symptomaticity as the between-subjects variable. The variance homogeneity was studied using Box M test and sphericity evaluated with Greenhouse-Geisser ε values ⁴⁹⁰. Pairwise comparisons were made with Student's t test, correcting for multiple comparison. The χ^2 test or Fisher's exact test was applied to univariate dichotomous variables. Correlations were studied with Spearman's rank correlation. The values are given as means and 95%

confidence intervals or standard deviations. A two-tailed value of p < 0.05 was considered significant.

The levels of coagulation and fibrinolytic markers between the groups were compared with Mann Whitney U test and Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance. χ^2 test was applied in case of frequencies of discrete variables. Analysis of covariance was used in comparison of hematocrit. Backward stepwise logistic regression was applied with a core set of the studied haematological variables with the status of symptomatic stenosis as the dependent variable. Hosmer and Lemeshow test was used in evaluation of goodness-of-fit. The values are given as medians and interquartile ranges or means and 95 % confidence intervals.

5. RESULTS

5.1 Changes in brain diffusion

All ADC_{av} values are given in 10^{-3} mm²/s. The ADC_{av} values of ipsilateral and contralateral hemispheres at different time points, in various regions of brain, and in different subgroups are presented in the Table 3.

5.1.1 Patients with carotid stenosis

At baseline, ADC_{av} values of the WM and watershed regions in the lobes of the hemisphere ipsilateral to the CS were higher than those of the contralateral side (p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA). Such an asymmetry was not detected in GM (p = 0.2) or thalamus (p = 0.8) (Table 3). The surface area of regions with leukoaraiosis was larger in the ipsilateral than in the contralateral hemisphere (p < 0.04, Student's t test). The ADC_{av} values of these regions were not different between hemispheres (0.95 ± 0.12 vs. 0.95 ± 0.11, p = 1.0, Student's t test).

At the postoperative and chronic stages, the ipsilateral hemispheric WM and watershed regions had resumed lower ADC_{av} levels not significantly different from the contralateral hemisphere (postoperatively, WM: p = 0.5; watershed regions: p = 0.9; at the chronic stage, WM: p = 0.5, watershed regions: p = 0.4; ANOVA) (Table 3).

The lobar WM ADC_{av} values were consistently different from one another at the three stages in each hemisphere (Figure 9). At the preoperative stage, the frontal and occipital lobes displayed higher values than occipital and temporal (p < 0.05, Scheffé test). The symptomatic group did not differ from the asymptomatic in ADC_{av} values (Table 3). In the cognitively studied subpopulation (III), the ADC_{av} levels (10^{-3} mm²/s) displayed the same pattern, being higher in the normal-appearing WM ipsilateral to the stenosis in comparison with the contralateral hemisphere (0.69 vs. 0.66, p < 0.001), decreasing in successive measurements (0.69 - 0.66 - 0.66) with abolition of the interhemispheric difference. In GM or basal ganglia, there was no difference in baseline ADC_{av} levels (0.91 vs. 0.90, p = 0.22 for GM; 0.77 vs. 0.77, p = 0.80, for basal ganglia). The levels decreased slightly in GM (0.91 - 0.89 - 0.90, p =0.03) with no interhemispheric difference. Two patient scans revealed new DWI lesions compatible with a minor watershed stroke, and a haemorrhagic lesion probably caused by postoperative hyperperfusion.

interval, anter i o		
	SYMPTOMATIC	ASYMPTOMATIC
GREY MATTER	(n = 22)	(n = 23)
Stenotic side		
Preoperative	$0.92\pm 0.03~(0.90\text{-}0.93)$	$0.90 \pm 0.03 \ (0.89 - 0.92)$
Postoperative	$0.90 \pm 0.03 \hspace{0.2cm} (0.89 \text{-} 0.91)$	$0.89 \pm 0.03 \ (0.88 - 0.90)$
Chronic	$0.90 \pm 0.03 \hspace{0.2cm} (0.89 \text{-} 0.92)$	$0.89 \pm 0.03 \ (0.88 - 0.91)$
Contralateral side		
Preoperative	$0.90 \pm 0.03 \hspace{0.2cm} (0.89 \text{-} 0.91)$	$0.90 \pm 0.02 \ (0.87 - 0.90)$
Postoperative	$0.89 \pm 0.03 \hspace{0.2cm} (0.88 \text{-} 0.90)$	$0.88 \pm 0.02 \ (0.87 - 0.90)$
Chronic	$0.90 \pm 0.03 \hspace{0.2cm} (0.89 \text{-} 0.91)$	$0.88 \pm 0.02 \ (0.87 - 0.90)$
Controls		$0.90 \pm 0.05 \ (0.88 - 0.91)$
WHITE MATTER		
Stenotic side		
Preoperative	$0.69 \pm 0.04 \ (0.68 - 0.71)$	$0.69 \pm 0.04 \ (0.67 - 0.71)$
Postoperative	$0.68 \pm 0.04 \ (0.66 - 0.70)$	$0.67 \pm 0.04 \ (0.65 - 0.69)$
Chronic	$0.67 \pm 0.04 \ (0.65 - 0.69)$	$0.66 \pm 0.03 \ (0.64 - 0.68)$
Contralateral side		
Preoperative	$0.65 \pm 0.03 \ (0.63 - 0.76)$	$0.66 \pm 0.04 \ (0.64 - 0.68)$
Postoperative	$0.67 \pm 0.04 \ (0.65 - 0.68)$	$0.67 \pm 0.04 \ (0.66 - 0.69)$
Chronic	$0.67 \pm 0.04 \ (0.65 - 0.69)$	$0.67 \pm 0.04 \ (0.65 \text{-} 0.69)$
Controls		$0.63 \pm 0.02 \ (0.63 - 0.64)$
WATERSHED REGIONS		
Stenotic side		
Preoperative	0.74 ± 0.05 (0.72-0.76)	$0.73 \pm 0.05 \ (0.71 - 0.75)$
Postoperative	0.70 ± 0.06 (0.67-0.73)	0.70 ± 0.04 (0.68-0.72)
Chronic	0.70 ± 0.06 (0.67-0.73)	0.68 ± 0.04 (0.66-0.70)
Contralateral side	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Preoperative	$0.70 \pm 0.04 \ (0.69 - 0.72)$	$0.70 \pm 0.05 \ (0.68 - 0.72)$
Postoperative	$0.69 \pm 0.06 \ (0.67 - 0.72)$	$0.71 \pm 0.06 (0.68 - 0.74)$
Chronic	$0.68 \pm 0.06 (0.65 - 0.70)$	$0.71 \pm 0.06 (0.68 - 0.74)$
Controls	× /	0.65 ± 0.04 (0.64-0.66)
THALAMUS		× , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Stenotic side		
Preoperative	$0.77 \pm 0.06 \ (0.74 - 0.79)$	$0.75 \pm 0.06 \ (0.72 - 0.77)$
Postoperative	0.78 ± 0.07 (0.75-0.81)	$0.76 \pm 0.06 (0.73 - 0.78)$
Chronic	0.77 ± 0.06 (0.74-0.80)	0.74 ± 0.06 (0.71-0.77)
Contralateral side		
Preoperative	$0.77 \pm 0.06 \ (0.74 - 0.80)$	0.76 ± 0.07 (0.73-0.79)
Postoperative	$0.76 \pm 0.06 \ (0.73 - 0.79)$	$0.75 \pm 0.06 (0.72 - 0.78)$
Chronic	0.78 ± 0.09 (0.73-0.82)	0.73 ± 0.05 (0.71-0.76)
Controls	()	0.74 ± 0.04 (0.73-0.75)

Table 3. ADC_{av} values of the regions in the subgroups (values mean \pm SD, 95 % confidence interval, unit 10^{-3} mm² s⁻¹)



Figure 9. Lobular mean white matter average apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC_{av}) values (with 95% CI) of ipsilateral and contralateral sides compared with lobular white matter ADC_{av} values of healthy control subjects. *) p = 0.001 (two-way analysis of variance, main effect, in comparison with the control population).



Figure 10. ADC_{av} levels (+ 95% CI) in white matter at the three stages in comparison with values of healthy population. IPSI = ipsilateral hemisphere; CONTRA = contralateral hemisphere; CONTROL = healthy population; BASE = baseline, preoperative stage; POSTOP = postoperative stage; CHRONIC = chronic stage.

*) p < 0.001 (paired t test), **) p < 0.01, two-way repeated measures ANOVA

Watershed regions:



White matter:



Grey matter:



Figure 11. Interhemispheric ratios for perfusion parameters in asymptomatic (open box) and symptomatic (hatched box) patients (box: SEM; whiskers: 95% CI). *P < 0.05, repeated-measures ANOVA.

MTT = mean transit time; CBV = cerebral blood volume; and CBF = cerebral blood flow

5.1.2 Patients vs. controls

Preoperative ADC_{av} values in WM and watershed regions ipsilateral as well as contralateral to CS were significantly higher in patients than in the control population (p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA), whereas no difference was detected in GM or thalamic level. Despite the higher ADC_{av} level, the relative lobar differences in the WM of patients were identical to those in controls (Figure 9). Anterior watershed regions had higher ADC_{av} values than posterior, on ipsilateral side (0.76 ± 0.05 vs. 0.71 ± 0.07 ; p < 0.001, one-way ANOVA), as well as on contralateral side (0.73 ± 0.05 vs. 0.67 ± 0.06 ; p < 0.001, one-way ANOVA), and in controls (0.66 ± 0.04 vs. 0.64 ± 0.04 ; p < 0.01, one-way ANOVA). In the course of time at the postoperative stage, the ADC_{av} values had undergone a considerable decrease but remained significantly higher among patients than in controls for ipsilateral and contralateral WM and watershed regions (p < 0.001, two-way ANOVA) (Figure 10).

5.2 Changes in brain perfusion

5.2.1 Interhemispheric, within-group differences

In the symptomatic CS group, the preoperative ipsilateral hemispheric MTT values were intraindividually higher than contralateral in WM and watershed regions (p < 0.001 for each, paired t-test), and marginally in GM (p = 0.05, paired t-test), but not in the asymptomatic group (Table 4). Correspondingly, the preoperative ipsilateral CBF values were lower in WM and watershed regions (p < 0.001 for each), and marginally in GM (p = 0.05, paired t-test) in the symptomatic group only. There were no differences in the asymptomatic CS group, notwithstanding the preoperative CBF values in GM, where the ipsilateral value was lower also in the asymptomatic group (p < 0.05). In CBV values, there were no significant interhemispheric differences in either group at any stage (Fig. 11). The evolution of the interhemispheric ratios is depicted in Figure 11, showing the abolition of interhemispheric asymmetry by CEA and the significance of group × time interaction. In watershed regions, there was no difference between the anterior and posterior territories.

MTT (s)	IPSILA	IPSILATERAL		CONTRALATERAL		
	symptomatic	asymptomatic	Р	symptomatic	asymptomatic	Р
GREY MATTER						
preop	4.8 (4.3-5-3)	4.3 (3.6-5.0)		4.2 (3.8-4.7)	4.1 (3.5-4.7)	
postop	4.4 (4.0-4.8)	3.9 (3.4-4.4)		4.4 (4.0-4.8)	3.8 (3.3-4.2)	
chronic	4.0 (3.6-4.4)	4.3 (3.8-4.8)	0.05	3.9 (3.6-4.2)	4.3 (3.7-4.8)	0.04
WHITE MATTER						
preop	6.5 (5.7-7.2)	5.6 (4.9-6.2)		5.1 (4.6-5.5)	5.3 (4.6-5.9)	
postop	5.5 (4.9-6.1)	4.5 (4.0-5.0)		5.0 (4.6-5.5)	4.4 (3.9-4.8)	
chronic	4.8 (4.3-5.3)	5.2 (4.7-5.8)	<0.001	4.6 (4.2-4.9)	5.2 (4.7-5.8)	0.004
WATERSHED						
preop	6.7 (5.9-7.4)	5.4 (4.8-6.1)		5.2 (4.7-5.7)	5.1 (4.5-5.6)	
postop	5.6 (5.0-6.2)	4.5 (4.1-4.9)		5.0 (4.6-5.4)	4.4 (4.0-4.8)	
chronic	5.0 (4.5-5.5)	5.0 (4.5-5.5)	0.02	4.6 (4.2-4.9)	5.2 (4.7-5.8)	0.01
CBV (mL/100 g)	IPSILATERAL			CONTRALATERAL		
	symptomatic	asymptomatic	Р	symptomatic	asymptomatic	Р
GREY MATTER						
preop	4.6 (4.1-5-1)	4.6 (4.0-5.2)		4.6 (4.1-5.1)	4.6 (4.1-5.1)	
postop	4.7 (4.4-5.1)	4.5 (4.0-5.0)		5.0 (4.6-5.3)	4.3 (3.9-4.7)	
chronic	4.3 (3.8-4.8)	4.6 (4.2-5.0)	0.37	4.3 (3.9-4.6)	4.6 (4.2-5.1)	0.03
WHITE MATTER						
preop	1.9 (1.6-2.1)	1.9 (1.6-2.2)		1.8 (1.6-2.0)	1.9 (1.6-2.1)	
postop	1.8 (1.5-2.1)	1.7 (1.5-1.9)		1.8 (1.5-2.1)	1.6 (1.4-1.8)	
chronic	1.6 (1.4-1.8)	1.7 (1.5-2.0)	0.60	1.7 (1.4-1.9)	1.7 (1.5-2.0)	0.41
WATERSHED						
WATERSHED preop	1.9 (1.6-2.2)	2.0 (1.8-2.3)		1.9 (1.6-2.1)	2.0 (1.7-2.3)	
WATERSHED preop postop	1.9 (1.6-2.2) 1.8 (1.5-2.1)	2.0 (1.8-2.3) 1.8 (1.6-2.1)		1.9 (1.6-2.1) 1.8 (1.5-2.0)	2.0 (1.7-2.3) 1.8 (1.6-2.1)	

Table 4. Quantitative perfusion parameters at different timepoints with 95% confidence intervals (preop: baseline, postop: 3 days after CEA; chronic: ≥ 3 months after CEA). P value is for two-way analysis of variance (group × time)

5.2.2 Between-groups differences

The longer ipsilateral MTT in symptomatic CS patients before CEA, most pronounced in watershed regions and WM, improved in subsequent measurements, whereas in the asymptomatic group the improvement was marginal or transient (Table 4). In CBF, there was a trend for slightly lower preoperative values in the symptomatic group, and CBV levels remained essentially homogeneous. None of the parameters showed significant groupwise differences after correction for multiple comparison. The p values in the study of the two-way interaction (group \times time) for each hemisphere are shown in the table 4. Results of between-group analyses were not altered by having blood viscosity or degree of stenosis as covariates.

Altogether 14 patients had a visible perfusion deficit in the ipsilateral carotid territory, with a perfect interobserver agreement ($\kappa = 1.0$). Of the patients with a visualized hypoperfusion, 12 were in the symptomatic group (p = 0.003, Fisher's test). In the population with a visualized deficit, the mean MTT values for ipsilateral GM was 5.5 s (4.9 - 6.2 s, 95% CI), for WM 7.5 (6.7 - 8.3 s), and watershed regions 7.2 (6.2 - 8.2) s. The respective values for the subpopulation without a deficit were 4.1 s (3.7 - 4.6 s ; p = 0.001), 5.4 s (4.9 - 6.0 s; p < 0.0001), and 5.5 s (5.0 - 6.1 s; p = 0.002, t test). The interhemispheric MTT ratio was in visually hypoperfused subjects 1.28 (1.13 - 1.42) for GM, 1.46 (1.32 - 1.60) for WM, and 1.39 (1.21 - 1.56) for watershed regions. In subjects without deficit, the respective values were 1.02 (0.98 - 1.06) s, 1.06 (1.01 - 1.11) s, and 1.09 (1.04 - 1.15) (p < 0.0001 for all comparisons, t test). The patients with a visible deficit represented higher grades of stenosis [85% (81 - 90%) vs. 76% (73 - 79%), p = 0.001, t test]. The lowest degree of stenosis with a visually detected perfusion deficit was 71 % (2 subjects). In the postoperative maps, no hypoperfusion was seen.

In the subpopulation undergoing cognitive studies, the preoperative MTT values were higher in the WM (6.0 s vs. 5.2, p < 0.001, t test) as well as in the GM (4.5 s vs. 4.2, p < 0.01, t test) ipsilateral to the stenosis. The difference was more pronounced in the symptomatic group, in which the WM MTT was longer than in the asymptomatic group (6.6 vs. 5.4, p = 0.02, t test). After CEA, the MTT shortened with disappearance of the within-subject interhemispheric difference (p < 0.02, ANOVA). In the cognitive substudy, there were 10 patients with a visible perfusion deficit in the ipsilateral carotid territory in MTT map, and 8 of these were symptomatic (p < 0.01, Fisher's test). The observed deficits covered the arterial territory of the MCA (in two patients also ACA). The ipsilateral PI was initially significantly lower in the symptomatic subjects, undergoing a similar pattern of improvement with no significant postoperative difference (Figure 12). The change in PI after CEA correlated with the improvement of the interhemispheric ratios of perfusion parameters. The association was significant for all parameters in WM (MTT, R = -0.64, p < 0.0001; CBF, R = 0.42, p = 0.01; CBV, R = -0.46, p = 0.006) and for two parameters in watershed regions (MTT, R = -0.55, p = < 0.001; CBF, R = 0.46, p < 0.01; CBV, R = -0.10, p = 0.59), but not in GM (highest in MTT, R = -0.29, p = 0.09, Spearman rank correlation).



Figure 12. Ipsilateral findings on TCD measurement in asymptomatic (open box) and symptomatic (hatched box) patients (box: standard error of mean; whiskers: 95% confidence interval). *) P < 0.05, t test.

The breath-holding index was comparable in the two groups at baseline, but only the symptomatic group improved postoperatively (group × time interaction, p = 0.02, ANOVA) (Figure 12). The postoperative change in BHI was associated with improvement in interhemispheric ratios in MTT (WM, R = -0.53, p = 0.001; watershed regions, R = -0.34, p = 0.04, GM, R = -0.34, p = 0.04), and in CBV, for WM (WM, R = -0.48, p < 0.005). Improvement of CBF was positively associated with change in BHI only in watershed regions (R = .46, p < 0.01).

5.3. Cognitive changes

The baseline cognitive performance tended to be lower in patients in most domains, with no difference between asymptomatic and symptomatic groups (Table 5). The overall cognition was lower in subjects with higher degrees of leukoaraiosis as measured by both periventricular and disseminated WM hyperintensities (p = 0.02, group effect, repeated-measures ANOVA). However, the degree of leukoaraiosis did not affect the cognitive change scores, and in repeated-measures ANOVA, there was no significant difference in the overall course (time × domain × dichotomized WMH effect). The patients were slightly more depressed than controls at all stages (average Beck scores 4.6 -4.8 vs. 1.6-2.2, p = 0.01).

		symptomatic	asymptomatic	Р	P (controls)
Language		-0.17	-0.29	.58	.24
8.8.	WF-L	-0.44	-0.71	.37	.03*
	WF-C	0.04	-0.03	.83	.98
	BNT	-0.10	-0.12	.92	.66
Verbal memory		-0.39	-0.46	.81	.07
·	AVLT-SUM	-0.61	-0.63	.97	.07
	AVLT-D	0.02	-0.24	.38	.68
	W-VESP	-0.57	-0.49	.78	.03*
Visual memory		-0.45	-0.51	.86	.07
U U	RVLT-SUM	-0.43	-0.45	.94	.12
	RVLT-D	-0.35	-0.52	.68	.18
	CB-VISP	-0.56	-0.55	.90	.03*
Motor dexterity	PP-CONTRA	-0.32	-0.67	.28	.08
Attention		-0.33	-0.55	.59	.16
	LCT	-0.57	-0.75	.76	.14
	TMA	-0.28	-0.49	.60	.24
Executive functions		-0.66	-0.55	.82	.10
	TMB-TMA	-0.77	-0.31	.45	.21
	STROOP-INT	-0.13	-0.07	.87	.75
Compound cognitiv	e score (CCS)	-0.70	-0.92	.64	.02*

Table 5. Neuropsychological performance of the patients in SD units at baseline (controls = 0.00).

BNT=Boston Naming Test; WF-L= Word Fluency, Letter; WF-C=Word Fluency, Category; RVLT-SUM = Rey Visual Learning Test, sum of attempts; RVLT-D= Rey Visual Learning Test, Delayed Recall; AVLT-SUM= Auditory Verbal Learning Test, Sum of attempts; AVLT-D= Auditory Verbal Learning Test, Delayed recall; CB-VISP= Corsi Blocks, Visual Span; W-VESP= WAIS Verbal Digit Span; WR-SIMIL= WAIS-R Similarities, Incidental learning; PP-SUM= Purdue Pegboard, sum of hand scores; LCT= Letter Cancellation Test; TMB-TMA= difference of Trail Making A and Trail Making B time; STROOP-INT= Stroop Interference, difference of colours/words time; CCS= Compound Cognitive Score

P: P value for comparison of performance of asymptomatic and symptomatic patients (uncorrected) **P** (controls) : P value for comparison of patients vs. controls (uncorrected)



Figure 13. Groupwise cognitive scores at the three timepoints [controls vs. patients, p < .01 for group effect, repeated-measures ANOVA]. \circ asymptomatic stenosis; \bullet symptomatic stenosis; \Box controls.

The overall cognitive performance (compound cognitive score) improved equally in controls and in patients (p = 0.44, repeated-measures ANOVA, times × group effect) (Figure 13). In univariate analysis, the standardized change score was 0.16 SD lower in patients at the postoperative stage (p = 0.53), and 0.04 SD lower at the chronic stage (p = 0.91). The cognitive change scores did not correlate with the ADC or MTT changes at postoperative stage, but a weak inverse correlation to MTT was seen at the chronic stage (for GM, R =-0.35, p = 0.03; for WM, R = -0.34, p = 0.04), the best domain being executive functions (R =-0.43, p < 0.01). Patients with a visible perfusion deficit at baseline tended to improve more in successive assessments (p < 0.04, repeated measures ANOVA) (Figure 14). Controlling for age or mood did not alter the findings. Correspondingly, in univariate analysis the cognitive change score of patients with an initial perfusion deficit was higher (postoperatively + 0.43 SD vs. + 0.10 SD, p = 0.11; at the chronic stage + 1.13 SD vs. + 0.48 SD, p = 0.01). The improvement was marked in the domain of executive functions (postoperative + 1.46 vs + 0.70, p = .08; chronic + 1.81 vs + 0.74, p = 0.04), and a trend was seen in visual memory and language.



Figure 14. Cognitive scores in patients with a baseline perfusion deficit vs. patients without a visible deficit (p < 0.05, time × group interaction, repeated-measures ANOVA) • initial perfusion deficit; \circ no perfusion deficit. [p < 0.01 for group effect, repeated-measures ANOVA].

On an individual level, there were 9 patients with a postoperative impairment of the compound cognitive score of one SD or more, and one patient with that of 2 SD. In the control group, 4 subjects had a total performance impaired by 1 SD or more, and none over 2 SD. At the chronic stage, 5 patients were impaired by 1 SD, one of these as a result of a sizable frontal haemorrhage and one because of another unrelated emergent disease, and in the control group, none were impaired by 1 SD. The most sensitive domains to postoperative impairment were attention, motor dexterity, and verbal memory. In attentional tasks, 21 patients (48 %) vs. 4 control persons (18 %) had an impairment over 1 SD (p = 0.03), the only difference reaching statistical significance, and in two patients the impairment exceeded 2 SD. In motor dexterity, 14 patients and 4 control persons had a postoperative impairment over 1 SD (p = 0.38), exceeding 2 SD in one patient. Notably, the two patients with new DWI lesions at the postoperative imaging showed no cognitive decline.
5.4 Change in blood coagulation, fibrinolysis, and haemorheology

5.4.1 General clinical and coagulation and fibrinolysis-associated variables

The demography and risk factor profiles of the groups are given in Table 1 (p. 52), and the general laboratory and blood count variables in Table 6. Age was positively correlated to D-dimer (R = 0.32, p < 0.01), plasma homocysteine (R = 0.29, p < 0.01), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (R = 0.28, p < 0.01), fibrinogen (R = 0.22, p = 0.04), and tPA activity (R = 0.24, p = 0.02). Body mass index correlated strongly with PAI-1 antigen (R = 0.60, p < 0.001), PAI-1 activity (R = 0.59, p < 0.001), and tPA antigen (R = 0.50, p < 0.001), and inversely with tPA activity (R = -0.59, p < 0.001). Smoking habits were unrelated to coagulation and fibrinolysis-associated variables, and so was the type of the vascular event (stroke or transient ischemic attack). An estimate for viscosity, calculated from its principal determinants was higher in the symptomatic patients (Table 6) ³¹⁹. Median high-sensitivity CRP levels were not different between the asymptomatic, symptomatic, and the symptomatic plaque groups (3.8 mg/L, 5.4 mg/L, 3.7 mg/L, p = 0.34).

	ASYMPTOMATIC (n = 18)	SYMPTOMATIC, OTHER (n = 20)	SYMPTOMATIC, PLAQUE (n = 54)	
ESR (mm/h)	23 (12-34)	21 (15-26)	21 (17-24)	0.88
Haemoglobin (g/L)	137 (130-144)	138 (132-144)	140 (138-143)	0.39
Hematocrit (%)	39.0 (37.5-40.8)	40.8 (39.2-42.5)	42.0 (41.1-42.9)	0.04*)
Platelets (E9/L)	246 (214-278)	265 (238-298)	246 (227-266)	0.32
Creatinine (µmol/L)	96 (83-109)	92 (83-100)	92 (87-96)	0.93
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.33 (2.24-2.41)	2.32 (2.29-2.36)	2.32 (2.30-2.34)	0.58
Homocysteine (µmol/L)	10.0 (8.0-11.9)	10.9 (9.0-12.8)	11.5 (10.2-12.8)	0.34
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.2 (4.8-5.7)	5.5 (5.1-6.0)	5.5 (5.2-5.9)	0.51
LDL cholesterol	3.0 (2.6-3.5)	3.3 (2.8-3.8)	3.4 (3.1-3.7)	0.38
HDL cholesterol	1.5 (1.2-1.7)	1.3 (1.0-1.5)	1.3 (1.2-1.4)	0.22
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.58 (1.25-1.91)	2.13 (1.53-2.72)	1.85 (1.49-2.21)	0.55
Glucose (mmol/L)	6.1 (5.0-7.3)	6.4 (5.2-7.6)	6.1 (5.4-6.8)	0.98
Calculated viscosity [Fibr x (Hct) ³]	0.23 (0.19-0.27)	0.27 (0.23-0.31)	0.29 (0.27-0.31)	0.04*)
MES (/hour), all	1 (0-2)	4 (0-8)	6 (2-9)	0.15
anticoagulation)		4 (0-9)	7 (2-12)	0.14

Table 6. Laboratory variables and microembolic signals (MES) of asymptomatic and symptomaticsubgroups. Numbers are given as means \pm 95 % confidence intervals, and p values for a three-waycomparison (Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance, if not otherwise indicated)

(*)Analysis of covariance, adjusted for gender)

5.4.2 Comparison between symptomatic and asymptomatic patients

The measured markers of coagulation and fibrinolysis showed no statistically significant difference in three-way univariate comparison, although tPA antigen values in symptomatic group tended to be higher (Table 7), and there was a trend for a higher MES count, particularly in cases of symptomatic plaques in comparison with the rest of the patients (p = 0.07, Mann-Whitney U test). Uncorrected comparison between asymptomatic and ipsilaterally symptomatic CS reached significance for Hct and tPA antigen (p < 0.01 and < 0.05, respectively, Table 7). No significant correlation was found between MES counts and the measured markers in any subsets, nor did the markers correlate with the time elapsed since onset of symptoms.

 Table 7. Coagulation- and fibrinolysis-related laboratory values in asymptomatic and symptomatic subgroups; medians with interquartile ranges (w/a: patients without anticoagulation).

	ASYMPTOMATIC	SYMPTOMATIC, OTHER	SYMPTOMATIC PLAQUE	P VALUE
	(n = 18)	(n = 20)	(n = 54; w/a 35)	
Fibrinogen	3.9 (2.9-4.8)	4.0 (3.4-4.6)	4.0 (3.2-4.5)	0.94
(w/a)		4.0 (3.4-4.6)	3.6 (2.7-4.4)	0.79
tPA activity	0.6 (0.2-1.0)	0.7 (0.3-1.1)	0.6 (0.3-1.0)	0.27
(w/a)		0.7 (0.4-1.1)	0.5 (0.3-0.9)	0.14
tPA antigen	7.0 (4.1-9.6)	7.8 (3.8-14.9)	8.9 (7.3-10.7)	0.12
(w/a)		7.8 (6.3-10.7)	8.6 (7.4-10.7)	0.07
PAI-1 activity	7.0 (4.5-16.8)	8.3 (3.9-14.4)	10.1 (6.7-14.1)	0.56
(w/a)		8.3 (3.9-14.4)	10.5 (6.3-14.7)	0.09
PAI-1 antigen	15.6 (6.4-25.9)	12.9 (8.2-20.0)	15.7 (11.1-19.7)	0.98
(w/a)		12.9 (4.7.9-22.2)	14.8 (10.6-19.5)	0.96
D-dimer	0.5 (0.4-0.9)	0.4 (0.3-0.8)	0.4 (0.3-0.6)	0.64
(w/a) thrombin-		0.5 (0.3-0.8)	0.5 (0.4-0.8)	0.89
antithrombin	4.0 (2.5-11.8)	4.6 (2.6-10.4)	2.2 (1.8-4.1)	0.006
(w/a)		5.8 (2.7-10.4)	2.6 (1.9-4.9)	0.05
PF 1 and 2	1.2 (0.8-2.1)	1.0 (0.8-1.5)	0.7 (0.4-1.2)	0.06
(w/a)		1.1 (0.9-1.5)	1.1 (0.7-1.3)	0.64

In backward stepwise logistic regression analysis taking into account all the studied variables pertaining to coagulation and fibrinolysis as independent and the symptomatic plaque as the dependent variable, tPA antigen remained in the model as the only significant predictor (OR 1.27, 95% CI 1.04 -1.55, p = 0.02). When hematocrit was included in the variables, it remained in the model (OR 1.22, 95% CI 1.05 -1.45, p = 0.04) together with tPA antigen (OR 1.31, 95% CI 1.03 -1.66) and PF 1 and 2 (OR 0.64, 95% CI 0.46 -0.89).

5.4.3 Effect of medication

Only four patients had neither antiplatelet nor anticoagulant treatment. Anticoagulation with warfarin (n = 22) had expectedly a powerful lowering effect on thrombin-antithrombin complex (3.4 vs. 5.9, p < 0.01), PF 1 and 2 (1.2 vs. 1.7, p < 0.01) and D-dimer (0.34 vs. 0.50, p < 0.01, Mann-Whitney U test), associated with lower prothrombin time (27 vs. 117, p << 0.01) and a fraction higher activated partial thromboplastin time (43.5 vs. 31.5, p < 0.01). Fibrinolytic marker levels and platelet counts were uniform in the anticoagulated and non-anticoagulated groups. Statin users had apart from significantly lower total and LDL cholesterol levels also lower ESR (18 vs. 24, p = 0.02) and a trend for fewer MES (3.1 vs. 5.3, p = 0.10). There were no differences in the measured variables between statin or ACE inhibitor users and non-users.

5.4.4 Degree of carotid stenosis

Degree of stenosis had an overall trend for negative correlation to variables PF 1 and 2, Ddimer, and tPA activity. The trend was strongest in ipsilateral symptomatic patients without anticoagulation (n = 33; for PF 1 and 2, R = -0.32, p = 0.02; for D-dimer, R = -0.41, p = 0.02; for thrombin-antithrombin complex, R = -0.20, p = 0.15; for tPA activity R = -0.30, p = 0.03, Spearman Rank correlation), and was lacking in asymptomatic CS. Correspondingly, an overall trend for positive correlation was seen in tPA antigen, PAI-1 antigen and activity, and the phenomenon was most pronounced in ipsilateral symptomatic CS patients (for tPA antigen, R = 0.58, p < 0.01; for PAI-1 antigen, R = 0.49, p = 0.03, and PAI-1 activity, R = 0.33, p = 0.15). Fibrinogen had no association with the degree of stenosis, whereas hematocrit was positively correlated to it in both asymptomatic and symptomatic groups (R = 0.32, p < 0.01 for total population)

5.4.5 Plaque characteristics

With smooth plaques the MES counts tended to be lower and with ulcerated plaques higher (for both, 3.7 vs. 5.2, p = 0.03, Mann-Whitney U test) (Table 8). Intraplaque haemorrhage tended to associate with higher degree of stenosis (79.6 vs. 75.5 %), reduced platelet count (238 vs. 261 E9/L) and elevated hematocrit (41.9 % vs. 40.3 %, p < 0.05 for all, Mann-Whitney U test) but not with the variables of coagulation and fibrinolysis (data not shown). Anticoagulated ipsilaterally symptomatic patients had fewer haemorrhagic plaques than non-anticoagulated (9 (42 %) vs. 23 (70 %), p = 0.05, χ^2 test).

PLAQUE	ASYMPTOMATIC (n=18)	SYMPTOMATIC, OTHER (n=20)	SYMPTOMATIC PLAQUE (n=54)
amooth	12 (72 9/)	15 (75 9/)	27 (52 %) *)
ulcerated	5 (28 %)	6 (30 %)	27 (55 %) *) 29 (54 %) *)
calcified	14 (78 %)	11 (55 %)	31 (57 %)
loose atheroma	2 (11 %)	4 (20 %)	14 (26 %)
haemorrhage	8 (44 %)	8 (40 %)	32 (59 %)

Table 8. Macroscopic characteristics of the plaque at surgery

*) $p < 0.05, \chi^2$ test

6. DISCUSSION

6.1 Changes in brain diffusion

In the diffusion study, the ADC_{av} values were found to be elevated in the WM and the watershed areas of the hemisphere ipsilateral to a high-grade CS; furthermore, removal of the stenosis brought the values promptly back to the same level as in the contralateral hemisphere. The finding was consistent in the asymptomatic and the symptomatic subgroups. Yet, the ADC_{av} values of GM and thalamus displayed neither interhemispheric nor postoperative variation, and, despite the postoperative decline, the ADC_{av} values of WM and watershed regions of patients remained higher than those of the controls regardless of the hemisphere or time point. Although the magnitude of the ADC_{av} change was small, it was consistent enough both among the patients and between the different lobes of the brain as to make is statistically clearly significant, and thus chance variation remains an improbable explanation.

Rise of ADC levels indicates less restriction to diffusivity in the tissue. Chronically increased diffusion implies a structural change which may be a form of permanent damage, such as chronic ischemic stroke or presumably LA. In case of tissue destruction, the ADC elevation can be assumed to be irreversible. The ADC elevation may be sensitive to a 'subclinical' level of change in tissue structure as shown in the normal-appearing WM patients with advanced WM lesions ¹⁷¹. A more informative way to characterize the structural change or damage change would be diffusion tensor imaging capable of producing multiple indices, especially, fractional anisotropy, which is inversely proportional to ADC levels ⁴⁹¹. Several studies have confirmed the change in the normal-appearing WM in patients with WM lesions, and some of the studies have been able to show a correlation to the degree of cognitive dysfunction, mainly in the domain of executive functions ^{120, 492, 493}. WM has appeared the most vulnerable in experimentally induced chronic hypoperfusion; moreover, human studies with DSC MRI and positron emission tomography have detected hypoperfusion in association with WM lesions, which is consistent with the notion of a low-grade perfusion deficit ^{378, 383, 484, 494, 495}. Yet, it remains in question whether hypoperfusion is the cause or the effect in case of the WM lesions. In our study, the perfusion sequences revealed diminished perfusion ipsilateral to the stenosis in a considerable proportion of the patients, and so it is prudent to ask what kind of an effect the perfusion deficit would technically have on the ADCav values. Since the rate of perfusion is estimated to constitute a few percent of the ADCav values of the brain tissue, the expected consequence of a perfusion deficit per se would be a minor ipsilateral ADC_{av}

decrease ¹⁸⁰. As the ipsilateral ADC_{av} values, to the contrary, were significantly higher than in controls, it is evident that other physiological mechanisms and consequences predominate over the short-term direct effect of reduced perfusion. What is more, also the contralateral ADC_{av} values were higher in the patients than in controls, which underscores the pivotal differences between patient and control populations and probably reflects the patients' greater propensity to WM changes in comparison to a population without cerebrovascular risk factors.

Reversible elevations of the ADC may be encountered in vasogenic oedema, e.g. hypertensive encephalopathy, eclampsia, or posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome ^{160, 167, 496, 497}. In these cases, the permeability of the blood-brain barrier is altered, and intra- and extracellular water is redistributed so that excess water is found in the interstitium. When CS is sufficiently tight to cause relative hypoperfusion, the expected haemodynamic change would be vessel dilatation and an increase in cerebral blood volume (CBV). After CEA, the ipsilateral flow increases, and the blood volume would be expected to either decrease or remain unchanged ^{498, 499}. Perfusion would thus improve, which could induce a slight elevation of ADC_{av} values. In our study, no significant alteration in CBV was detected at any of the three stages; however, it is possible that the magnitude of change needed to be reflected in ADC values is greater, and the sensitivity of the perfusion imaging methodology used in this study may be insufficient for detection of a minor difference. At any rate, the detected postoperative ADC_{av} decrease is contrary to the change that would be expected solely on the basis of the altered perfusion.

The contralateral hemisphere had unaltered diffusion after the operation, neither did the ADC_{av} values of GM or thalamus change in either hemisphere. These entities are not only structurally different from WM but their inflow of blood has other sources: GM is supplied by leptomeningeal collaterals, and thalamus by vertebrobasilar circulation ^{500, 501}. The lack of variation is concordant with the observation that the ADC_{av} levels of GM and thalamus were equal in the patients and controls, in contrast to the differing values in WM.

Both asymptomatic and symptomatic subgroups had uniform levels of ADC_{av} values in the ipsilateral hemispheres, and their development was similar in the follow-up. The groups were homogeneous also in terms of the patient characteristics (age, risk factors, and degree of CS) at baseline. Thus, in this context, ADC_{av} measurements did not distinguish the symptomatic from the asymptomatic or shed any light on the question why and how some patients with similar CS become symptomatic. In within-subject analysis, the anterior watershed regions

had higher ADC_{av} values than the posterior watershed area at every time point. This supports the previous study and our own findings of the frontal lobes having the highest ADC_{av} levels ⁴⁹⁹. The impact of a stenosis in anterior circulation may have a propensity to accentuate the lobar differences, depending on the degree of subservience by anterior or posterior circulation and the effectiveness of collateralization.

The overall finding of elevated preoperative ADC_{av} values and their partial reversal by CEA, and the fact that they remained higher than in the normal controls even at the chronic stage, suggest that both reversible and irreversible components exist in the impact of a severe CS on the ipsilateral WM. The observed net decrease of ADC_{av} supports the hypothesis of a corrective effect on cellular-level pathophysiological mechanisms, such as chronic ipsilateral relative ischaemia. The finding of a slightly larger volume of LA in the ipsilateral hemisphere may give some support to the notion of LA-inducing potential of CS, in accordance with a previous positron emission tomography study ⁴⁹⁵.

6.2 Changes in brain perfusion

The most sensitive parameter to the haemodynamic effect of CS in perfusion imaging was MTT, supporting previous findings ^{484, 502}. MTT values improved not only in the hemisphere ipsilateral to the stenosis but also to some extent in the contralateral hemisphere, which contributed to the significance of the group × time interaction. The baseline MTT maps revealed a visually detectable perfusion deficit in over half of the symptomatic group, and the finding was significantly associated with symptomatic status. On the basis of these data, the threshold for visual detection of the perfusion deficit can be approximated as an MTT prolongation of more than 15-20 % on the affected side. The high prevalence of a chronic perfusion deficit in the symptomatic group needs to be kept in mind as a potential confounder in the setting of acute ischaemia, as it may erroneously be regarded as tissue-at-risk ^{503, 504}. In such cases, more comprehensive vascular imaging is needed to differentiate the chronic form of hypoperfusion from the acutely emerged one.

The variation of perfusion parameters from the acute to the chronic stage was negligible especially in the asymptomatic patients. This lack of effect in a considerable part of subjects may explain why little long-term change has been detected in previous studies ^{498, 499}. Our findings also corroborate the greater haemodynamic impairment of WM in comparison to GM ⁵⁰⁵. However, the watershed areas did not appear specifically vulnerable to lower perfusion

but resembled the rest of the chosen WM regions of interest, and no perfusion asymmetry was found between the anterior and posterior borderzones ⁴⁹⁹. Variation in CBV was lowest of all perfusion parameters, and not more than minute differences between the asymptomatic and symptomatic groups were seen. In principle, CBV parameter should not be sensitive to delay and dispersion of the bolus, but it seems unlikely to be a sensitive indicator of haemodynamic reserve ^{75, 341, 484, 502}.

TCD findings displayed little difference between asymptomatic and symptomatic groups in the preoperative reactivity, but the reactivity improved notably only in the symptomatic patients, suggesting some degree of preoperative haemodynamic compromise. In addition, the correlation between the attenuation of interhemispheric asymmetry of MR parameters and the improvement of BHI underlines the effect of CEA in symptomatic patients. Pulsatility index is proposed to reflect cerebrovascular impedance, and it is influenced by several properties of the vasculature as well as by cardiac function, and it has been applied as an indiscriminate index of vascular resistance ⁵⁰⁷. It has been associated with symptomatic status, and it is known to improve after CEA, but its predictive value has been poor ^{75, 507, 508}. CS decreases pulsatility index by reducing inflow, and retained pulsatility is thought to indicate lower impedance of collateral vessels. In our study, the preoperatively lower pulsatility index and the greater postoperative improvement of pulsatility in the symptomatic patients is in accord with more severe initial haemodynamic impairment and previous findings ⁵⁰⁷. However, since pulsatility index is an inaccurate measure of vascular resistance and it is affected by many confounding parameters, its value to a clinician in the context of CS is at least limited. At this stage, the clinical use or benefit of vasoreactivity testing is not established, either. To evaluate its predictive value among other predictors would require a large study population, and it could be beneficial to apply a more exact testing method than breath-holding.

Overall, the perfusion results corroborate that within a homogeneous patient population with a unilateral high-grade carotid stenosis, the patients who develop symptoms have in general a poorer haemodynamic adaptation to the stenosis than the patients who remain asymptomatic. This tendency may be detected as an abnormal interhemispheric ratio of MTT in DSC MRI, which often produces a visible perfusion deficit in perfusion mapping. Consequently, the symptomatic patients also improve more clearly after CEA than the haemodynamically more stable asymptomatic patients whose long-term haemodynamic response was negligible in our study. The better haemodynamic adaptation may partly account for the lesser benefit from surgery in asymptomatic patients.

6.3. Cognitive changes

6.3.1 Cognitive dysfunction

Patient groups with risk factors and CS were consistently inferior in cognitive performance in comparison to a matched group without major risk factors. The long-term inferiority is not surprising, as cerebrovascular disease and cognitive impairment share several risk factors. Although previous cerebrovascular events could explain the difference especially in a symptomatic group of patients, considering the absence of major strokes and the low overall level of MR lesions in the symptomatic group as well as the homogeneous performance level in symptomatic and asymptomatic patients, the patient population seems to differ from the healthy controls irrespective of clinical vascular events. Still, an equal number of lacunar infarctions were detected in both patient groups; these are known to be one of the central mediators of cognitive decline, and here they may serve as markers of the underlying cerebrovascular disease along with the WM lesions ⁴¹⁵. Apart from minor strokes and WM lesions, the cognitive impairment in CS patients could be due to microembolization, regional hypoperfusion, or to other mechanisms. Further information on the mechanisms could have clinical implications and help define appropriate therapeutic interventions.

The cognitive dysfunction after CEA has become a well documented finding during the last decade. In the publications the incidence of dysfunction has attained to or exceeded one-fourth of patients ^{16, 18, 465, 468}. Considering the primarily preventive nature of the intervention, complications would threaten its aims, and one should be aware of potential subtle cognitive effects, which might easily go unnoticed in the clinical practice and not be taken into account in complication rate assessments of CEA. However, it is to be borne in mind that the reported figures are relative and determined by the set criteria for dysfunction, and thus arbitrary, and not much is known about the long-term effects or the actual 'real-life' significance of the postoperative cognitive decline to the patients' discharge from the hospital, their daily life, recovery, or well-being. Nevertheless, the occurrence of postoperative cognitive decline underlines the importance of identifying high-risk patients, whenever possible, and opting for prevention with appropriate operative and monitoring techniques.

Our study revealed a noticeable postoperative dysfunction in a number of patients, using strict criteria for dysfunction, although the changes were not strongly reflected in group means. When criteria adopted by Heyer et al. were used, there were fewer patients with cognitive deficits than anticipated ¹⁶. The stricter criteria may be more appropriate for the limited

sample size, albeit that the risk of false positive findings becomes substantial, i.e. subjects are classified as having postoperative cognitive decline merely because of the intrinsic variability of the neuropsychological instrument, or the observed decline in test performance is not translated to any considerable disability in daily life. One of the many confounding elements in this setting is general anaesthesia, which decline is at times attributed to, but the recent results do not support its role ⁴⁶⁵. Some decline in our material may have been artefactual and due to the intrinsic variability of the instrument, e.g. because of suboptimal parallel test versions, as a transient decline was seen in control group as well (Figure 13). The decline was also a DWI-negative phenomenon, as in previous reports ^{17, 509}. Furthermore, the subjects with new postoperative DWI lesions were not classified as having cognitive decline by their test performance. The insensitivity of the cognitive assessment to appearance of new DWI lesions can be interpreted as a reminder of the 'non-localizable' network functioning of the brain, expected to be more sensitive to disseminated microembolic loads over time, low-grade regional hypoperfusion, or widespread gradual changes, than punctate lesions.

Finally, considering the generally good performance of the subjects at the three-month time point and the overall clinical impression, the transient cognitive effects could be interpreted as mild and not constituting a clinical problem in this patient group. However, questions on the importance of the finding cannot be answered within this study design but would require a larger study population, a different approach and a longer follow-up time; neither can predictors for postoperative decline be determined within this design.

6.3.2 Cognitive improvement

The overall cognitive improvement of the patients after CEA reflected a learning effect that was as good as in healthy peers regardless of the WM lesion severity. The PWI result suggesting a greater cognitive improvement in patients with visible perfusion deficits tallies with recent reports of a greater cognitive improvement in patients with compromised cerebral vasoreactivity, two of them published after the completion of our study ⁴⁷⁸⁻⁴⁸⁰. According to previous PWI findings, these patients may represent mainly symptomatic subjects with poorer collaterals and exhausted physiological cerebrovascular autoregulatory buffer. Such a subgroup would be more prone to recurrent ischaemia or spells of inadequate oxygen supply as well as impaired clearance of microemboli ^{347, 351, 510}. Poorer reserve capacity, on the other hand, could also increase surgical risks.

Preliminary domainwise analysis was possible with our comprehensive study battery, and the improvement was mainly based on better executive functioning. This finding is supported by the recent small study by Fukunaga et al. ⁴⁷⁹ Executive functions involve planning and goal setting, coordination of multiple tasks while storing information, set shifting between stimulus and response, and deployment of attentional resources; from the point of view of cognitive neuroscience, executive functions require large-scale network functioning of the brain and connectivity, essentially through fronto-subcortical circuits. On the basis of many studies, execution is postulated as the most sensitive cognitive domain to age-related connective integrity and white matter pathology ^{510, 511}. This sensitivity obviously explains the high incidence of dysexecutive problems in cerebrovascular disease as well.

The finding of cognitive improvement needs to be interpreted with caution; nevertheless, the prospect of improvement in the most hypoperfused individuals deserves further study with larger sample size, preferably with a more hemisphere-specific testing battery dimension. Furthermore, despite the predominance of symptomatic patients in the most hypoperfused group, notably two out of ten in our study were asymptomatic in this substudy. In principle, perfusion status could serve as an accessory criterion in selection of asymptomatic patients that might benefit from CEA, but evidence from controlled trials is needed.

The cognitive score change was not directly correlated with the small but consistent and partially reversible elevation of ADC values detected in the diffusion study. However, should higher ADC levels indicate a step towards WM degeneration, this would provide a link with the long-term cognitive deterioration, which was outside the scope of the design of our study ⁵¹². If the link exists, and WM degeneration is seen as a target for prevention of cognitive decline, CEA would provide a means of preventing cognitive deterioration in the long run also by protecting WM, not only by reducing the risk of stroke.

6.4 Change in blood coagulation, fibrinolysis, and haemorheology

The thrombogenic process in carotid occlusive disease involves blood and plaque properties as well as blood flow conditions. In this cross-sectional study, we chose to compare selected markers of coagulation and fibrinolysis, and the most general factors of viscosity, to see whether they appeared involved in the process transforming an asymptomatic high-grade carotid stenosis into a symptomatic one. Although the study design and the sample size does not allow firm conclusions, the results support the association of both coagulation-fibrinolysis and haemorheology with generation of symptoms in advanced CS.

Elevated viscosity estimate was associated with the symptomatic state, and it was notably due to increased hematocrit (Hct) levels, not to rise in fibrinogen (Table 6). Otherwise, the subpopulations had uniform risk factor profiles and demography, apart from the female predominance in the asymptomatic group, due to chance or gender-associated difference in plaque constitution, as well as the basic serology including lipid profile and homocysteine (Table 1)⁵¹³. Het may have an impact as a significant contributor to local shear stress and von Willebrand factor-mediated formation of platelet thrombus, and the shear force and flow conditions have their effects on several mechanisms of thrombosis ^{514, 515}. Unfavourable haemorheology may not only be a mediator of the initial injury to the vessel wall, giving impetus to atherogenesis, but also a risk factor for generation of symptoms through local shear, thrombus-forming effects on platelets, and greater risk of turbulence and stagnation of flow. CS could be an especially prone site, considering the high-shear and turbulent flow conditions in the carotid arteries in comparison with e.g. coronary arteries. Increased viscosity has been associated with enhanced stroke risk in prospective studies with synergistic effects with other risk factors as well as with carotid intima-media thickness, and elevated viscosity levels have been detected in acute stroke ^{322, 323, 516-518}. However, rheological studies in acute stroke have detected elevations in fibrinogen rather than Hct, although some studies have documented increased Hct in presence of CS 322, 323, 517. In principle, haemorheological impairment could give rise to symptoms also through influence on cerebral perfusion in cases of less well-developed collateralization. Yet, the acute cerebrovascular event itself could be a confounding factor in symptomatic CS, as both acute-phase elevations and decreases have been described in patients with a recent thrombosis, in addition to elevated fibrinogen ^{517, 519,} ⁵²⁰. Our study lacked major infarctions, however, and the baseline levels did not correlate with the time elapsed since symptoms. Although no direct measurements of viscosity were made in this study, the results support the notion that the haemorheological aspect merits further consideration in future studies ⁵²¹.

Coagulation- and fibrinolysis-related variables showed little difference in univariate analysis, although the trend of higher tPA antigen together with the relatively low tPA activity implies reduced fibrinolytic capacity in the symptomatic group. In multivariate analysis, elevated tPA antigen levels seem to associate with the symptomatic plaque more clearly, in line with previous studies where elevated tPA antigen has appeared as a risk factor and a predictor of future vascular events ^{316, 522, 523}. A similar association has been reported in severe peripheral

arterial disease and thrombotic events in coronary heart disease, whereas PAI-1 has not consistently displayed an association despite its definite role in fibrinolysis ⁵²⁴⁻⁵²⁶. Involvement of the plasminogen system in activation of matrix metalloproteinases and thus eventually plaque instability and tissue remodeling may underlie its importance in this setting ⁵²⁷. The finding suggests that elevated tPA antigen may be an indicator of endothelial dysfunction and plaque instability as well as reduced fibrinolytic capacity to counteract intraluminal thrombus formation also in advanced carotid disease, thus contributing to the generation of symptoms. An overall 'thrombogenic profile' with higher level of thrombin generation together with impaired fibrinolysis was not detected, suggesting that induction of symptoms by an intrinsically abnormal coagulation-fibrinolysis pattern is not common in this patient group, or it may have been modified before blood samples were collected. The low-level PF 1 and 2, and thrombin-antithrombin complex are likely confounded not only with the active anticoagulant treatment in a major part of the most symptomatic patients but also the time elapsed since the symptomatic stage.

The degree of stenosis revealed a positive association with fibrinolytic factors tPA antigen, PAI-1 antigen and activity especially in presence of an anticoagulant lowering the overall level of thrombin generation. Correspondingly, increasing stenosis was involved with decreasing levels of PF 1 and 2, D-dimer, thrombin-antithrombin complex, and tPA activity, and this phenomenon was evident without the interfering presence of anticoagulation. This supports involvement of the fibrinolytic system in the evolution of atherosclerotic disease into the symptomatic stage, especially as no association of tPA antigen and the grade of stenosis was detected in the asymptomatic group. The correlation between tPA antigen and the stenosis degree was highest in the anticoagulated, ipsilaterally symptomatic stenoses, probably explained by the selective attrition the most symptom-generating and unstable plaques in this subgroup, as their degree of stenosis was not higher *per se*. The expression of markers may also be affected by the flow and perfusion condition, which were found in the perfusion imaging substudy to be better in the asymptomatic patients.

The macroscopic appearance of the symptomatic plaques with more frequent ulcerations and intraplaque haemorrhages was associated with clinical symptoms and MES counts but not with mediators of coagulation and fibrinolysis. This may reflect the importance of plaque ulceration as a nidus for thrombi even in absence of increased thrombogenic potential ³⁰¹. The lack of association may also serve as a reminder of the systemic nature of the markers and disease, determined by the extent and nature of the overall burden of atherosclerosis rather than reflecting a local process. This may also explain why CRP levels did not differentiate the groups, which all displayed levels that generally indicate a high risk for

cardiovascular events. The initial approach of attempting to cross-correlate plaque processes related to inflammation and cell death to symptom-associated systemic factors did not produce any robust correlations withstanding the necessary corrections for multiple statistical comparisons. Notably, although the risk factor profiles and grade of stenosis were comparable between the subgroups, the overall atherosclerotic lesion burden was not known. The association of intraplaque haemorrhage with higher hematocrit and calculated viscosity may suggest the impact of higher shear on bleeding tendency and constitute a possible mechanism of symptom generation.

6.5 Limitations of the studies

The fundamental limitations of all substudies are the limited sample size and the relatively short follow-up time. The heavy imaging protocol and the comprehensive neuropsychological battery have made the substudies labour-intensive and curbed the recruitment numbers, which has brought on statistical limitations and precluded many subgroup analyses. Since the follow-up time was barely longer than three months after the baseline, little can be said about the actual long-term effects of CEA.

The imaging studies involve some technical limitations. Firstly, analysis of the various regions of interest is challenging because of the potential contamination risk with neighbouring substance or cerebrospinal fluid, especially in case of GM regions of interest. However, as especially ADC_{av} values were within a very narrow range in this study (Table 3), the contamination seems unlikely, and the same applies in principle to the haemodynamic parameters. Secondly, perfusion imaging and its analysis has intrinsic limitations. Perfusion MRI has not become strictly quantitative, essentially because the basic assumptions concerning the underlying microvascular structure are simplified ^{189, 190}. Even if the values would be expected to be reasonably proportional to the actual blood flow measured, the premises of the calculation may lead to systematic errors. The fairly low resolution of the images enhances the risk of partial volume effects. These shortcomings could be partially improved by correction algorithms ⁵²⁸. In this study, the main focus was on comparison and relative values, and we refrained from using correction methods. Potentially greater and even crucial problem in the presence of a CS could be the absolute dependence on arterial input function, which is a prerequisite for quantification. Delay or dispersion in the bolus passage would inevitably introduce error. We selected an arterial input function from the contralateral hemisphere, using a feeding branch of the middle cerebral artery distal to the circle of Willis

for determination as close to the region of interest as reasonable, after the input of main collaterals, even at a somewhat greater risk of partial volume effects. Finally, one of the confounding factors is the variation in the fraction of cardiac output reaching the brain. In this material, the risk may not be substantial as major cardiac diseases were criteria for patient exclusion.

In the study on cognitive functions, neuropsychological assessment as a sensitive tool with a considerable intrinsic variability may be especially prone to confounding elements in repeated testing in the surgical setting ^{487, 488}. Furthermore, in successive testing within a limited time frame, the subject's performance will inevitably improve in a number of neuropsychological tasks by learning effect. To control for learning, we chose to compare the subjects to healthy peers examined within the same time frame. This group may, however, be suboptimal as the anxiety and motivational levels of healthy people differ from those of the patients. On the other hand, although their cognitive performance was better it was not as far superior as to be cut down by ceiling effect of the subtests, and being strictly healthy they assumedly provided a good measure for the natural learning curve which the patients would hardly be expected to surpass. The use of compound cognitive score may be criticized for bringing about bias and redundancy or loss of information since no tests are domain-specific. Still, compounding may serve to bring out underlying trends, in addition to the obvious advantage of lesser need for multiple comparison and corrections. In the present study, the restricted sample size does not allow for robust corrections nor a breakdown into hemisphere-specific analysis.

The study on coagulation, fibrinolysis, and haemorheology has the most crucial limitations despite the largest sample size. Firstly, the selected study variables do not reflect the total haemostatic process but there are potential factors that have not been studied (e.g. platelet functions). Secondly, the timing of laboratory sample collection is hopelessly late, as the plasma markers of the intertwined dynamic processes of coagulation and fibrinolysis are part of a highly reactive and dynamic defense mechanism to protect the integrity of the vasculature, and they generally have short half-lives ⁵²⁹. Thus, the acute phase before, during, and immediately after the onset of symptoms is not easily caught in a clinical study, and the risk of confounding elements accumulates when a single postictal assessment is to reflect the dynamic situation just before the acute stage as well as the time after the onset of symptoms. The time range since symptoms was from a few days to over 200 days in the ipsilaterally symptomatic, median at 41 days, and even longer in otherwise symptomatic patients; accordingly, the acute-phase reaction cannot be expected to be shown, and the subsequent phases such as endothelial regeneration could also induce variance. Thirdly, atherosclerosis is

a systemic process, as previously discussed, and drastic conclusions on a local process on the basis of blood samples may be misleading. Fourthly, a considerable number of patients were on warfarin, which has a confounding effect on part of the results. In addition, haemorheological conclusions are made indirectly on the basis of basic parameters without direct rheological measurements.

6.6 Summary of findings and their implications

The studies (II-III) yielded findings indicating that a high-grade CS may have implicit effects on the brain and its functions. Another main finding was that the haemodynamic aspect (I) and the microcirculation (IV) may influence the evolution of symptoms in these patients.

The main results in the brain diffusion and perfusion studies (I-II) were the ipsilateral findings of enhanced diffusion and the lower perfusion in the WM, as well as the corrective effect of CEA on them. Unlike the partially reversible diffusional elevation, the perfusion impairment differed between asymptomatic and symptomatic patients. The haemodynamic effect was reflected by the TCD modality as well. Both diffusion and perfusion results support the etiology of a chronic low-grade ischaemia, which has been the central hypothetical etiology to WM lesions ¹⁴. The preoperatively elevated ADC_{av} values were a novel finding suggesting an association between WM degeneration and CS. The perfusion data (II) are in line with previous studies on haemodynamics in carotid stenosis or occlusion, but they underscore the haemodynamic aspect in the symptomatic disease ^{77, 343, 502}. The results serve as a reminder not to overlook the haemodynamic state, either, which may have a contributory or synergistic role along with the unstable plaque seeding emboli ^{347, 351}. A closer haemodynamic evaluation could also help in selecting asymptomatic patients with CS for operative treatment.

The cognitive performance of patients with a high-grade CS (III) was found to be poorer than in healthy peers, on the basis of a multimodal approach and a versatile neuropsychological battery, in line with previous reports ^{416-418, 530}. The degree of impairment correlated with the severity of WM degeneration ^{531, 532}. However, the patients' postoperative cognitive improvement was equally good as that of controls in repeated testing, and even better in some domains in patients who initially had a deeper hypoperfusion, primarily in executive functions. The association of CEA and cognition appears twofold: despite a risk of transient cognitive decline, surgery of a high-grade CS in a dedicated unit seems to be a fairly safe means to protect the brain, and there is even a possibility of cognitive benefit in subgroups. Prospective identification of individuals with the optimum benefit warrants further study with larger samples and multimodal designs, longer follow-up, and evaluation of the true impact of the observed cognitive dysfunction on the subjects' daily life and its quality. Much more data is needed also on the association of ADC levels and the progress of WM changes before the role of CEA as a potential means of WM protection can be established, and application of diffusion tensor imaging, possibly combined with other imaging modalities, would be more informative than the mere ADC approach.

Both fibrinolytic mechanisms and haemorheology may be associated with the evolution of CS into the symptomatic stage (IV). Elevated levels of tPA antigen may be an indicator of carotid plaque instability and associated thrombogenic potential, and higher viscosity of blood, an established risk factor for stroke, may contribute to symptoms in severe CS. A longitudinal follow-up study of the mediators, a more comprehensive overview of the haemostatic process, direct measurements of viscosity, and a more specific look at the flow conditions, in a closer temporal proximity to the acute stage, would probably provide more accurate information on the interplay of coagulation, fibrinolysis, and haemorheology.

On the basis of these results, future carotid trials could be encouraged to take advantage of more functional and dynamic methods for an improved evaluation and risk assessment in carotid disease, instead of the mere categorical observation of stenosis degree. With the evolution of angioplasty and stenting, the cognitive aspect and multimodality should be incorporated into the design of carotid trials, particularly as the recent systematic reviews have concluded that a greater number of brain lesions are detected after carotid stenting than after CEA ^{463, 476}. Apart from this difference with potential cognitive sequelae, the putative effects of altered perfusion and diffusion would probably be analogical after stenting and CEA, but remain to be verified by further study.

7. CONCLUSIONS

1. Cerebral haemodynamics in symptomatic patients with a high-grade carotid stenosis is less well adapted and more often results in haemodynamic deficit than in asymptomatic patients. Accordingly, the haemodynamics of symptomatic patients benefit more from removal of stenosis as indicated by improvement in perfusion, pulsatility, and reactivity.

2. A high-grade CS is associated with elevated ADC_{av} values in the WM and watershed regions of the ipsilateral hemisphere in comparison to the contralateral hemisphere and to healthy control population. The interhemispheric difference is promptly abolished by CEA, but the ADC_{av} levels remain higher than in healthy controls also in the chronic stage. This implies the existence of both reversible and irreversible component in the effect a high-grade CS has on the WM, and it may indicate an association to the WM degeneration.

3. Carotid occlusive disease is associated with a lower level of cognitive functioning irrespective of vascular events. After carotid surgery, despite a trend towards transient cognitive decline, the patients improve within months as expected by learning effect in repeated testing. Cognitive improvement is greater in patients with deeper preoperative cerebral hypoperfusion, and the improvement is most evident in the domain of executive functions.

4. Symptomatic patients with a high-grade stenosis differ in terms of coagulation activity and fibrinolysis, as well as basic haemorheology. Mediators of fibrinolysis and unfavourable haemorheology may contribute to progress of an asymptomatic carotid disease into a symptomatic one in patients with a high-grade CS.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study emerged as a by-product of the Helsinki Carotid Endarterectomy Study (HeCES), sparked off by professor Markku Kaste in the second half of 1990's. My indebtedness to him for his encouragement and benevolence is beyond measure and words. He is the key person who has introduced many of us to the spheres of stroke and helped us realize the impact of cerebrovascular disease and the power of untiring work to combat stroke worldwide. As being the chair of the department as well as the professor at the time, he also made the project possible on the practical level in many ways. The other ground figure and tutor of this work has been docent Turgut Tatlisumak, whose help has been absolutely vital from the beginning. Heartfelt thanks to Turgut for being the tough, righteous, and at the same, the very supporting person with a good sense of humour, and thanks for sharing the same office for many years and for many good laughs at worldly phenomena. The tutors - despite all their inherent vigour - have shown great patience with the gradual evolution of this thesis as an aside of the clinical work and other adventures of the undersigned. I also thank the present head of the clinic, docent Markus Färkkilä, for the opportunity to combine the clinical routine with research and finish up the work, and the custos and the professor of the department Timo Erkinjuntti for his most encouraging and supportive attitude.

The fruitful HeCES collaboration has involved eminent founder figures in addition to Markku Kaste such as professors Perttu Lindsberg and Petri Kovanen, and it has been a privilege to learn from them during these years. Docent Riitta Lassila has been the sovereign ideologist of the hematological sidetrack of HeCES, and docent Oili Salonen has been the gentle and diligent authority on the neuroradiological field. I am grateful for their vision and generous help. My young and talented colleague Johanna Helenius has had an indispensable role for this work, taking care of the neuroradiological post-processing, a major part of the hard and tiring 'gluteal' work, along with bringing about a fresh breeze of a charming and inquisitive mind. The skillful surgical and ultrasonological contribution of Eija Saimanen formed the operative basis of HeCES study; collaboration with Eija was most rewarding, and everything used to proceed smoothly. Docent Marja Hietanen has been providing the highest expertise on cognitive functions, and she has been a quietly supportive and friendly figure throughout the work, for which I wish to express my gratitude. I also thank Irene Tikkala for a great many neuropsychological examinations of patients, often at unconventional times of the week, and many thanks are also due to Pia Mäenpää for a very good and consistent collaboration for the same end. I thank my colleague Kirsi Malmberg-Céder for working with us and taking part in the HeCES collaboration before setting out and leaving us missing her cheerful company. I gratefully acknowledge the expertise of Jussi Perkiö and Veli-Pekka Poutanen, who have generously helped with all matters pertaining to MRI. I have greatly appreciated the expertise of professor Seppo Sarna, who has readily and patiently emailed back many answers to my questions on several intricacies of statistics. An integral part of HeCES has also been the consistent and skillful work of the study nurses of our research unit, 'the Cellar', especially Riitta Kärkkäinen, Riitta Lönnqvist, and Saija Eirola; sincere thanks could not be better

deserved than theirs. The HeCES collaboration has since the early phases involved several younger colleagues, especially Krista Nuotio, Petra Ijäs, Jani Saksi, Pia Isoviita, Riitta Sonninen, and previously also Erno Lehtonen-Smeds and Mikko Mäyränpää. They have been a great bunch to work with. Along with the HeCES collaboration, I am also greatly indebted to professor Risto O. Roine for his integral role and contribution to the development of the neurovascular and neurocardiological traditions in Helsinki. After HeCES, the very good carotid collaboration has continued with professor Mauri Lepäntalo and his vascular surgeons, especially Pirkka, Anders, and Mikael.

I owe my gratitude to professor Matti Hillbom and docent Niku Oksala for their constructive and detailed criticism and expert views on the manuscript, as well as for showing great flexibility and understanding with the timetables.

I am deeply indebted to all the patients and control subjects who willingly participated in the studies and went through copious examinations for the sake of science, as well as to the personnel on the surgical and neurological wards that greeted the extra curricula of the study patients with a positive attitude.

Many colleagues and friends have made the daily work and existence interesting, colourful, poignant, and pleasurable. I thank Mikko, Olli, Pena, Satu, Kirsi, Nina, Mika, Daniel, Tiina, Elena, Katja, Jukka, Seppo, Eero, Kari-Pekka, Mervi, Sari, Mari, Tarja, Ville, Laaxis, Hanna, Auli, and many others in the clinic - not to forget the young hopes led by Atte, and the rest of the stroke team - for all of their contributions to the daily work, interesting discussions, and the keen preoccupation with the brain. Very special thanks to Marjaana, Martti, and Merja for their friendship, personal warmth, and collegiality. Special thanks also to Leena Hänninen for continuous and multitudinous help through years, as well as to Anu Eräkanto for prompt resolution of some practical problems. Thanks to my old pal and artist Jukka Nissinen for a brief introduction to computer graphics.

Finally, I want to express my deepest gratitude not only to Kirsi Marjaana but also to my beloved children Tuomas, Sara, Samuel, Sonja, and Heta, for being there, and my parents Irja and Paavo for their unfailing support through all times.

Ultimately, my love and gratitude to Helena for being with me.

This study was financially supported by grants from the Helsinki University Central Hospital (EVO), the Maire Taponen Foundation, the Neurology Foundation, the Medical Foundation of Finland, and the Orion Research Foundation.

Helsinki, October 29, 2009

Lauri Soinne

REFERENCES

- 1. Beaglehole R. Global cardiovascular disease prevention: Time to get serious. *Lancet*. 2001;358:661-663
- 2. Braunwald E. Cardiovascular medicine at the turn of the millennium: Triumphs, concerns, and opportunities. *N Engl J Med.* 1997;337:1360-1369
- 3. Kaste M, Fogelholm R, Rissanen A. Economic burden of stroke and the evaluation of new therapies. *Public Health*. 1998;112:103-112
- 4. Aivoinfarkti. Duodecim. 2006;122:2770-2790
- 5. Bamford J, Sandercock P, Dennis M, Warlow C, Burn J. Classification and natural history of clinically identifiable subtypes of cerebral infarction. *Lancet*. 1991;337:1521-1526
- Baron JC, Bousser MG, Rey A, Guillard A, Comar D, Castaigne P. Reversal of focal "Miseryperfusion syndrome" by extra-intracranial arterial bypass in hemodynamic cerebral ischemia. A case study with 150 positron emission tomography. *Stroke*. 1981;12:454-459
- 7. Klijn CJM, Kappelle LJ, Tulleken CAF, van Gijn J. Symptomatic carotid artery occlusion. A reappraisal of hemodynamic factors. *Stroke*. 1997;28:2084-2093
- 8. Chambers BR, Donnan G. Carotid endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid stenosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2005:CD001923
- Chaturvedi S, Bruno A, Feasby T, Holloway R, Benavente O, Cohen S, Cote R, Hess D, Saver J, Spence J, Stern B, Wilterdink J. Carotid endarterectomy - an evidence-based review: Report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*. 2005;65:794-801
- 10. Golledge J, Greenhalgh RM, Davies AH. The symptomatic carotid plaque. *Stroke*. 2000;31:774-621
- Ijäs P, Nuotio K, Saksi J, Soinne L, Saimanen E, Karjalainen-Lindsberg M-L, Salonen O, Sarna S, Tuimala J, Kovanen PT, Kaste M, Lindsberg PJ. Microarray analysis reveals overexpression of CD163 and HO-1 in symptomatic carotid plaques. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2007;27:154-160
- Nuotio K, Lindsberg PJ, Carpén O, Soinne L, Lehtonen-Smeds EMP, Saimanen E, Lassila R, Sairanen T, Sarna S, Salonen O, Kovanen PT, Kaste M. Adhesion molecule expression in symptomatic and asymptomatic carotid stenosis. *Neurology*. 2003;60:1890-1899
- 13. Hachinski VC, Potter P, Merskey H. Leuko-araiosis. Arch Neurol. 1987;44:21-23
- 14. Pantoni L, Garcia JH. Pathogenesis of leukoaraiosis: A review. *Stroke*. 1997;28:652-659
- 15. Lunn S, Crawley F, Harrison M, Brown M, Newman S. Impact of carotid endarterectomy upon cognitive functioning. A systematic review of literature. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 1999;9:74-81
- Heyer E, Sharma R, Rampersad A, Winfree C, Mack W, Solomon R, Todd G, McCormick P, McMurtry J, Quest D, Stern Y, Lazar R, Connolly E. A controlled prospective study of neuropsychological dysfunction following carotid endarterectomy. *Arch Neurol.* 2002;59:217-222
- Heyer EJ, DeLaPaz R, Halazun HJ, Rampersad A, Sciacca R, Zurica J, Benvenisty AI, Quest DO, Todd GJ, Lavine S, Solomon RA, Connolly Jr. ES. Neuropsychological dysfunction in the absence of structural evidence for cerebral ischemia after uncomplicated carotid endarterectomy. *Neurosurgery*. 2006;58:474-480
- Mocco J, Wilson DA, Komotar RJ, Zurica J, Mack WJ, Halazun HJ, Hatami R, Sciacca RR, Connolly Jr. ES, Heyer EJ. Predictors of neurocognitive decline after carotid endarterectomy. *Neurosurgery*. 2006;58:844-850
- 19. Baird A, Warach S. Imaging developing brain infarction. Curr Opin Neurol. 1999;12:65-71
- Le Bihan D, Breton E, Lallemand D, Grenier P, Canabis E, Laval-Jeantet M. MR imaging of intravoxel incoherent motions: Application to diffusion and perfusion in neurological disorders. *Radiology*. 1986;161:401-407

- Sorensen A, Copen W, Østergaard L, Buonanno F, Gonzalez R, Rordorf G, Rosen B, Schwamm L, Weisskoff R, Koroshetz W. Hyperacute stroke: Simultaneous measurement of relative cerebral blood volume, relative cerebral blood flow, and mean tissue transit time. *Radiology*. 1999;210:519-527
- Barber P, Darby D, Desmond P, Yang Q, Gerraty R, Jolley D, Donnan G, Tress B, Davis S. Prediction of stroke outcome with echoplanar perfusion- and diffusion-weighted MRI. *Neurology*. 1998;51:418-426
- Villringer A, Rosen B, Belliveau J, Ackerman J, Lauffer R, Buxton R, Chao Y, Wedeen V, Brady T. Dynamic imaging with lanthanide chelates in normal brain: Contrast due to magnetic susceptibility effects. *Magn Reson Med.* 1988;6:164-174
- 24. Meier P, Zierler K. On the theory of the indicator-dilution method for measurement of blood flow and volume. *J Appl Physiol*. 1954;6:731-744
- Østergaard L, Sorensen AG, Kwong KK, Weisskoff RM, Gyldensted C, Rosen BR. High resolution measurement of cerebral blood flow using intravascular tracer bolus passages. Part II: Experimental comparison and preliminary results. *Magn Reson Med*. 1996;36:726-736
- Østergaard L, Weisskoff RM, Chesler DA, Gyldensted C, Rosen BR. High resolution measurement of cerebral blood flow using intravascular tracer bolus passages. Part I: Mathematical approach and statistical analysis. *Magn Reson Med.* 1996;36:715-725
- 27. Stewart G. Researches on the circulation time in organs and on the influences which affect it. Parts I-III. *J Physiol (London)*. 1984;15:1-89
- 28. Mraovitch S, Sercombe R. Neurophysiological basis of cerebral blood flow control: An introduction. 1996
- 29. Ganong WF. Review of medical physiology. McGraw-Hill; 2005.
- Henderson RD, Eliasziw M, Fox AJ, Rothwell PM, Barnett HJM. Angiographically defined collateral circulation and risk of stroke in patients with severe carotid artery stenosis. *Stroke*. 2000;31:128-147
- Hendrikse J, Hartkamp MJ, Hillen B, Mali WPTM, van der Grond J. Collateral ability of the circle of Willis in patients with unilateral internal carotid artery occlusion: border zone infarcts and clinical symptoms. *Stroke*. 2001;32:2768-2758
- 32. Powers WJ. Cerebral hemodynamics in ischemic cerebrovascular disease. *Ann Neurol.* 1991;29:231-240
- van Everdingen K, Visser G, Klijn C, Kappelle L, van der Grond J. Role of collateral flow on cerebral hemodynamics in patients with unilateral internal carotid artery occlusion. *Ann Neurol.* 1998;44:167-176
- Vernieri F, Pasqualetti P, Matteis M, Passarelli F, Troisi E, Rossini PM, Caltagirone C, Silvestrini M. Effect of collateral blood flow and cerebral vasomotor reactivity on the outcome of carotid artery occlusion. *Stroke*. 2001;32:1552-1558
- Klijn C, Kappelle LJ, van Huffelen AC, Visser GH, Algra A, Tulleken CAF, van Gijn J. Recurrent ischemia in symptomatic carotid occlusion: Prognostic value of hemodynamic factors. *Neurology*. 2000;55:1806-1812
- Smith H, Thompson-Dobkin J, Yonas H, Flint E. Correlation of xenon-enhanced computed tomography-defined cerebral blood flow reactivity and collateral flow patterns. *Stroke*. 1994;25:1784.1787
- 37. van der Zwan A, Hillen B, Tulleken CAF, Dujovny M, Dragovic L. Variability of the territories of the major cerebral arteries. *J Neurosurg*. 1992;77:927-940
- 38. Tanaka H, Fujita N, Enoki T, Matsumoto K, Watanabe Y, Murase K, Nakamura H. Relationship between variations in the circle of Willis and flow rates in internal carotid and basilar arteries determined by means of magnetic resonance imaging with semiautomated lumen segmentation: Reference data from 125 healthy volunteers. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. 2006;27:1770-1775
- Steiner LA, Andrews PJD. Monitoring the injured brain: ICP and CBF. Br J Anaesth. 2006;97:26-38

- Rosen B, Belliveau J, Aronen H, Kennedy D, Buchbinder B, Fischman A, Gruber M, Glas J, Weisskoff R, Cohen M, Hochberg F, Brady T. Susceptibility contrast imaging of cerebral blood volume: Human experience. *Magn Reson Med.* 1991;22:293-303
- Belliveau J, Rosen B, Kantor H, Rzedzian R, Kennedy D, McKinstry R, Vevea J, Cohen M, Pykett I, Brady T. Functional cerebral imaging by susceptibility-contrast NMR. *Magn Reson Med.* 1990;14:538-546
- 42. Roy C, Sherrington C. On the regulation of the blood-supply of the brain. *J Physiol*. 1890;11:85-158
- 43. Metea M, Newman E. Glial cells dilate and constrict blood vessels: A mechanism of neurovascular coupling. *J Neurosci*. 2006;26:2862-2870
- 44. Zonta M, Angulo M, Gobbo S, Rosengarten B, Hossmann K, Pozzan T, Carmignoto G. Neuron-to-astrocyte signaling is central to the dynamic control of brain microcirculation. *Nat Neurosci*. 2003;6:43-50
- 45. Iadecola C, Pelligrino D, Moskowitz M, Lassen N. Nitric oxide synthase inhibition and cerebrovascular regulation. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1994;14:175-192
- 46. Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. Nitric oxide: Physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev.* 1991;43:109-142
- 47. Toda N, Ayajiki K, Okamura T. Cerebral blood flow regulation by nitric oxide: Recent advances. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2009;61:62-97
- 48. Aaslid R. Cerebral autoregulation and vasomotor reactivity. In: Baumgartner R, ed. *Handbook* on neurovascular ultrasound. Basel: Karger; 2006:216-228.
- 49. Aaslid R, Lindegaard K-F, Sorteberg W, Nornes H. Cerebral autoregulation dynamics in humans. *Stroke*. 1989;20:45-52
- Lassen NA. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in man. *Physiol Rev.* 1959;39:183-238
- 51. White RP, Vallance P, Markus HS. Effect of inhibition of nitric oxide synthase on dynamic cerebral autoregulation in humans. *Clin Sci.* 2000;99:555-560
- 52. Hademenos GJ, Massoud TF. *The physics of cerebrovascular diseases*. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1998.
- 53. Diehl R, Linden D, Lücke D, Berlit P. Spontaneous blood pressure oscillations and cerebral autoregulation. *Clin Auton Res.* 1998;8:7-12
- 54. Chrissobolis S, Sobey CG. Influence of gender on K⁺-induced cerebral vasodilatation. *Stroke*. 2004;35:747-752
- Geary GG, Krause DN, Duckles SP. Estrogen reduces myogenic tone through a nitric oxidedependent mechanism in rat cerebral arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 1998;275:H292-300
- 56. Krause DN, Duckles SP, Pelligrino DA. Influence of sex steroid hormones on cerebrovascular function. *J Appl Physiol*. 2006;101:1252-1261
- 57. Orshal JM, Khalil RA. Gender, sex hormones, and vascular tone. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*. 2004;286:R233-249
- 58. Karnik R, Valentin A, Ammerer HP, Donath P, Slany J. Evaluation of vasomotor reactivity by transcranial Doppler and acetazolamide test before and after extracranial-intracranial bypass in patients with internal carotid artery occlusion. *Stroke*. 1992;23:812-817
- 59. Kastrup A, Thomas C, Hartmann C, Schabet M. Sex dependency of cerebrovascular CO₂ reactivity in normal subjects. *Stroke*. 1997;28:2353-2356
- 60. Matteis M, Troisi E, Monaldo BC, Caltagirone C, Silvestrini M. Age and sex differences in cerebral hemodynamics: A transcranial Doppler study. *Stroke*. 1998;29:963-967
- 61. Strandgaard S, Olesen J, Skinhoj E, Lassen NA. Autoregulation of brain circulation in severe arterial hypertension. *Br Med J*. 1973;1:507-510
- 62. Piepgras A, Schmiedek P, Leinsinger G, Haberl RL, Kirsch CM, Einhaupl KM. A simple test to assess cerebrovascular reserve capacity using transcranial Doppler sonography and acetazolamide. *Stroke*. 1990;21:1306-1311

- 63. Ringelstein EB, Sievers C, Ecker S, Schneider PA, Otis SM. Noninvasive assessment of CO₂induced cerebral vasomotor response in normal individuals and patients with internal carotid artery occlusions. *Stroke*. 1988;19:963-969
- 64. Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Kirkpatrick P, Laing R, Menon D, Pickard J. Continuous assessment of the cerebral vasomotor reactivity in head injury. *Neurosurgery*. 1997;41:11-17
- 65. Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Kirkpatrick P, Menon DK, Pickard JD. Monitoring of cerebral autoregulation in head-injured patients. *Stroke*. 1996;27:1829-1834
- 66. Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Lavinio A, Pickard JD, Panerai R. An assessment of dynamic autoregulation from spontaneous fluctuations of cerebral blood flow velocity: A comparison of two models, index of autoregulation and mean flow index. *Anesth Analg.* 2008;106:234-239
- 67. Tiecks FP, Lam AM, Aaslid R, Newell DW. Comparison of static and dynamic cerebral autoregulation measurements. *Stroke*. 1995;26:1014-1019
- 68. Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Piechnik S, Steiner L, Pickard J. Cerebral autoregulation following head injury. *J Neurosurg*. 2001;95:756-763
- Enevoldsen EM, Jensen FT. Autoregulation and CO₂ responses of cerebral blood flow in patients with acute severe head injury. *J Neurosurg*. 1978;48:689-703
- 70. Jaeger M, Schuhmann MU, Soehle M, Nagel C, Meixensberger J. Continuous monitoring of cerebrovascular autoregulation after subarachnoid hemorrhage by brain tissue oxygen pressure reactivity and its relation to delayed cerebral infarction. *Stroke*. 2007;38:981-986
- 71. Symon L, Branston NM, Strong AJ. Autoregulation in acute focal ischemia. An experimental study. *Stroke*. 1976;7:547-554
- 72. Dirnagl U, Pulsinelli W. Autoregulation of cerebral blood flow in experimental focal brain ischemia. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1990;10:327-336
- Russell D, Dybevold S, Kjartansson O, Nyberg-Hansen R, Rootwelt K, Wiberg J. Cerebral vasoreactivity and blood flow before and 3 months after carotid endarterectomy. *Stroke*. 1990;21:1029-1032
- 74. Blaser T, Hofmann K, Buerger T, Effenberger O, Wallesch C-W, Goertler M. Risk of stroke, transient ischemic attack, and vessel occlusion before endarterectomy in patients with symptomatic severe carotid stenosis. *Stroke*. 2002;33:1057-1062
- 75. Markus H, Cullinane M. Severely impaired cerebrovascular reactivity predicts stroke and TIA risk in patients with carotid artery stenosis and occlusion. *Brain*. 2001;124:457-467
- 76. Müller M, Schimrigk K. Vasomotor reactivity and pattern of collateral blood flow in severe occlusive carotid artery disease. *Stroke*. 1996;27:296-299
- 77. Silvestrini M, Vernieri F, Pasqualetti P, Matteis M, Passarelli F, Troisi E, Caltagirone C. Impaired cerebral vasoreactivity and risk of stroke in patients with asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis. *JAMA*. 2000;283:2122-2127
- Webster MW, Makaroun MS, Steed DL, Smith HA, Johnson DW, Yonas H. Compromised cerebral blood flow reactivity is a predictor of stroke in patients with symptomatic carotid occlusive disease. J Vasc Surg. 1995;21:338-345
- 79. U-King-Im JM, Graves MJ, Cross JJ, Higgins NJ, Wat J, Trivedi RA, Tang T, Howarth SPS, Kirkpatrick PJ, Antoun NM, Gillard JH. Internal carotid artery stenosis: Accuracy of subjective visual impression for evaluation with digital subtraction angiography and contrast-enhanced MR angiography. *Radiology*. 2007;244:213-222
- 80. Rothwell PM, Pendlebury ST, Wardlaw J, Warlow CP. Critical appraisal of the design and reporting of studies of imaging and measurement of carotid stenosis. *Stroke*. 2000;31:1444-1450
- 81. Barnett HJM, Taylor DW, Eliasziw M, Fox AJ, Ferguson GG, Haynes RB, Rankin RN, Clagett GP, Hachinski VC, Sackett DL, Thorpe KE, Meldrum HE, Spence JD, The North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial C. Benefit of carotid endarterectomy in patients with symptomatic moderate or severe stenosis. *N Engl J Med.* 1998;339:1415-1425
- 82. Fox AJ. How to measure carotid stenosis. *Radiology*. 1993;186:316-318

- 83. Randomised trial of endarterectomy for recently symptomatic carotid stenosis: Final results of the MRC European Carotid Surgery Trial (ECST). *Lancet*. 1998;351:1379-1387
- Rothwell PM, Gibson RJ, Slattery J, Warlow CP. Prognostic value and reproducibility of measurements of carotid stenosis. A comparison of three methods on 1001 angiograms. European Carotid Surgery Trialists' Collaborative Group. *Stroke*. 1994;25:2440-2444
- 85. Kety S, Schmidt C. The determination of cerebral blood flow in man by the use of nitrous oxide in low concentrations. *Am J Physiol*. 1945;143:53-56
- 86. Johnson D, Stringer W, Marks M, Yonas H, Good W, Gur D. Stable xenon CT cerebral flow imaging: Rationale for and role in clinical decision making. *AJNR*. 1991;12:201-213
- 87. Tegeler CH, Ratanakorn D. Physics and principles. In: Babikian VL, Wechsler LR, eds. *Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography*. Butterworth-Heinemann; 1999:3-11.
- 88. Lal B. Sonographic evaluation in carotid artery stenosis. In: Schaller B, ed. *Imaging of carotid artery stenosis*. Wien Springer; 2007:35-40.
- Grant EG, Benson CB, Moneta GL, Alexandrov AV, Baker JD, Bluth EI, Carroll BA, Eliasziw M, Gocke J, Hertzberg BS, Katanick S, Needleman L, Pellerito J, Polak JF, Rholl KS, Wooster DL, Zierler E. Carotid artery stenosis: gray-scale and Doppler US diagnosis -Society of Radiologists in Ultrasound consensus conference. *Radiology*. 2003;229:340-346
- 90. Aaslid R, Markwalder T-M, Nornes H. Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. *J Neurosurg*. 1982;57:769-774
- 91. Touboul PJ, Hennerici MG, Meairs S, Adams H, Amarenco P, Desvarieux M, Ebrahim S, Fatar M, Hernandez Hernandez R, Kownator S, Prati P, Rundek T, Taylor A, Bornstein N, Csiba L, Vicaut E, Woo KS, Zannad F. Mannheim intima-media thickness consensus. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2004;18:346-349
- 92. Nicolaides A, Kakkos S, Griffin M, Sabetai M, Dhanjil S, Tegos T, Thomas D, Giannoukas A, Geroulakos G, Georgiou N, Francis S, Ioannidou E, Doré C, ACSRS Study Group. Severity of asymptomatic carotid stenosis and risk of ipsilateral hemispheric ischaemic events: Results from the ACSRS study. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg*. 2005;30:275-284
- 93. Hartmann A, Mast H, Thompson JLP, Sia RM, Mohr JP. Transcranial Doppler waveform blunting in severe extracranial carotid artery stenosis. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2000;10:33-38
- 94. Joakimsen O, Bonaa KH, Stensland-Bugge E, Jacobsen BK. Age and sex differences in the distribution and ultrasound morphology of carotid atherosclerosis: The Tromsø study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1999;19:3007-3013
- 95. Sloan MA, Alexandrov AV, Tegeler CH, Spencer MP, Caplan LR, Feldmann E, Wechsler LR, Newell DW, Gomez CR, Babikian VL, Lefkowitz D, Goldman RS, Armon C, Hsu CY, Goodin DS. Assessment: Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography: Report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*. 2004;62:1468-1481
- 96. Alexandrov AV, Molina CA, Grotta JC, Garami Z, Ford SR, Alvarez-Sabin J, Montaner J, Saqqur M, Demchuk AM, Moye LA, Hill MD, Wojner AW, the CI. Ultrasound-enhanced systemic thrombolysis for acute ischemic stroke. *N Engl J Med*. 2004;351:2170-2178
- 97. Daffertshofer M, Gass A, Ringleb P, Sitzer M, Sliwka U, Els T, Sedlaczek O, Koroshetz WJ, Hennerici MG. Transcranial low-frequency ultrasound-mediated thrombolysis in brain ischemia: Increased risk of hemorrhage with combined ultrasound and tissue plasminogen activator: Results of a phase II clinical trial. *Stroke*. 2005;36:1441-1446
- 98. Mikulik R, Alexandrov A. Acute stroke: Therapeutic transcranial Doppler sonography. In: Baumgartner R, ed. *Handbook on neurovascular ultrasound*. Basel: Karger; 2006:150-161.
- 99. Gosling R, King D. Arterial assessment by Doppler shift ultrasound. *Proc R Soc Med.* 1974;67:447-449
- 100. Tong DC, Albers GW. Normal values. In: Babikian VL, Wechsler LR, eds. *Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography*. Butterworth-Heinemann; 1999:33-46.
- 101. Michel E, Zernikow B. Gosling's Doppler pulsatility index revisited. *Ultrasound Med Biol*. 1998;24:597-599

- 102. Molloy J, Markus HS. Asymptomatic embolization predicts stroke and TIA risk in patients with carotid artery stenosis. *Stroke*. 1999;30:1440-1443
- Goertler M, Blaser T, Krueger S, Lutze G, Wallesch C. Acetylsalicylic acid and microembolic events detected by transcranial Doppler in symptomatic arterial stenoses. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2001;11:324-329
- 104. Kaposzta Z, Martin JF, Markus HS. Switching off embolization from symptomatic carotid plaque using S-nitrosoglutathione. *Circulation*. 2002;105:1480-1484
- 105. Markus HS, Droste DW, Kaps M, Larrue V, Lees KR, Siebler M, Ringelstein EB. Dual antiplatelet therapy with clopidogrel and aspirin in symptomatic carotid stenosis evaluated using Doppler embolic signal detection: The Clopidogrel and Aspirin for Reduction of Emboli in Symptomatic Carotid Stenosis (CARESS) trial. *Circulation*. 2005;111:2233-2240
- 106. Levi CR, O'Malley HM, Fell G, Roberts AK, Hoare MC, Royle JP, Chan A, Beiles BC, Chambers BR, Bladin CF, Donnan GA. Transcranial Doppler detected cerebral microembolism following carotid endarterectomy. High microembolic signal loads predict postoperative cerebral ischaemia. *Brain*. 1997;120:621-629
- 107. Wolf O, Heider P, Heinz M, Poppert H, Sander D, Greil O, Weiss W, Hanke M, Eckstein H-H. Microembolic signals detected by transcranial Doppler sonography during carotid endarterectomy and correlation with serial diffusion-weighted imaging. *Stroke*. 2004;35:e373-375
- Ackerstaff RGA, Moons KGM, van de Vlasakker CJW, Moll FL, Vermeulen FEE, Algra A, Spencer MP. Association of intraoperative transcranial Doppler monitoring variables with stroke from carotid endarterectomy. *Stroke*. 2000;31:1817-1823
- 109. Dalman J, Beenakkers I, Moll F, Leusink J, Ackerstaff R. Transcranial Doppler monitoring during carotid endarterectomy helps to identify patients at risk of postoperative hyperperfusion. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* 1999;18:222-227
- 110. Ogasawara K, Inoue T, Kobayashi M, Endo H, Yoshida K, Fukuda T, Terasaki K, Ogawa A. Cerebral hyperperfusion following carotid endarterectomy: Diagnostic utility of intraoperative transcranial Doppler ultrasonography compared with single-photon emission computed tomography study. *AJNR*. 2005;26:252-257
- 111. Aaslid R. Visually evoked dynamic blood flow response of the human cerebral circulation. *Stroke*. 1987;18:771-775
- 112. Schreiber SJ, Gottschalk S, Weih M, Villringer A, Valdueza JM. Assessment of blood flow velocity and diameter of the middle cerebral artery during the acetazolamide provocation test by use of transcranial Doppler sonography and MR imaging. *AJNR*. 2000;21:1207-1211
- 113. Markus H, Harrison M. Estimation of cerebrovascular reactivity using transcranial Doppler, including the use of breath-holding as the vasodilatory stimulus. *Stroke*. 1992;23:668-673
- 114. Müller M, Voges M, Piepgras U, Schimrigk K. Assessment of cerebral vasomotor reactivity by transcranial Doppler ultrasound and breath-holding: A comparison with acetazolamide as vasodilatory stimulus. *Stroke*. 1995;26:96-100
- 115. Harada K, Fujita N, Sakurai K, Akai Y, Fujii K, Kozuka T. Diffusion imaging of the human brain: A new pulse sequence application for a 1.5-T standard MR system. *AJNR*. 1991;12: 1143-1148
- 116. Sakuma H, Nomura Y, Takeda K, Tagami T, Nakagawa T, Tamagawa Y, Ishii Y, Tsukamoto T. Adult and neonatal human brain: Diffusional anisotropy and myelination with diffusionweighted MR imaging. *Radiology*. 1991;180:229-233
- 117. Ulug AM, Beauchamp Jr. N, Bryan RN, van Zijl PCM. Absolute quantitation of diffusion constants in human stroke. *Stroke*. 1997;28:483-490
- 118. Kraus M, Susmaras T, Caughlin B, Walker C, Sweeney J, Little D. White matter integrity and cognition in chronic traumatic brain injury: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Brain*. 2007;130:2508-2519

- 119. O'Sullivan M, Morris R, Huckstep B, Jones D, Williams S, Markus H. Diffusion tensor MRI correlates with executive dysfunction in patients with ischaemic leukoaraiosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2004;75:441-447
- O'Sullivan M, Summers PE, Jones DK, Jarosz JM, Williams SCR, Markus HS. Normalappearing white matter in ischemic leukoaraiosis: A diffusion tensor MRI study. *Neurology*. 2001;57:2307-2310
- 121. Astrup J, Siesjo BK, Symon L. Thresholds in cerebral ischemia the ischemic penumbra. *Stroke.* 1981;12:723-725
- 122. Belayev L, Zhao W, Busto R, Ginsberg MD. Transient middle cerebral artery occlusion by intraluminal suture: I. Three-dimensional autoradiographic image-analysis of local cerebral glucose metabolism-blood flow interrelationships during ischemia and early recirculation. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1997;17:1266-1280
- 123. Heiss W-D, Kracht LW, Thiel A, Grond M, Pawlik G. Penumbral probability thresholds of cortical flumazenil binding and blood flow predicting tissue outcome in patients with cerebral ischaemia. *Brain*. 2001;124:20-29
- 124. Schuier FJ, Hossmann KA. Experimental brain infarcts in cats. II. Ischemic brain edema. *Stroke*. 1980;11:593-601
- 125. Davis D, Ulatowski J, Eleff S, Izuta M, Mori S, Shungu D, van Zijl P. Rapid monitoring of changes in water diffusion coefficients during reversible ischemia in cat and rat brain. *Magn Reson Med.* 1994;31:454-460
- 126. Moseley M, Cohen Y, Mintorovitch J, Chileuitt L, Shimizu H, Kucharczyk J, Wendland M, Weinstein P. Early detection of regional cerebral ischemia in cats: Comparison of diffusionand T2-weighted MRI and spectroscopy. *Magn Reson Med.* 1990;14:330-346
- 127. Carano R, Takano K, Helmer K, Tatlisumak T, Irie K, Petruccelli J, Fisher M, Sotak C. Determination of focal ischemic lesion volume in the rat brain using multispectral analysis. J Magn Reson Imaging. 1998;8:1266-1278
- Helpern JA, Dereski MO, Knight RA, Ordidge RJ, Chopp M, Qing ZX. Histopathological correlations of nuclear magnetic resonance imaging parameters in experimental cerebral ischemia. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging*. 1993;11:241-246
- Knight RA, Dereski MO, Helpern JA, Ordidge RJ, Chopp M. Magnetic resonance imaging assessment of evolving focal cerebral ischemia. Comparison with histopathology in rats. *Stroke*. 1994;25:1252-1261
- 130. Ahlhelm F, Schneider G, Backens M, Reith W, Hagen T. Time course of the apparent diffusion coefficient after cerebral infarction. *Eur Radiol.* 2002;12:2322-2329
- Eastwood JD, Engelter ST, MacFall JF, Delong DM, Provenzale JM. Quantitative assessment of the time course of infarct signal intensity on diffusion-weighted images. *AJNR*. 2003;24: 680-687
- 132. Lansberg MG, Thijs VN, O'Brien MW, Ali JO, de Crespigny AJ, Tong DC, Moseley ME, Albers GW. Evolution of apparent diffusion coefficient, diffusion-weighted, and T2-weighted signal intensity of acute stroke. *AJNR*. 2001;22:637-644
- 133. Schlaug G, Siewert B, Benfield A, Edelman RR, Warach S. Time course of the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) abnormality in human stroke. *Neurology*. 1997;49:113-119
- 134. Schwamm LH, Koroshetz WJ, Sorensen AG, Wang B, Copen WA, Budzik R, Rordorf G, Buonanno FS, Schaefer PW, Gonzalez RG. Time course of lesion development in patients with acute stroke: Serial diffusion- and hemodynamic-weighted magnetic resonance imaging. *Stroke*. 1998;29:2268-2276
- 135. Warach S, Chien D, Li W, Ronthal M, Edelman RR. Fast magnetic resonance diffusionweighted imaging of acute human stroke. *Neurology*. 1992;42:1717-
- 136. Fiehler J, Foth M, Kucinski T, Knab R, von Bezold M, Weiller C, Zeumer H, Röther J. Severe ADC decreases do not predict irreversible tissue damage in humans. *Stroke*. 2002;33:79-86

- 137. Guadagno JV, Jones PS, Aigbirhio FI, Wang D, Fryer TD, Day DJ, Antoun N, Nimmo-Smith I, Warburton EA, Baron JC. Selective neuronal loss in rescued penumbra relates to initial hypoperfusion. *Brain.* 2008;131:2666-2678
- 138. Olivot J-M, Mlynash M, Thijs VN, Purushotham A, Kemp S, Lansberg MG, Wechsler L, Bammer R, Marks MP, Albers GW. Relationships between cerebral perfusion and reversibility of acute diffusion lesions in DEFUSE: Insights from RADAR. *Stroke*. 2009;40:1692-1697
- 139. Ringer TM, Neumann-Haefelin T, Sobel RA, Moseley ME, Yenari MA. Reversal of early diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging abnormalities does not necessarily reflect tissue salvage in experimental cerebral ischemia. *Stroke*. 2001;32:2362-2369
- 140. Weber J, Mattle HP, Heid O, Remonda L, Schroth G. Diffusion-weighted imaging in ischaemic stroke: A follow-up study. *Neuroradiology*. 2000;42:184-191
- 141. Latour L, Hasegawa Y, Formato J, Fisher M, Sotak C. Spreading waves of decreased diffusion coefficient after cortical stimulation in the rat brain. *Magn Reson Med.* 1994;32:189-198
- 142. Leao AAP. Spreading depression of activity in the cerebral cortex. *J Neurophysiol*. 1944;7:359-390
- 143. Hossmann KA. Periinfarct depolarizations. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev. 1996;8:195-208
- 144. Takano K, Latour LL, Formato JE, Carano RA, Helmer KG, Hasegawa Y, Sotak CH, Fisher M. The role of spreading depression in focal ischemia evaluated by diffusion mapping. *Ann Neurol.* 1996;39:308-318
- 145. Takano T, Tian G-F, Peng W, Lou N, Lovatt D, Hansen AJ, Kasischke KA, Nedergaard M. Cortical spreading depression causes and coincides with tissue hypoxia. *Nat Neurosci*. 2007;10:754-762
- 146. Bottcher J, Kunze A, Kurrat C, Schmidt P, Hagemann G, Witte OW, Kaiser WA. Localized reversible reduction of apparent diffusion coefficient in transient hypoglycemia-induced hemiparesis. *Stroke*. 2005;36:e20-22
- 147. Maekawa S, Aibiki M, Kikuchi K, Kikuchi S, Umakoshi K. Time related changes in reversible MRI findings after prolonged hypoglycemia. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg*. 2006;108:511-513
- 148. Briellmann RS, Wellard RM, Jackson GD. Seizure-associated abnormalities in epilepsy: Evidence from MR imaging. *Epilepsia*. 2005;46:760-766
- 149. Di Bonaventura C, Bonini F, Fattouch J, Mari F, Petrucci S, Carnì M, Tinelli E, Pantano P, Bastianello S, Maraviglia B, Manfredi M, Prencipe M, Giallonardo AT. Diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging in patients with partial status epilepticus. *Epilepsia*. 2009;50:45-52
- Szabo K, Poepel A, Pohlmann-Eden B, Hirsch J, Back T, Sedlaczek O, Hennerici M, Gass A. Diffusion-weighted and perfusion MRI demonstrates parenchymal changes in complex partial status epilepticus. *Brain.* 2005;128:1369-1376
- 151. Hou DJ, Tong KA, Ashwal S, Oyoyo U, Joo E, Shutter L, Obenaus A. Diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging improves outcome prediction in adult traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24:1558-1569
- 152. Huisman TAGM, Sorensen AG, Hergan K, Gonzalez RG, Schaefer PW. Diffusion-weighted imaging for the evaluation of diffuse axonal injury in closed head injury. *J Comput Assist Tomogr.* 2003;27:5-11
- 153. Kinoshita T, Moritani T, Hiwatashi A, Wang HZ, Shrier DA, Numaguchi Y, Westesson P-LA. Conspicuity of diffuse axonal injury lesions on diffusion-weighted MR imaging. *Eur J Radiol.* 2005;56:5-11
- 154. Schaefer PW, Huisman TAGM, Sorensen AG, Gonzalez RG, Schwamm LH. Diffusionweighted MR imaging in closed head injury: high correlation with initial Glasgow coma scale score and score on modified Rankin scale at discharge. *Radiology*. 2004;233:58-66

- 155. Zheng W, Liu G, Li L, Wu R. Prediction of recovery from a post-traumatic coma state by diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) in patients with diffuse axonal injury. *Neuroradiology*. 2007;49:271-279
- 156. Ebisu T, Tanaka C, Umeda M, Kitamura M, Naruse S, Higuchi T, Ueda S, Sato H. Discrimination of brain abscess from necrotic or cystic tumors by diffusion-weighted echo planar imaging. *Magn Reson Imaging*. 1996;14:1113-1116
- 157. Stadnik TW, Demaerel P, Luypaert RR, Chaskis C, Van Rompaey KL, Michotte A, Osteaux MJ. Imaging tutorial: differential diagnosis of bright lesions on diffusion-weighted MR images. *Radiographics*. 2003;23:e7-
- 158. Moritani T, Shrier DA, Numaguchi Y, Takase Y, Takahashi C, Wang HZ, Shibata DK, Abe T, Ukisu R, Ohgiya Y, Tsuchiya A, Kushihashi T, Gokan T, Munechika H. Diffusion-weighted echo-planar MR imaging: clinical applications and pitfalls. A pictorial essay. *Clin Imaging*. 2000;24:181-192
- 159. Yamasaki F, Kurisu K, Satoh K, Arita K, Sugiyama K, Ohtaki M, Takaba J, Tominaga A, Hanaya R, Yoshioka H, Hama S, Ito Y, Kajiwara Y, Yahara K, Saito T, Thohar MA. Apparent diffusion coefficient of human brain tumors at MR imaging. *Radiology*. 2005;235:985-991
- 160. Bartynski WS. Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome, part 1: Fundamental imaging and clinical features. *AJNR*. 2008;29:1036-1042
- 161. Bartynski WS. Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome, part 2: Controversies surrounding pathophysiology of vasogenic edema. *AJNR*. 2008;29:1043-1049
- 162. Hodnett P, Coyle J, K OR, Maher M, Fanning N. PRES (posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome), a rare complication of tacrolimus therapy. *Emerg Radiol*. 2008
- 163. Kinoshita T, Moritani T, Shrier DA, Hiwatashi A, Wang HZ, Numaguchi Y, Westesson P-LA. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging of posterior reversible leukoencephalopathy syndrome: a pictorial essay. *Clin Imaging*. 2003;27:307-315
- 164. Wada A, Yoshida R, Oda K, Fukuba E, Uchida N, Kitagaki H. Acute encephalopathy associated with intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. *AJNR*. 2005;26:2311-2315
- 165. Doelken M, Lanz S, Rennert J, Alibek S, Richter G, Doerfler A. Differentiation of cytotoxic and vasogenic edema in a patient with reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome using diffusion-weighted MRI. *Diagn Interv Radiol.* 2007;13:125-128
- 166. Lee VH, Wijdicks EF, Manno EM, Rabinstein AA. Clinical spectrum of reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome. *Arch Neurol.* 2008;65:205-210
- Schaefer PW, Buonanno FS, Gonzalez RG, Schwamm LH. Diffusion-weighted imaging discriminates between cytotoxic and vasogenic edema in a patient with eclampsia. *Stroke*. 1997;28:1082-1085
- 168. Blatter DD, Bigler ED, Gale SD, Johnson SC, Anderson CV, Burnett BM, Parker N, Kurth S, Horn SD. Quantitative volumetric analysis of brain MR: normative database spanning 5 decades of life. AJNR. 1995;16:241-251
- Jernigan TL, Archibald SL, Fennema-Notestine C, Gamst AC, Stout JC, Bonner J, Hesselink JR. Effects of age on tissues and regions of the cerebrum and cerebellum. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2001;22:581-594
- 170. Raz N, Gunning FM, Head D, Dupuis JH, McQuain J, Briggs SD, Loken WJ, Thornton AE, Acker JD. Selective aging of the human cerebral cortex observed in vivo: differential vulnerability of the prefrontal gray matter. *Cereb Cortex*. 1997;7:268-282
- 171. Helenius J, Soinne L, Salonen O, Kaste M, Tatlisumak T. Leukoaraiosis, ischemic stroke, and normal white matter on diffusion-weighted MRI. *Stroke*. 2002;33:45-50
- 172. Mascalchi M, Moretti M, Della Nave R, Lolli F, Tessa C, Carlucci G, Bartolini L, Pracucci G, Pantoni L, Filippi M, Inzitari D. Longitudinal evaluation of leukoaraiosis with whole brain ADC histograms. *Neurology*. 2002;59:938-940
- 173. Helenius J, Soinne L, Perkiö J, Salonen O, Kangasmäki A, Kaste M, Carano RAD, Aronen HJ, Tatlisumak T. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging in normal human brains in various age groups. *AJNR*. 2002;23:194-199

- 174. Pfefferbaum A, Adalsteinsson E, Sullivan EV. Frontal circuitry degradation marks healthy adult aging: evidence from diffusion tensor imaging. *NeuroImage*. 2005;26:891-899
- 175. Rovaris M, Iannucci G, Cercignani M, Sormani MP, De Stefano N, Gerevini S, Comi G, Filippi M. Age-related changes in conventional, magnetization transfer, and diffusion-tensor MR imaging findings: Study with whole-brain tissue histogram analysis. *Radiology*. 2003;227:731-738
- 176. Boxerman J, Hamberg L, Rosen B, Weisskoff R. MR contrast due to intravascular magnetic susceptibility perturbations. *Magn Reson Med.* 1995;34:555-566
- 177. Simonsen CZ, Østergaard L, Smith DF, Vestergaard-Poulsen P, Gyldensted C. Comparison of gradient- and spin-echo imaging: CBF, CBV, and MTT measurements by bolus tracking. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2000
- Speck O, Chang L, DeSilva N, Ernst T. Perfusion MRI of the human brain with dynamic susceptibility contrast: Gradient-echo versus spin-echo techniques. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2000;12:381-387
- 179. Yamada K, Wu O, Gonzalez RG, Bakker D, Ostergaard L, Copen WA, Weisskoff RM, Rosen BR, Yagi K, Nishimura T, Sorensen AG. Magnetic resonance perfusion-weighted imaging of acute cerebral infarction: Effect of the calculation methods and underlying vasculopathy. Stroke. 2002;33:87-94
- Barbier EL, Lamalle L, Décorps M. Methodology of brain perfusion imaging. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2001;13:496-520
- Hossmann K-A, Hoehn-Berlage M. Diffusion and perfusion MR imaging of cerebral ischemia. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev. 1995;7:187-217
- 182. Le Bihan D. Magnetic resonance imaging of perfusion. *Magn Reson Med.* 1990;14:283-292
- Calamante F, Gadian DG, Connelly A. Quantification of perfusion using bolus tracking magnetic resonance imaging in stroke: assumptions, limitations, and potential implications for clinical use. *Stroke*. 2002;33:1146-1151
- 184. Kane I, Carpenter T, Chappell F, Rivers C, Armitage P, Sandercock P, Wardlaw J. Comparison of 10 different magnetic resonance perfusion imaging processing methods in acute ischemic stroke: Effect on lesion size, proportion of patients with diffusion/perfusion mismatch, clinical scores, and radiologic outcomes. *Stroke*. 2007;38:3158-3164
- Østergaard L. Principles of cerebral perfusion imaging by bolus tracking. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2005;22:710-717
- 186. Wirestam R, Andersson L, Østergaard L, Bolling M, Aunola J-P, Lindgren A, Geijer B, Holtås S, Ståhlberg F. Assessment of regional cerebral blood flow by dynamic susceptibility contrast MRI using different deconvolution techniques. *Magn Reson Med.* 2000;43:691-700
- 187. Perkiö J, Aronen HJ, Kangasmäki A, Liu Y, Karonen J, Savolainen S, Østergaard L. Evaluation of four postprocessing methods for determination of cerebral blood volume and mean transit time by dynamic susceptibility contrast imaging. *Magn Reson Med.* 2002;47:973-981
- Weisskoff RM, Chesler D, Boxerman JL, Rosen BR. Pitfalls in MR measurement of tissue blood flow with intravascular tracers: Which mean transit time? *Magn Reson Med.* 1993;29:553-559
- Calamante F, Gadian DG, Connelly A. Delay and dispersion effects in dynamic susceptibility contrast MRI: simulations using singular value decomposition. *Magn Reson Med.* 2000;44:466-473
- 190. Kiselev VG. On the theoretical basis of perfusion measurements by dynamic susceptibility contrast MRI. *Magn Reson Med.* 2001;46:1113-1122
- 191. Sorensen AG. What is the meaning of quantitative CBF? AJNR. 2001;22:235-236
- 192. Conturo TE, Akbudak E, Kotys MS, Chen ML, Chun SJ, Hsu RM, Sweeney CC, Markham J. Arterial input functions for dynamic susceptibility contrast MRI: requirements and signal options. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2005;22:697-703

- 193. Østergaard L, Johannsen P, Höst-Poulsen P, Vestergaard-Poulsen P, Asboe H, Gee A, Hansen S, Cold G, Gjedde A, Gyldensted C. Cerebral blood flow measurements by magnetic resonance imaging bolus tracking: Comparison with ¹⁵O H₂O positron emission tomography in humans. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 1998;18:935-940
- 194. Østergaard L, Smith DF, Vestergaard-Poulsen P, Hansen SB, Gee AD, Gjedde A, Gyldensted C. Absolute cerebral blood flow and blood volume measured by magnetic resonance imaging bolus tracking: comparison with positron emission tomography values. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1998;18:425-432
- 195. Zaro-Weber O, Moeller-Hartmann W, Heiss W-D, Sobesky J. The performance of MRI-based cerebral blood flow measurements in acute and subacute stroke compared with 15O-water positron emission tomography: identification of penumbral flow. *Stroke*. 2009;40:2413-2421
- Gurdjian E, Gurdjian E. History of occlusive cerebrovascular disease I. From Wepfer to Moniz. Arch Neurol. 1979;36:340-343
- 197. Johnson HC, Walker AE. The angiographic diagnosis of spontaneous thrombosis of the internal and common carotid arteries. *J Neurosurg*. 1951;8:631-659
- 198. Fisher M. Occlusion of the internal carotid artery. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 1951;65:346-377
- 199. Fisher M. Occlusion of the carotid arteries. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. 1954;72:187-204
- 200. Fabris F, Zanocchi M, Bo M, Fonte G, Poli L, Bergoglio I, Ferrario E, Pernigotti L. Carotid plaque, aging, and risk factors. A study of 457 subjects. *Stroke*. 1994;25:1133-1140
- 201. Lernfelt B, Forsberg M, Blomstrand C, Mellström D, Volkmann R. Cerebral atherosclerosis as predictor of stroke and mortality in representative elderly population. *Stroke*. 2002;33:224-229
- Li R, Duncan BB, Metcalf PA, Crouse JR 3rd, Sharrett AR, Tyroler HA, Barnes R, Heiss G. B-mode-detected carotid artery plaque in a general population. Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study investigators. *Stroke*. 1994;25:2377-2383
- 203. Prati P, Vanuzzo D, Casaroli M, Di Chiara A, De Biasi F, Feruglio GA, Touboul PJ. Prevalence and determinants of carotid atherosclerosis in a general population. *Stroke*. 1992;23:1705-1711
- 204. de Weerd M, Greving JP, de Jong AWF, Buskens E, Bots ML. Prevalence of asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis according to age and sex: systematic review and metaregression analysis. *Stroke*. 2009;40:1105-1113
- 205. Fine-Edelstein JS, Wolf PA, O'Leary DH, Poehlman H, Belanger AJ, Kase CS, D'Agostino RB. Precursors of extracranial carotid atherosclerosis in the Framingham Study. *Neurology*. 1994;44:1046-1050
- 206. Manchev IC, Mineva PP, Hadjiev DI. Prevalence of stroke risk factors and their outcomes. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2001;12:303-307
- 207. Mineva PP, Manchev IC, Hadjiev DI. Prevalence and outcome of asymptomatic carotid stenosis: A population-based ultrasonographic study. *Eur J Neurol*. 2002;9:383
- 208. Pujia A, Rubba P, Spencer MP. Prevalence of extracranial carotid artery disease detectable by echo- Doppler in an elderly population. *Stroke*. 1992;23:818-822
- 209. Willeit J, Kiechl S. Prevalence and risk factors of asymptomatic extracranial carotid artery atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb.* 1993;13:661-668
- 210. O'Leary DH, Polak JF, Kronmal RA, Kittner SJ, Bond MG, Wolfson SK, Jr., Bommer W, Price TR, Gardin JM, Savage PJ. Distribution and correlates of sonographically detected carotid artery disease in the Cardiovascular Health Study. The CHS Collaborative Research Group. *Stroke*. 1992;23:1752-1760
- 211. Cinà CS, Safar HA, Maggisano R, Bailey R, Clase CM. Prevalence and progression of internal carotid artery stenosis in patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease. J Vasc Surg. 2002;36:75-82
- 212. Craven TE, Ryu JE, Espeland MA, Kahl FR, McKinney WM, Toole JF, McMahan MR, Thompson CJ, Heiss G, Crouse JRd. Evaluation of the associations between carotid artery atherosclerosis and coronary artery stenosis. A case-control study. *Circulation*. 1990;82:1230-1242

- 213. Ebrahim S, Papacosta O, Whincup P, Wannamethee G, Walker M, Nicolaides AN, Dhanjil S, Griffin M, Belcaro G, Rumley A, Lowe GDO. Carotid plaque, intima media thickness, cardiovascular risk factors, and prevalent cardiovascular disease in men and women: The British Regional Heart Study. *Stroke*. 1999;30:841-850
- 214. Khoury Z, Schwartz R, Gottlieb S, Chenzbraun A, Stern S, Keren A. Relation of coronary artery disease to atherosclerotic disease in the aorta, carotid, and femoral arteries evaluated by ultrasound. *Am J Cardiol*. 1997;80:1429-1433
- 215. Zimarino M, Cappelletti L, Venarucci V, Gallina S, Scarpignato M, Acciai N, Calafiore AM, Barsotti A, De Caterina R. Age-dependence of risk factors for carotid stenosis: an observational study among candidates for coronary arteriography. *Atherosclerosis*. 2001;159:165-173
- 216. Su T-C, Jeng J-S, Chien K-L, Sung F-C, Hsu H-C, Lee Y-T. Hypertension status is the major determinant of carotid atherosclerosis: A community-based study in Taiwan. *Stroke*. 2001;32:2265-2271
- 217. Whisnant JP, Homer D, Ingall TJ, Baker HL, Jr., O'Fallon WM, Wievers DO. Duration of cigarette smoking is the strongest predictor of severe extracranial carotid artery atherosclerosis. *Stroke*. 1990;21:707-714
- 218. Beckman JA, Creager MA, Libby P. Diabetes and atherosclerosis: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. *JAMA*. 2002;287:2570-2581
- 219. Luedemann J, Schminke U, Berger K, Piek M, Willich SN, Doring A, John U, Kessler C. Association between behavior-dependent cardiovascular risk factors and asymptomatic carotid atherosclerosis in a general population. *Stroke*. 2002;33:2929-2935
- 220. Brea A, Mosquera D, Martin E, Arizti A, Cordero JL, Ros E. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with carotid atherosclerosis: A case-control study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2005;25:1045-1050
- 221. Sookoian S, Pirola CJ. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is strongly associated with carotid atherosclerosis: A systematic review. *J Hepatol*. 2008;49:600-607
- 222. Dziewas R, Ritter M, Usta N, Boentert M, Hor H, Dittrich R, Schäbitz WR, Ringelstein EB, Young P. Atherosclerosis and obstructive sleep apnea in patients with ischemic stroke. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2007;24:122-125
- 223. Nachtmann A, Stang A, Wang Y-M, Wondzinski E, Thilmann AF. Association of obstructive sleep apnea and stenotic artery disease in ischemic stroke patients. *Atherosclerosis*. 2003;169:301-307
- 224. Bots ML, Launer LJ, Lindemans J, Hofman A, Grobbee DE. Homocysteine, atherosclerosis and prevalent cardiovascular disease in the elderly: The Rotterdam Study. *J Intern Med.* 1997;242:339-347
- 225. McQuillan BM, Beilby JP, Nidorf M, Thompson PL, Hung J. Hyperhomocysteinemia but not the C677T mutation of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase is an independent risk determinant of carotid wall thickening: The Perth Carotid Ultrasound Disease Assessment Study (CUDAS). *Circulation*. 1999;99:2383-2388
- 226. Selhub J, Jacques PF, Bostom AG, D'Agostino RB, Wilson PWF, Belanger AJ, O'Leary DH, Wolf PA, Schaefer EJ, Rosenberg IH. Association between plasma homocysteine concentrations and extracranial carotid-artery stenosis. *N Engl J Med.* 1995;332:286-291
- 227. Potter K, Hankey G, Green D, Eikelboom J, Jamrozik K, Arnolda L. The effect of long-term homocysteine-lowering on carotid intima-media thickness and flow-mediated vasodilation in stroke patients: a randomized controlled trial and meta-analysis. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*. 2008;8:24
- 228. Toole JF, Malinow MR, Chambless LE, Spence JD, Pettigrew LC, Howard VJ, Sides EG, Wang C-H, Stampfer M. Lowering homocysteine in patients with ischemic stroke to prevent recurrent stroke, myocardial infarction, and death: The Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention (VISP) randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2004;291:565-575

- 229. Puttonen S, Kivimäki M, Elovainio M, Pulkki-Råback L, Hintsanen M, Vahtera J, Telama R, Juonala M, Viikari JSA, Raitakari OT, Keltikangas-Järvinen L. Shift work in young adults and carotid artery intima-media thickness: The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. *Atherosclerosis.* 2009;205:608-613
- Petty GW, Brown RD, Jr., Whisnant JP, Sicks JD, O'Fallon WM, Wiebers DO. Ischemic stroke subtypes : A population-based study of incidence and risk factors. *Stroke*. 1999;30:2513-2516
- 231. Bogousslavsky J, Van Melle G, Regli F. The Lausanne Stroke Registry: analysis of 1,000 consecutive patients with first stroke. *Stroke*. 1988;19:1083-1092
- 232. Rothwell PM, Eliasziw M, Gutnikov SA, Fox AJ, Taylor DW, Mayberg MR, Warlow CP, Barnett HJM. Analysis of pooled data from the randomised controlled trials of endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis. *Lancet*. 2003;361:107-116
- 233. Longstreth WT, Jr, Shemanski L, Lefkowitz D, O'Leary DH, Polak JF, Wolfson SK Jr. Asymptomatic internal carotid artery stenosis defined by ultrasound and the risk of subsequent stroke in the elderly: The Cardiovascular Health Study. *Stroke*. 1998;29:2371-2376
- 234. Ogren M, Hedblad B, Isacsson S-O, Janzon L, Jungquist G, Lindell S-E. Ten year cerebrovascular morbidity and mortality in 68 year old men with asymptomatic carotid stenosis. *BMJ*. 1995;310:1294-1298
- 235. Manolio TA, Kronmal RA, Burke GL, O'Leary DH, Price TR. Short-term predictors of incident stroke in older adults: The Cardiovascular Health Study. *Stroke*. 1996;27:1479-1486
- 236. Bogousslavsky J, Despland P-A, Regli F. Asymptomatic tight stenosis of the internal carotid artery: long-term prognosis. *Neurology*. 1986;36:861-863
- 237. Goessens BMB, Visseren FLJ, Kappelle LJ, Algra A, van der Graaf Y. Asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis and the risk of new vascular events in patients with manifest arterial disease: the SMART study. *Stroke*. 2007;38:1470-1475
- 238. Mackey AE, Abrahamowicz M, Langlois Y, Battista R, Simard D, Bourque F, Leclerc J, Cote R, the Asymptomatic Cervical Bruit Study Group. Outcome of asymptomatic patients with carotid disease. *Neurology*. 1997;48:896-903
- 239. Meissner I, Wiebers DO, Whisnant JP, O'Fallon WM. The natural history of asymptomatic carotid artery occlusive lesions. *JAMA*. 1987;258:2704-2707
- 240. Norris JW, Zhu CZ, Bornstein NM, Chambers BR. Vascular risks of asymptomatic carotid stenosis. *Stroke*. 1991;22:1485-1490
- 241. Bock RW, Gray-Weale AC, Mock PA, Robinson DA, Irwig L, Lusby RJ. The natural history of asymptomatic carotid artery disease. *J Vasc Surg.* 1993;17:160-171
- 242. Erzurum VZ, Littooy FN, Steffen G, Chmura C, Mansour MA. Outcome of nonoperative management of asymptomatic high-grade carotid stenosis. *J Vasc Surg.* 2002;36:663-667
- 243. Inzitari D, Eliasziw M, Gates P, Sharpe BL, Chan RKT, Meldrum HE, Barnett HJM. Causes and risk of stroke in patients with asymptomatic internal-carotid-artery stenosis. N Engl J Med. 2000;342:1693-1700
- 244. Powers WJ, Derdeyn CP, Fritsch SM, Carpenter DA, Yundt KD, Videen TO, Grubb Jr. RL. Benign prognosis of never-symptomatic carotid occlusion. *Neurology*. 2000;54:878-882
- 245. Rothwell PM, Warlow CP. Low risk of ischemic stroke in patients with reduced internal carotid artery lumen diameter distal to severe symptomatic carotid stenosis: Cerebral protection due to low poststenotic flow? *Stroke*. 2000;31:622-621
- 246. Barnett H, Gunton R, Eliasziw M, Fleming L, Shapre B, Gates P, Meldrum H. Causes and severity of ischemic stroke in patients with internal carotid artery stenosis. *JAMA*. 2000;283:1429-1436
- 247. Coull AJ, Lovett JK, Rothwell PM. Population based study of early risk of stroke after transient ischaemic attack or minor stroke: Implications for public education and organisation of services. *BMJ*. 2004;328:326-
- 248. Fairhead JF, Mehta Z, Rothwell PM. Population-based study of delays in carotid imaging and surgery and the risk of recurrent stroke. *Neurology*. 2005;65:371-375

- 249. Johnston SC, Gress DR, Browner WS, Sidney S. Short-term prognosis after emergency department diagnosis of TIA. *JAMA*. 2000;284:2901-2906
- 250. Lovett JK, Coull AJ, Rothwell PM. Early risk of recurrence by subtype of ischemic stroke in population-based incidence studies. *Neurology*. 2004;62:569-573
- 251. Moroney JT, Bagiella E, Paik MC, Sacco RL, Desmond DW. Risk factors for early recurrence after ischemic stroke : The role of stroke syndrome and subtype. *Stroke*. 1998;29:2118-2124
- 252. Purroy F, Montaner J, Molina CA, Delgado P, Ribo M, Alvarez-Sabin J. Patterns and predictors of early risk of recurrence after transient ischemic attack with respect to etiologic subtypes. *Stroke*. 2007;38:3225-3229
- 253. Ois A, Cuadrado-Godia E, Rodriguez-Campello A, Jimenez-Conde J, Roquer J. High risk of early neurological recurrence in symptomatic carotid stenosis. *Stroke*. 2009:40(8):2727-2731
- Rothwell PM, Mehta Z, Howard SC, Gutnikov SA, Warlow CP. From subgroups to individuals: general principles and the example of carotid endarterectomy. *Lancet*. 2005; 365:256–265
- 255. Mohr JP, Gautier JC. Internal carotid artery disease. In: Mohr JP, Choi DW, Grotta JC, Weir B, Wolf PA, eds. *Stroke. Pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management.* Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone; 2004:75-100.
- 256. Warlow C, van Gijn J, Dennis M, Wardlaw J, Bamford J, Hankey G, Sandercock P, Rinkel G, Langhorne P, Sudlow C, Rothwell P. Unusual causes of ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack. *Stroke. Practical management.* Blackwell Publishing; 2008.
- 257. Hankey GJ, Slattery JM, Warlow CP. The prognosis of hospital-referred transient ischaemic attacks. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1991;54:793-802
- 258. Warlow C, van Gijn J, Dennis M, Wardlaw J, Bamford J, Hankey G, Sandercock P, Rinkel G, Langhorne P, Sudlow C, Rothwell P. Is it a vascular event and where is the lesion? Identifying and interpreting the symptoms and signs of cerebrovascular disease. *Stroke. Practical management.* Blackwell Publishing; 2008:35-130.
- 259. Ad hoc Committee established by the Advisory Council for the National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke NIH, Bethesda, Maryland 20014. A classification and outline of cerebrovascular diseases II. *Stroke*. 1975;6:564-616
- 260. Dennis MS, Bamford JM, Sandercock PA, Warlow CP. Incidence of transient ischemic attacks in Oxfordshire, England. *Stroke*. 1989;20:333-339
- Coutts SB, Hill MD, Simon JE, Sohn CH, Scott JN, Demchuk AM, for the VISION Study Group. Silent ischemia in minor stroke and TIA patients identified on MR imaging. *Neurology*. 2005;65:513-517
- 262. Johnston SC, Sidney S, Bernstein AL, Gress DR. A comparison of risk factors for recurrent TIA and stroke in patients diagnosed with TIA. *Neurology*. 2003;60:280-285
- 263. Koudstaal PJ, van Gijn J, Frenken CW, Hijdra A, Lodder J, Vermeulen M, Bulens C, Franke CL. TIA, RIND, minor stroke: a continuum, or different subgroups? Dutch TIA Study Group. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1992;55:95-97
- 264. Ay H, Oliveira-Filho J, Buonanno FS, Schaefer PW, Furie KL, Chang Y, Rordorf G, Schwamm LH, Gonzalez RG, Koroshetz WJ. 'Footprints' of transient ischemic attacks: a diffusion-weighted MRI study. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2002;14:177-186
- 265. Mlynash M, Olivot JM, Tong DC, Lansberg MG, Eyngorn I, Kemp S, Moseley ME, Albers GW. Yield of combined perfusion and diffusion MR imaging in hemispheric TIA. *Neurology*. 2009;72:1127-1133
- 266. Rovira A, Rovira-Gols A, Pedraza S, Grive E, Molina C, Alvarez-Sabin J. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging in the acute phase of transient ischemic attacks. *AJNR*. 2002;23:77-83
- Schulz UG, Briley D, Meagher T, Molyneux A, Rothwell PM. Diffusion-weighted MRI in 300 patients presenting late with subacute transient ischemic attack or minor stroke. *Stroke*. 2004;35:2459-2465

- 268. Albers GW, Caplan LR, Easton JD, Fayad PB, Mohr JP, Saver JL, Sherman DG, the TIA Working Group. Transient ischemic attack -- proposal for a new definition. N Engl J Med. 2002;347:1713-1716
- 269. Warach S, Kidwell CS. The redefinition of TIA: the uses and limitations of DWI in acute ischemic cerebrovascular syndromes. *Neurology*. 2004;62:359-360
- 270. Easton JD, Saver JL, Albers GW, Alberts MJ, Chaturvedi S, Feldmann E, Hatsukami TS, Higashida RT, Johnston SC, Kidwell CS, Lutsep HL, Miller E, Sacco RL. Definition and evaluation of transient ischemic attack: A scientific statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association Stroke Council; Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention; Council on Cardiovascular Nursing; and the Interdisciplinary Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease. *Stroke*. 2009;40:2276-2293
- 271. Giles MF, Rothwell PM. Risk of stroke early after transient ischaemic attack: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol*. 2007;6:1063-1072
- 272. Pessin MS, Duncan GW, Mohr JP, Poskanzer DC. Clinical and angiographic features of carotid transient ischemic attacks. *N Engl J Med.* 1977;296:358-362
- 273. Wilson LA, Russell RW. Amaurosis fugax and carotid artery disease: indications for angiography. *Br Med J.* 1977;2:435-437
- 274. Current management of amaurosis fugax. The Amaurosis Fugax Study Group. *Stroke*. 1990;21:201-208
- 275. Donders RCJM. Clinical features of transient monocular blindness and the likelihood of atherosclerotic lesions of the internal carotid artery. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2001;71:247-249
- 276. Fisher CM. Late-life migraine accompaniments--further experience. *Stroke*. 1986;17:1033-1042
- 277. Salvarani C, Cantini F, Hunder GG. Polymyalgia rheumatica and giant-cell arteritis. *Lancet*. 2008;372:234-245
- 278. Bhidayasiri R, Waters MF, Giza CC. Neuro-ophthalmology and neuro-otology. *Neurological differential diagnosis. A prioritized approach.* Oxford: Blackwell Publishing; 2006:294-322.
- 279. Brown RD, Jr., Petty GW, O'Fallon WM, Wiebers DO, Whisnant JP. Incidence of transient ischemic attack in Rochester, Minnesota, 1985–1989. *Stroke*. 1998;29:2109-2113
- 280. Benavente O, Eliasziw M, Streifler JY, Fox AJ, Barnett HJM, Meldrum H, the North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial Collaborators. Prognosis after transient monocular blindness associated with carotid-artery stenosis. N Engl J Med. 2001;345:1084-1090
- 281. Warlow C, van Gijn J, Dennis M, Wardlaw J, Bamford J, Hankey G, Sandercock P, Rinkel G, Langhorne P, Sudlow C, Rothwell P. Which arterial territory is involved? Using arterial and brain anatomy to develop a clinically based method of subclassification. *Stroke: Practical management*. Singapore: Blackwell Publishing; 2008:131-180.
- 282. Del Sette M, Eliasziw M, Streifler JY, Hachinski VC, Fox AJ, Barnett HJM. Internal borderzone infarction: A marker for severe stenosis in patients with symptomatic internal carotid artery disease. *Stroke*. 2000;31:631-636
- 283. Baquis GD, Pessin MS, Scott RM. Limb shaking--a carotid TIA. Stroke. 1985;16:444-448
- 284. Takehiko Y, David GP, Donald WK. Repetitive involuntary movement associated with episodic cerebral ischemia. *Ann Neurol.* 1985;18:244-250
- 285. Tatemichi TK, Young WL, Prohovnik I, Gitelman DR, Correll JW, Mohr JP. Perfusion insufficiency in limb-shaking transient ischemic attacks. *Stroke*. 1990;21:341-347
- 286. Timsit SG, Sacco RL, Mohr JP, Foulkes MA, Tatemichi TK, Wolf PA, Price TR, Hier DB. Early clinical differentiation of cerebral infarction from severe atherosclerotic stenosis and cardioembolism. *Stroke*. 1992;23:486-491
- Libby P, Ridker PM, Maseri A. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 2002;105:1135-1143
- 288. Stary HC, Blankenhorn DH, Chandler AB, Glagov S, Insull W Jr., Richardson M, Rosenfeld ME, Schaffer SA, Schwartz CJ, Wagner WD. A definition of the intima of human arteries and of its atherosclerosis- prone regions. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 1992;85:391-405
- 289. Bhatt DL, Steg PG, Ohman EM, Hirsch AT, Ikeda Y, Mas J-L, Goto S, Liau C-S, Richard AJ, Röther J, Wilson PWF, for the REACH Registry Investigators. International prevalence, recognition, and treatment of cardiovascular risk factors in outpatients with atherothrombosis. JAMA. 2006;295:180-189
- 290. Ibanez B, Vilahur G, Badimon JJ. Plaque progression and regression in atherothrombosis. *J Thromb Haemost.* 2007;5:292-299
- 291. Jartti L, Rönnemaa T, Kaprio J, Järvisalo MJ, Toikka JO, Marniemi J, Hammar N, Alfredsson L, Saraste M, Hartiala J, Koskenvuo M, Raitakari OT. Population-based twin study of the effects of migration from Finland to Sweden on endothelial function and intima-media thickness. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2002;22:832-837
- 292. Willeit J, Kiechl S. Biology of arterial atheroma. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2000;10:1-8
- 293. Warlow C, Van Gijn J, Dennis M, Wardlaw J, Bamford J, Hankey G, Sandercock P, Rinkel G, Langhorne P, Sudlow C, Rothwell P. What caused this transient or persisting ischaemic event? *Stroke. Practical management.* Blackwell Publishing; 2008:259-351.
- 294. Hansson GK. Inflammatory mechanisms in atherosclerosis. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2009;7:328-331
- 295. Dart AM, Chin-Dusting JPF. Lipids and the endothelium. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1999;43:308-322
- 296. Libby P. The molecular mechanisms of the thrombotic complications of atherosclerosis. J Intern Med. 2008;263:517-527
- 297. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, Fuster V, Glagov S, Insull W, Jr., Rosenfeld ME, Schwartz CJ, Wagner WD, Wissler RW. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis: a report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 1995;92:1355-1374
- 298. Espinola-Klein C, Rupprecht HJ, Blankenberg S, Bickel C, Kopp H, Rippin G, Victor A, Hafner G, Schlumberger W, Meyer J. Impact of infectious burden on extent and long-term prognosis of atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 2002;105:15-369
- 299. Sander D, Winbeck K, Klingelhöfer J, Etgen T, Conrad B. Progression of early carotid atherosclerosis is only temporarily reduced after antibiotic treatment of Chlamydia pneumoniae seropositivity. *Circulation*. 2004;109:1010-1015
- 300. Renko J, Lepp PW, Oksala N, Nikkari S, Nikkari ST. Bacterial signatures in atherosclerotic lesions represent human commensals and pathogens. *Atherosclerosis*. 2008;201:192-197
- 301. Rothwell PM, Gibson R, Warlow CP. Interrelation between plaque surface morphology and degree of stenosis on carotid angiograms and the risk of ischemic stroke in patients with symptomatic carotid stenosis. *Stroke*. 2000;31:615-621
- 302. Redgrave JNE, Lovett JK, Gallagher PJ, Rothwell PM. Histological assessment of 526 symptomatic carotid plaques in relation to the nature and timing of ischemic symptoms: The Oxford Plaque Study. *Circulation*. 2006;113:2320-2328
- 303. Fuster V, Moreno PR, Fayad ZA, Corti R, Badimon JJ. Atherothrombosis and high-risk plaque: Part I: Evolving concepts. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2005;46:937-954
- 304. DeGraba TJ, Siren A-L, Penix L, McCarron RM, Hargraves R, Sood S, Pettigrew KD, Hallenbeck JM. Increased endothelial expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in symptomatic versus asymptomatic human carotid atherosclerotic plaque. *Stroke*. 1998;29:1405-1410
- 305. Chalela JA. Evaluating the carotid plaque: going beyond stenosis. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2009;27:19-24
- 306. Feinberg WM. Coagulation. In: Caplan LR, ed. *Brain ischemia. Basic concepts and clinical relevance*. London: Springer-Verlag; 1995:85-95.

- 307. Jenny NS, Mann KG. Coagulation cascade: an overview. In: Loscalzo J, Schafer AI, eds. *Thrombosis and hemorrhage*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2003:1-21.
- 308. Takano K, Yamaguchi T, Kato H, Omae T. Activation of coagulation in acute cardioembolic stroke. *Stroke*. 1991;22:12-16
- del Zoppo GJ. Fibrinolysis and its relevance to acute focal cerebral ischemia. In: Caplan LR, ed. Brain ischemia. Basic concepts and clinical relevance. London: Springer-Verlag; 1995:105-119.
- 310. Vaughan DE, Declerck PJ. Regulation of fibrinolysis. In: Loscalzo J, Schafer AI, eds. *Thrombosis and hemorrhage*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2003:105-119.
- Bockenstedt PL. Laboratory methods in hemostasis. In: Loscalzo J, Schafer AI, eds. *Thrombosis and hemorrhage*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2003:363-423.
- 312. Chuang S-Y, Bai C-H, Chen W-H, Lien L-M, Pan W-H. Fibrinogen independently predicts the development of ischemic stroke in a Taiwanese population: CVDFACTS Study. *Stroke*. 2009;40:1578-1584
- Cote R, Wolfson C, Solymoss S, Mackey A, Leclerc JR, Simard D, Rouah F, Bourque F, Leger B. Hemostatic markers in patients at risk of cerebral ischemia. *Stroke*. 2000;31:1856-1862
- 314. del Zoppo GJ, Levy DE, Wasiewski WW, Pancioli AM, Demchuk AM, Trammel J, Demaerschalk BM, Kaste M, Albers GW, Ringelstein EB. Hyperfibrinogenemia and functional outcome from acute ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. 2009;40:1687-1691
- 315. Fibrinogen Studies Collaboration. Plasma fibrinogen level and the risk of major cardiovascular diseases and nonvascular mortality: an individual participant meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 2005;294:1799-1809
- 316. Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Manson JE, Vaughan DE, Stampfer MJ. Prospective study of endogenous tissue plasminogen activator and risk of stroke. *Lancet*. 1994;343:940-943
- 317. Rothwell PM, Howard SC, Power DA, Gutnikov SA, Algra A, van Gijn J, Clark TG, Murphy MFG, Warlow CP, for the Cerebrovascular Cohort Studies Collaboration. Fibrinogen concentration and risk of ischemic stroke and acute coronary events in 5113 patients with transient ischemic attack and minor ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. 2004;35:2300-2305
- 318. Whiteley W, Chong WL, Sengupta A, Sandercock P. Blood markers for the prognosis of ischemic stroke: a systematic review. *Stroke*. 2009;40:e380-389
- 319. Grotta J. Rheology of flow and its effects. In: Caplan LR, ed. *Brain ischemia. Basic concepts and clinical relevance*. London: Springer-Verlag; 1995:261-267.
- 320. Grotta J, Ackerman R, Correia J, Fallick G, Chang J. Whole blood viscosity parameters and cerebral blood flow. *Stroke*. 1982;13:296-301
- 321. Muizelaar JP, Wei EP, Kontos HA, Becker DP. Cerebral blood flow is regulated by changes in blood pressure and in blood viscosity alike. *Stroke*. 1986;17:44-48
- 322. Coull BM, Beamer N, de Garmo P, Sexton G, Nordt F, Knox R, Seaman GV. Chronic blood hyperviscosity in subjects with acute stroke, transient ischemic attack, and risk factors for stroke. *Stroke*. 1991;22:162-168
- 323. Fisher M, Meiselman HJ. Hemorheological factors in cerebral ischemia. *Stroke*. 1991;22:1164-1169
- 324. Szapary L, Horvath B, Marton Z, Alexy T, Demeter N, Szots M, Klabuzai A, Kesmarky G, Juricskay I, Gaal V, Czopf J, Toth K. Hemorheological disturbances in patients with chronic cerebrovascular diseases. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc*. 2004;31:1-9
- 325. Allport LE, Parsons MW, Butcher KS, MacGregor L, Desmond PM, Tress BM, Davis SM. Elevated hematocrit is associated with reduced reperfusion and tissue survival in acute stroke. *Neurology*. 2005;65:1382-1387
- 326. Pollock S, Tsitsopoulos P, Harrison MJ. The effect of haematocrit on cerebral perfusion and clinical status following carotid occlusion in the gerbil. *Stroke*. 1982;13:167-170
- 327. Sacco S, Marini C, Olivieri L, Pistoia F, Carolei A. Contribution of hematocrit to early mortality after ischemic stroke. *Eur Neurol*. 2007;58:233-238

- 328. Asplund K. Haemodilution for acute ischaemic stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2002;4:CD000103
- 329. Dotsenko O, Chaturvedi N, Thom SAM, Wright AR, Mayet J, Shore A, Schalkwijk C, Hughes AD. Platelet and leukocyte activation, atherosclerosis and inflammation in European and South Asian men. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2007;5:2036-2042
- 330. McCabe DJH, Harrison P, Mackie IJ, Sidhu PS, Purdy G, Lawrie AS, Watt H, Machin SJ, Brown MM. Increased platelet count and leucocyte-platelet complex formation in acute symptomatic compared with asymptomatic severe carotid stenosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2005;76:1249-1254
- 331. Yip HK, Lu CH, Yang CH, Chang HW, Hung WC, Cheng CI, Chen SM, Wu CJ. Levels and value of platelet activity in patients with severe internal carotid artery stenosis. *Neurology*. 2006;66:804-808
- 332. Lassila R, Badimon JJ, Vallabhajosula S, Badimon L. Dynamic monitoring of platelet deposition on severly damaged vessel wall during blood flow. Effects of different stenoses on thrombus growth. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1990;10:306-315
- 333. Badimon L, Badimon J, Lassila R, Heras M, Chesebro J, Fuster V. Thrombin regulation of platelet interaction with damaged vessel wall and isolated collagen type I at arterial flow conditions in a porcine model: effects of hirudins, heparin, and calcium chelation. *Blood*. 1991;78:423-434
- 334. Peltonen S, Lassila R, Heikkilä J. Activation of coagulation and fibrinolysis despite heparinization during successful elective coronary angioplasty. *Thromb Res.* 1996;82:459-468
- 335. Siljander P, Carpén O, Lassila R. Platelet-derived microparticles associate with fibrin during thrombosis. *Blood.* 1996;87:4651-4663
- 336. Plow EF, Ploplis VA, Busuttil S, Carmeliet P, Collen D. A role of plasminogen in atherosclerosis and restenosis models in mice. *Thromb Haemost.* 1999;82:4-7
- 337. Siren V, Kauhanen P, Carpén O, Luther M, Lepäntalo M, Vaheri A, Lassila R. Urokinase, tissue-type plasminogen activator and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 expression in severely stenosed and occluded vein grafts with thrombosis. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*. 2003;14:369-377
- Kauhanen P, Siren V, Carpén O, Vaheri A, Lepäntalo M, Lassila R. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in neointima of vein grafts: its role in reduced fibrinolytic potential and graft failure. *Circulation*. 1997;96:1783-1789
- 339. Lee AJ, Mowbray PI, Lowe GDO, Rumley A, Fowkes FGR, Allan PL. Blood viscosity and elevated carotid intima-media thickness in men and women: The Edinburgh Artery Study. *Circulation*. 1998;97:1467-1473
- 340. Hademenos GJ, Massoud TF. Biophysical mechanisms of stroke. Stroke. 1997;28:2067-2077
- 341. Derdeyn CP, Grubb RL, Jr., Powers WJ. Cerebral hemodynamic impairment: methods of measurement and association with stroke risk. *Neurology*. 1999;53:251-
- 342. Derdeyn CP, Videen TO, Yundt KD, Fritsch SM, Carpenter DA, Grubb RL, Powers WJ. Variability of cerebral blood volume and oxygen extraction: stages of cerebral haemodynamic impairment revisited. *Brain*. 2002;125:595-607
- Grubb Jr. RL, Derdeyn CP, Fritsch SM, Carpenter DA, Yundt KD, Videen TO, Spitznagel EL, Powers WJ. Importance of hemodynamic factors in the prognosis of symptomatic carotid occlusion. JAMA. 1998;280:1055-1060
- 344. Kleiser B, Bernhard W. Course of carotid artery occlusions with impaired cerebrovascular reactivity. *Stroke*. 1992;23:171-174
- 345. Powers WJ, Press GA, Grubb RL, Mokhtar G, Raichle ME. The effect of hemodynamically significant carotid artery disease on the hemodynamic status of the cerebral circulation. *Ann Intern Med.* 1987;106:27-35
- 346. Bladin CF, Chambers BR. Clinical features, pathogenesis, and computed tomographic characteristics of internal watershed infarction. *Stroke*. 1993;24:1925-1932

- 347. Förster A, Szabo K, Hennerici MG. Mechanisms of disease: pathophysiological concepts of stroke in hemodynamic risk zones do hypoperfusion and embolism interact? *Nat Clin Pract Neurol.* 2008;4:216-225
- 348. Caplan LR, Sergay S. Positional cerebral ischaemia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1976;39:385-391
- 349. Ruff RL, Talman WT, Petito F. Transient ischemic attacks associated with hypotension in hypertensive patients with carotid artery stenosis. *Stroke*. 1981;12:353-355
- 350. Somerville ER. Orthostatic transient ischemic attacks: A symptom of large vessel occlusion. *Stroke*. 1984;15:1066-1067
- 351. Caplan LR, Hennerici M. Impaired clearance of emboli (washout) is an important link between hypoperfusion, embolism, and ischemic stroke. *Arch Neurol*. 1998;55:1475-1482
- 352. Babikian V, Ropper A. Binswanger's disease: a review. Stroke. 1987;18:2-12
- 353. Pantoni L, Garcia JH. The significance of cerebral white matter abnormalities 100 years after Binswanger's report: a review. *Stroke*. 1995;26:1293-1301
- 354. Hopkins RO, Beck CJ, Burnett DL, Weaver LK, Victoroff J, Bigler ED. Prevalence of white matter hyperintensities in a young healthy population. *J Neuroimaging*. 2006;16:243-251
- 355. Mäntylä R, Aronen HJ, Salonen O, Pohjasvaara T, Korpelainen M, Peltonen T, Standertskjöld-Nordenstam C-G, Kaste M, Erkinjuntti T. Magnetic resonance imaging white matter hyperintensities and mechanism of ischemic stroke. *Stroke*. 1999;30:2053-2058
- 356. Mäntylä R, Erkinjuntti T, Salonen O, Aronen HJ, Peltonen T, Pohjasvaara T, Standertskjöld-Nordenstam C-G. Variable agreement between visual rating scales for white matter hyperintensities on MRI: comparison of 13 rating scales in a poststroke cohort. *Stroke*. 1997;28:1614-2058
- 357. Pantoni L, Simoni M, Pracucci G, Schmidt R, Barkhof F, Inzitari D. Visual rating scales for age-related white matter changes (leukoaraiosis): can the heterogeneity be reduced? *Stroke*. 2002;33:2827-2833
- 358. Scheltens P, Erkinjuntti T, Leys D, Wahlund L-O, Inzitari D, del Ser T, Pasquier F, Barkhof F, Mäntylä R, Bowler J, Wallin A, Ghika J, Fazekas F, Pantoni L. White matter changes on CT and MRI: an overview of visual rating scales. *Eur Neurol*. 1998;39:80-89
- 359. Wahlund LO, Barkhof F, Fazekas F, Bronge L, Augustin M, Sjögren M, Wallin A, Ader H, Leys D, Pantoni L, Pasquier F, Erkinjuntti T, Scheltens P. A new rating scale for age-related white matter changes applicable to MRI and CT. *Stroke*. 2001;32:1318-1322
- 360. Putaala J, Kurkinen M, Tarvos V, Salonen O, Kaste M, Tatlisumak T. Silent brain infarcts and leukoaraiosis in young adults with first-ever ischemic stroke. *Neurology*. 2009;72:1823-1829
- 361. Sachdev Pab, Chen Xa, Wen Wab. White matter hyperintensities in mid-adult life. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2008;21:268-274
- 362. Wen W, Sachdev P. The topography of white matter hyperintensities on brain MRI in healthy 60- to 64-year-old individuals. *NeuroImage*. 2004;22:144-154
- 363. DeStefano AL, Atwood LD, Massaro JM, Heard-Costa N, Beiser A, Au R, Wolf PA, DeCarli C. Genome-wide scan for white matter hyperintensity: The Framingham Heart Study. *Stroke*. 2006;37:77-81
- 364. Turner ST, Jack CR, Fornage M, Mosley TH, Boerwinkle E, de Andrade M. Heritability of leukoaraiosis in hypertensive sibships. *Hypertension*. 2004;43:483-487
- 365. Gouw AA, van der Flier WM, Fazekas F, van Straaten ECW, Pantoni L, Poggesi A, Inzitari D, Erkinjuntti T, Wahlund LO, Waldemar G, Schmidt R, Scheltens P, Barkhof F, on behalf of the LADIS Study Group. Progression of white matter hyperintensities and incidence of new lacunes over a 3-year period: The Leukoaraiosis and Disability Study. *Stroke*. 2008;39:1414-1420
- 366. Guo X, Pantoni L, Simoni M, Bengtsson C, Björkelund C, Lissner L, Gustafson D, Skoog I. Blood pressure components and changes in relation to white matter lesions: a 32-year prospective population study. *Hypertension*. 2009;54:57-62

- 367. Liao D, Cooper L, Cai J, Toole JF, Bryan NR, Hutchinson RG, Tyroler HA. Presence and severity of cerebral white matter lesions and hypertension, its treatment, and its control: the ARIC study. *Stroke*. 1996;27:2262-2270
- 368. Longstreth WT, Manolio TA, Arnold A, Burke GL, Bryan N, Jungreis CA, Enright PL, O'Leary D, Fried L. Clinical correlates of white matter findings on cranial magnetic resonance imaging of 3301 elderly people: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Stroke*. 1996;27:1274-1282
- 369. Sachdev P, Wen W, Chen X, Brodaty H. Progression of white matter hyperintensities in elderly individuals over 3 years. *Neurology*. 2007;68:214-222
- 370. Hassan A, Hunt BJ, O'Sullivan M, Bell R, D'Souza R, Jeffery S, Bamford JM, Markus HS. Homocysteine is a risk factor for cerebral small vessel disease, acting via endothelial dysfunction. *Brain.* 2004;127:212-219
- 371. Naka H, Nomura E, Takahashi T, Wakabayashi S, Kajikawa H, Kohriyama T, Mimori Y, Matsumoto M. Plasma total homocysteine levels are associated with advanced leukoaraiosis but not with asymptomatic microbleeds on T2*-weighted MRI in patients with stroke. *Eur J Neurol.* 2006;13:261-265
- 372. Vermeer SE, van Dijk EJ, Koudstaal PJ, Oudkerk M, Hofman A, Clarke R, Breteler MMB. Homocysteine, silent brain infarcts, and white matter lesions: The Rotterdam Scan Study. Ann Neurol. 2002;51:285-289
- 373. Shenkin SD, Bastin ME, MacGillivray TJ, Deary IJ, Starr JM, Wardlaw JM. Birth parameters are associated with late-life white matter integrity in community-dwelling older people. *Stroke*. 2009;40:1225-1228
- 374. Caplan LR, Schoene WC. Clinical features of subcortical arteriosclerotic encephalopathy (Binswanger disease). *Neurology*. 1978;28:1206-1215
- 375. Fazekas FM, Kleinert RM, Offenbacher HM, Schmidt RM, Kleinert GM, Payer FM, Radner HM, Lechner HM. Pathologic correlates of incidental MRI white matter signal hyperintensities. *Neurology*. 1993;43:1683-1689
- 376. Brown WR, Moody DM, Challa VR, Thore CR, Anstrom JA. Venous collagenosis and arteriolar tortuosity in leukoaraiosis. *J Neurol Sci*. 2002;203-204:159-163
- 377. Brown WR, Moody DM, Challa VR, Thore CR, Anstrom JA. Apoptosis in leukoaraiosis lesions. *J Neurol Sci.* 2002;203-204:169-171
- 378. Kurumatani T, Kudo T, Ikura Y, Takeda M, Kontos HA. White matter changes in the gerbil brain under chronic cerebral hypoperfusion. *Stroke*. 1998;29:1058-1062
- 379. Lammie GA, Brannan F, Slattery J, Warlow C. Nonhypertensive cerebral small-vessel disease: an autopsy study. *Stroke*. 1997;28:2222-2229
- 380. Nonaka H, Akima M, Hatori T, Nagayama T, Zhang Z, Ihara F. Microvasculature of the human cerebral white matter: arteries of the deep white matter. *Neuropathology*. 2003;23:111-118
- 381. Marstrand JR, Garde E, Rostrup E, Ring P, Rosenbaum S, Mortensen EL, Larsson HBW. Cerebral perfusion and cerebrovascular reactivity are reduced in white matter hyperintensities. *Stroke*. 2002;33:972-976
- 382. Mandell DM, Han JS, Poublanc J, Crawley AP, Kassner A, Fisher JA, Mikulis DJ. Selective reduction of blood flow to white matter during hypercapnia corresponds with leukoaraiosis. *Stroke*. 2008;39:1993-1998
- 383. Markus H, Lythgoe D, Østergaard L, O'Sullivan M, Williams S. Reduced cerebral blood flow in white matter in ischaemic leukoaraiosis demonstrated using quantitative exogenous contrast based perfusion MRI. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2000;69:48-53
- O'Sullivan M, Lythgoe DJ, Pereira AC, Summers PE, Jarosz JM, Williams SCR, Markus HS. Patterns of cerebral blood flow reduction in patients with ischemic leukoaraiosis. *Neurology*. 2002;59:321-326
- 385. Starr JM, Wardlaw J, Ferguson K, MacLullich A, Deary IJ, Marshall I. Increased blood-brain barrier permeability in type II diabetes demonstrated by gadolinium magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74:70-76

- 386. Wardlaw JM, Sandercock PAG, Dennis MS, Starr J, Kalimo H. Is breakdown of the bloodbrain barrier responsible for lacunar stroke, leukoaraiosis, and dementia? *Stroke*. 2003;34:806-812
- 387. Thompson CS, Hakim AM. Living beyond our physiological means: small vessel disease of the brain is an expression of a systemic failure in arteriolar function: a unifying hypothesis. *Stroke*. 2009;40:e322-330
- 388. Au R, Massaro JM, Wolf PA, Young ME, Beiser A, Seshadri S, D'Agostino RB, DeCarli C. Association of white matter hyperintensity volume with decreased cognitive functioning: the Framingham Heart Study. Arch Neurol. 2006;63:246-250
- 389. Mosley TH, Jr., Knopman DS, Catellier DJ, Bryan N, Hutchinson RG, Grothues CA, Folsom AR, Cooper LS, Burke GL, Liao D, Szklo M. Cerebral MRI findings and cognitive functioning: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. *Neurology*, 2005;64:2056-2062
- 390. Prins ND, van Dijk EJ, den Heijer T, Vermeer SE, Jolles J, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Breteler MMB. Cerebral small-vessel disease and decline in information processing speed, executive function and memory. *Brain*. 2005;128:2034-2041
- 391. Sachdev PS, Wen W, Christensen H, Jorm AF. White matter hyperintensities are related to physical disability and poor motor function. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2005;76:362-367
- 392. Söderlund H, Nilsson L-G, Berger K, Breteler MM, Dufouil C, Fuhrer R, Giampaoli S, Hofman A, Pajak A, Ridder MD, Sans S, Schmidt R, Launer LJ. Cerebral changes on MRI and cognitive function: the CASCADE study. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2006;27:16-23
- 393. van den Heuvel DMJ, ten Dam VH, de Craen AJM, Admiraal-Behloul F, Olofsen H, Bollen ELEM, Jolles J, Murray HM, Blauw GJ, Westendorp RGJ, van Buchem MA. Increase in periventricular white matter hyperintensities parallels decline in mental processing speed in a non-demented elderly population. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77:149-153
- 394. Ylikoski R, Ylikoski A, Erkinjuntti T, Sulkava R, Raininko R, Tilvis R. White matter changes in healthy elderly persons correlate with attention and speed of mental processing. Arch Neurol. 1993;50:818-824
- 395. Kuller LH, Lopez OL, Jagust WJ, Becker JT, DeKosky ST, Lyketsos C, Kawas C, Breitner JCS, Fitzpatrick A, Dulberg C. Determinants of vascular dementia in the Cardiovascular Health Cognition Study. *Neurology*. 2005;64:1548-1552
- 396. Prins ND, van Dijk EJ, den Heijer T, Vermeer SE, Koudstaal PJ, Oudkerk M, Hofman A, Breteler MMB. Cerebral white matter lesions and the risk of dementia. *Arch Neurol*. 2004;61:1531-1534
- 397. Teodorczuk A, O'Brien JT, Firbank MJ, Pantoni L, Poggesi A, Erkinjuntti T, Wallin A, Wahlund LO, Gouw A, Waldemar G, Schmidt R, Ferro JM, Chabriat H, Bazner H, Inzitari D, the LG. White matter changes and late-life depressive symptoms: longitudinal study. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2007;191:212-217
- 398. Baezner H, Blahak C, Poggesi A, Pantoni L, Inzitari D, Chabriat H, Erkinjuntti T, Fazekas F, Ferro JM, Langhorne P, O'Brien J, Scheltens P, Visser MC, Wahlund LO, Waldemar G, Wallin A, Hennerici MG, on behalf of the LADIS Study Group. Association of gait and balance disorders with age-related white matter changes: the LADIS study. *Neurology*. 2008;70:935-942
- 399. Poggesi A, Pracucci G, Chabriat H, Erkinjuntti T, Fazekas F, Verdelho A, Hennerici M, Langhorne P, O'Brien J, Scheltens P, Visser MC, Crisby M, Waldemar G, Wallin A, Inzitari D, Pantoni L. Urinary complaints in nondisabled elderly people with age-related white matter changes: the Leukoaraiosis and Disability (LADIS) Study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008;56:1638-1643
- 400. Srikanth V, Beare R, Blizzard L, Phan T, Stapleton J, Chen J, Callisaya M, Martin K, Reutens D. Cerebral white matter lesions, gait, and the risk of incident falls: a prospective population-based study. *Stroke*. 2009;40:175-180

- 401. Arsava EM, Rahman R, Rosand J, Lu J, Smith EE, Rost NS, Singhal AB, Lev MH, Furie KL, Koroshetz WJ, Sorensen AG, Ay H. Severity of leukoaraiosis correlates with clinical outcome after ischemic stroke. *Neurology*. 2009;72:1403-1410
- 402. Koton S, Schwammenthal Y, Merzeliak O, Philips T, Tsabari R, Orion D, Dichtiar R, Tanne D. Cerebral leukoaraiosis in patients with stroke or TIA: clinical correlates and 1-year outcome. *Eur J Neurol*. 2009;16:218-225
- 403. Leys D, Englund E, Del Ser T, Inzitari D, Fazekas F, Bornstein N, Erkinjuntti T, Bowler JV, Pantoni L, Parnetti L, De Reuck J, Ferro J, Bogousslavsky J. White matter changes in stroke patients. *Eur Neurol*. 1999;42:67-75
- 404. Neumann-Haefelin T, Hoelig S, Berkefeld J, Fiehler J, Gass A, Humpich M, Kastrup A, Kucinski T, Lecei O, Liebeskind DS, Rother J, Rosso C, Samson Y, Saver JL, Yan B, for the MR Study Group. Leukoaraiosis is a risk factor for symptomatic intracerebral hemorrhage after thrombolysis for acute stroke. *Stroke*. 2006;37:2463-2466
- 405. Oksala NKJ, Oksala A, Pohjasvaara T, Vataja R, Kaste M, Karhunen PJ, Erkinjuntti T. Age related white matter changes predict stroke death in long term follow-up. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2009;80:762-766
- 406. Palumbo V, Boulanger JM, Hill MD, Inzitari D, Buchan AM, on behalf of the CASES Investigators. Leukoaraiosis and intracerebral hemorrhage after thrombolysis in acute stroke. *Neurology*. 2007;68:1020-1024
- 407. Streifler JY, Eliasziw M, Benavente OR, Alamowitch S, Fox AJ, Hachinski V, Barnett HJM. Development and progression of leukoaraiosis in patients with brain ischemia and carotid artery disease. *Stroke*. 2003;34:1913-1916
- 408. Streifler JY, Eliasziw M, Benavente OR, Alamowitch S, Fox AJ, Hachinski VC, Barnett HJM. Prognostic importance of leukoaraiosis in patients with symptomatic internal carotid artery stenosis. *Stroke*. 2002;33:1651-1655
- 409. Kim GE, Lee JH, Cho YP. Can carotid endarterectomy improve metabolic status in patients with asymptomatic internal carotid artery flow lesion? Studies with localized in vivo proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *J Vasc Surg.* 2002;36:559-564
- 410. Lythgoe D, Simmons A, Pereira A, Cullinane M, Williams S, Markus HS. Magnetic resonance markers of ischaemia: their correlation with vasodilatory reserve in patients with carotid artery stenosis and occlusion. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2001;71:58-62
- 411. Visser GH, van der Grond J, van Huffelen AC, Wieneke GH, Eikelboom BC. Decreased transcranial Doppler carbon dioxide reactivity is associated with disordered cerebral metabolism in patients with internal carotid artery stenosis. *J Vasc Surg.* 1999;30:252-260
- 412. Vicente E, Degerone D, Bohn L, Scornavaca F, Pimentel A, Leite M, Swarowsky A, Rodrigues L, Nardin P, de Almeida L, Gottfried C, Souza D, Netto C, Gonçalves C. Astroglial and cognitive effects of chronic cerebral hypoperfusion in the rat. *Brain Res.* 2009;1251:204-212
- 413. Altaf N, Morgan PS, Moody A, MacSweeney ST, Gladman JR, Auer DP. Brain white matter hyperintensities are associated with carotid intraplaque hemorrhage. *Radiology*. 2008;248:202-209
- 414. Saba L, Sanfilippo R, Pascalis L, Montisci R, Mallarini G. Carotid artery abnormalities and leukoaraiosis in elderly patients: Evaluation with MDCT. *Am J Roentgenol.* 2009;192:W63-70
- 415. Vermeer SE, Prins ND, den Heijer T, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Breteler MMB. Silent brain infarcts and the risk of dementia and cognitive decline. *N Engl J Med*. 2003;348:1215-1222
- 416. Johnston SC, O'Meara ES, Manolio TA, Lefkowitz D, O'Leary DH, Goldstein S, Carlson MC, Fried LP, Longstreth WT, Jr. Cognitive impairment and decline are associated with carotid artery disease in patients without clinically evident cerebrovascular disease. *Ann Intern Med.* 2004;140:237-247
- 417. Mathiesen EB, Waterloo K, Joakimsen O, Bakke SJ, Jacobsen EA, Bonaa KH. Reduced neuropsychological test performance in asymptomatic carotid stenosis: the Tromsø study. *Neurology*. 2004;62:695-701

- 418. Silvestrini M, Paolino I, Vernieri F, Pedone C, Baruffaldi R, Gobbi B, Cagnetti C, Provinciali L, Bartolini M. Cerebral hemodynamics and cognitive performance in patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis. *Neurology*. 2009;72:1062-1068
- 419. Ruitenberg A, den Heijer T, Bakker SLM, van Swieten JC, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Breteler MMB. Cerebral hypoperfusion and clinical onset of dementia: the Rotterdam Study. *Ann Neurol.* 2005;57:789-794
- 420. Vogels RLC, Scheltens P, Schroeder-Tanka JM, Weinstein HC. Cognitive impairment in heart failure: a systematic review of the literature. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 2007;9:440-449
- 421. Zuccala G, Onder G, Pedone C, Carosella L, Pahor M, Bernabei R, Cocchi A. Hypotension and cognitive impairment: selective association in patients with heart failure. *Neurology*. 2001;57:1986-1992
- 422. Duschek S, Schandry R. Reduced brain perfusion and cognitive performance due to constitutional hypotension. *Clin Auton Res.* 2007;17:69-76
- 423. DeBakey ME. Successful carotid endarterectomy for cerebrovascular insufficiency: nineteenyear follow-up. *JAMA*. 1975;233:1083-1085
- 424. Eastcott HHG, Pickering GW, Rob CG. Reconstruction of internal carotid artery in a patient with intermittent attacks of hemiplegia. *Lancet.* 1954;264:994-996
- 425. Pokras R, Dyken ML. Dramatic changes in the performance of endarterectomy for diseases of the extracranial arteries of the head. *Stroke*. 1988;19:1289-1290
- 426. North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial. Methods, patient characteristics, and progress. *Stroke*. 1991;22:711-720
- 427. Fields WS, Maslenikov V, Meyer JS, Hass WK, Remington RD, Macdonald M. Joint study of extracranial arterial occlusion: V. Progress report of prognosis following surgery or nonsurgical treatment for transient cerebral ischemic attacks and cervical carotid artery lesions. *JAMA*. 1970;211:1993-2003
- 428. Mayberg MR, Wilson SE, Yatsu F, Weiss DG, Messina L, Hershey LA, Colling C, Eskridge J, Deykin D, Winn HR, Veterans Affairs Cooperative Studies Program 309 Trialist G, Kistler P, Mohr PJ, Kontos H, Platt M, Ernst C, Wechsler L, Hall E, Weiss M, Kurz R, Perez E, Safer D, Moore RM, Hobbins T, Arthur M, Raskin A, Feldbush RM, Lee M, Preston D, Davis D, Dunford L, Lucas C, Bergan J, Dacey RG, Jr., Grotta J, Barnett HJM, Heros R, Mohr JP, Moore WS, Gold J, Huang P, Fink D, Chimowitz M, McGillicuddy J, Grube S, Morgenstern E, Rerych S, McCutcheon C, Ammons J, Smith R, Giannetti R, Johnson W, Babikian V, Abramovitz J, Allen N, Hershey L, Gutierrez I, Corbett V, Barren J, Padberg F, Jr., Shanawani S, Rogers C, Reid S, Nadeau S, Seeger J, Baum R, Littooy F, Gupta S, Maggio J, Lalka S, Reddy RV, Kriese M, Acher C, Levine R, Archibald J, Strawn D, Remler M, Calogero D, Lawrence W, Cintera I, Hall M, Jones D, Makaroun M, Thompson J, Faris A, Moossv J, Love S, Lyden P, Hye R, Lamond R, Babcock T, Cali G, Bird T, Emmons F, Ploch N, Cohen S, Williams R, Frazee J, Josephson M, Hubbert C. Carotid endarterectomy and prevention of cerebral ischemia in symptomatic carotid stenosis. *JAMA*. 1991;266:3289-3294
- 429. Shaw DA, Venables GS, Cartlidge NEF, Bates D, Dickinson PH. Carotid endarterectomy in patients with transient cerebral ischaemia. *J Neurol Sci.* 1984;64:45-53
- 430. Warlow C. MRC European Carotid Surgery Trial: interim results for symptomatic patients with severe (70-99%) or with mild (0-29%) carotid stenosis. *Lancet*. 1991;337:1235-1243
- 431. Rothwell PM, Eliasziw M, Gutnikov SA, Warlow CP, Barnett HJM. Endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis in relation to clinical subgroups and timing of surgery. *Lancet*. 2004;363:915-924
- 432. European Stroke Organization (ESO) Executive Committee; ESO Writing Committee. Guidelines for management of ischaemic stroke and transient ischaemic attack 2008. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2008;25:457-507
- 433. Gladstone DJ, Oh J, Fang J, Lindsay P, Tu JV, Silver FL, Kapral MK. Urgency of carotid endarterectomy for secondary stroke prevention: results from the Registry of the Canadian Stroke Network. *Stroke*. 2009;40:2776-2782

- 434. Sacco RL, Adams R, Albers G, Alberts MJ, Benavente O, Furie K, Goldstein LB, Gorelick P, Halperin J, Harbaugh R, Johnston SC, Katzan I, Kelly-Hayes M, Kenton EJ, Marks M, Schwamm LH, Tomsick T. Guidelines for prevention of stroke in patients with ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack: A statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association Council on Stroke: co-sponsored by the Council on Cardiovascular Radiology and Intervention. *Stroke*. 2006;37:577-617
- 435. Rerkasem K, Rothwell PM. Systematic review of the operative risks of carotid endarterectomy for recently symptomatic stenosis in relation to the timing of surgery. *Stroke*. 2009;40(10):e564-572.
- 436. Executive Committee for the Asymptomatic Carotid Atherosclerosis Study. Endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis. *JAMA*. 1995;273:1421-1428
- 437. Halliday A, Mansfield A, Marro J, Peto C, Peto R, Potter J, Thomas D. Prevention of disabling and fatal strokes by successful carotid endarterectomy in patients without recent neurological symptoms: randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2004;363:1491-1502
- 438. Hobson RW, Weiss DG, Fields WS, Goldstone J, Moore WS, Towne JB, Wright CB, Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study Group. Efficacy of carotid endarterectomy for asymptomatic carotid stenosis. *N Engl J Med.* 1993;328:221-227
- 439. Donnan GA, Fisher M, Macleod M, Davis SM. Stroke. Lancet. 2008;371:1612-1623
- 440. Aspirin plus dipyridamole versus aspirin alone after cerebral ischaemia of arterial origin (ESPRIT): randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2006;367:1665-1673
- 441. Diener HC, Cunha L, Forbes C, Sivenius J, Smets P, Lowenthal A. European Stroke Prevention Study 2. Dipyridamole and acetylsalicylic acid in the secondary prevention of stroke. J Neurol Sci. 1996;143:1-13
- 442. Halkes PHA, Gray LJ, Bath PMW, Diener HC, Guiraud-Chaumeil B, Yatsu FM, Algra A. Dipyridamole plus aspirin versus aspirin alone in secondary prevention after TIA or stroke: a meta-analysis by risk. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2008;79:1218-1223
- 443. A randomised, blinded, trial of clopidogrel versus aspirin in patients at risk of ischaemic events (CAPRIE). *Lancet*. 1996;348:1329-1339
- 444. Diener H-C, Sacco RL, Yusuf S, Cotton D, Ôunpuu S, Lawton WA, Palesch Y, Martin RH, Albers GW, Bath P, Bornstein N, Chan BPL, Chen S-T, Cunha L, Dahlöf B, De Keyser J, Donnan GA, Estol C, Gorelick P, Gu V, Hermansson K, Hilbrich L, Kaste M, Lu C, Machnig T, Pais P, Roberts R, Skvortsova V, Teal P, Toni D, VanderMaelen C, Voigt T, Weber M, Yoon B-W. Effects of aspirin plus extended-release dipyridamole versus clopidogrel and telmisartan on disability and cognitive function after recurrent stroke in patients with ischaemic stroke in the prevention regimen for effectively avoiding second strokes (PRoFESS) trial: a double-blind, active and placebo-controlled study. *Lancet Neurol*. 2008;7:875-884
- 445. Payne DA, Jones CI, Hayes PD, Naylor AR, Goodall AH. Therapeutic benefit of low-dose clopidogrel in patients undergoing carotid surgery is linked to variability in the platelet adenosine diphosphate response and patients' weight. *Stroke*. 2007;38:2464-2469
- 446. Bhatt DL, Fox KAA, Hacke W, Berger PB, Black HR, Boden WE, Cacoub P, Cohen EA, Creager MA, Easton JD, Flather MD, Haffner SM, Hamm CW, Hankey GJ, Johnston SC, Mak K-H, Mas J-L, Montalescot G, Pearson TA, Steg PG, Steinhubl SR, Weber MA, Brennan DM, Fabry-Ribaudo L, Booth J, Topol EJ, the CI. Clopidogrel and aspirin versus aspirin alone for the prevention of atherothrombotic events. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;354:1706-1717
- 447. Diener PH-C, Bogousslavsky PJ, Brass PLM, Cimminiello PC, Csiba PL, Kaste PM, Leys PD, Matias-Guiu PJ, Rupprecht PH-J. Aspirin and clopidogrel compared with clopidogrel alone after recent ischaemic stroke or transient ischaemic attack in high-risk patients (MATCH): randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2004;364:331-337
- 448. Goldstein LB, Adams R, Alberts MJ, Appel LJ, Brass LM, Bushnell CD, Culebras A, DeGraba TJ, Gorelick PB, Guyton JR, Hart RG, Howard G, Kelly-Hayes M, Nixon JV, Sacco RL. Primary prevention of ischemic stroke: a guideline from the American Heart

Association/American Stroke Association Stroke Council: cosponsored by the Atherosclerotic Peripheral Vascular Disease Interdisciplinary Working Group; Cardiovascular Nursing Council; Clinical Cardiology Council; Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism Council; and the Quality of Care and Outcomes Research Interdisciplinary Working Group. *Stroke*. 2006;37:1583-1633

- 449. Akins PT, Feldman HA, Zoble RG, Newman D, Spitzer SG, Diener H-C, Albers GW. Secondary stroke prevention with ximelagatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: pooled analysis of SPORTIF IV and V clinical trials. *Stroke*. 2007;38:874-880
- 450. Mohr JP, Thompson JLP, Lazar RM, Levin B, Sacco RL, Furie KL, Kistler JP, Albers GW, Pettigrew LC, Adams HP, Jr., Jackson CM, Pullicino P, the Warfarin-Aspirin Recurrent Stroke Study Group. A comparison of warfarin and aspirin for the prevention of recurrent ischemic stroke. *N Engl J Med*. 2001;345:1444-1451
- 451. Cholesterol, diastolic blood pressure, and stroke: 13 000 strokes in 450 000 people in 45 prospective cohorts. *Lancet*. 1995;346:1647-1653
- 452. Amarenco P, Labreuche J, Lavallee P, Touboul P-J. Statins in stroke prevention and carotid atherosclerosis: systematic review and up-to-date meta-analysis. *Stroke*. 2004;35:2902-2909
- 453. The Stroke Prevention by Aggressive Reduction in Cholesterol Levels I. High-dose atorvastatin after stroke or transient ischemic attack. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;355:549-559
- 454. Crisby M, Nordin-Fredriksson G, Shah PK, Yano J, Zhu J, Nilsson J. Pravastatin treatment increases collagen content and decreases lipid content, inflammation, metalloproteinases, and cell death in human carotid plaques: implications for plaque stabilization. *Circulation*. 2001;103:926-933
- 455. Rosenson RS, Tangney CC. Antiatherothrombotic properties of statins: implications for cardiovascular event reduction. *JAMA*. 1998;279:1643-1650
- 456. Takemoto M, Liao JK. Pleiotropic effects of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme a reductase inhibitors. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21:1712-1719
- 457. Sillesen H, Amarenco P, Hennerici MG, Callahan A, Goldstein LB, Zivin J, Messig M, Welch KM, on behalf of the SPARCL Investigators. Atorvastatin reduces the risk of cardiovascular events in patients with carotid atherosclerosis: a secondary analysis of the Stroke Prevention by Aggressive Reduction in Cholesterol Levels (SPARCL) trial. *Stroke*. 2008;39:3297-3302
- 458. Randomised trial of a perindopril-based blood-pressure-lowering regimen among 6105 individuals with previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack. *Lancet*. 2001;358:1033-1041
- 459. Dahlöf B, Devereux RB, Kjeldsen SE, Julius S, Beevers G, de Faire U, Fyhrquist F, Ibsen H, Kristiansson K, Lederballe-Pedersen O, Lindholm LH, Nieminen MS, Omvik P, Oparil S, Wedel H. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in the Losartan Intervention for Endpoint Reduction in Hypertension Study (LIFE): a randomised trial against atenolol. *Lancet*. 2002;359:995-1003
- 460. Lithell H, Hansson L, Skoog I, Elmfeldt D, Hofman A, Olofsson B, Trenkwalder P, Zanchetti A; SCOPE Study Group. The Study on Cognition and Prognosis in the Elderly (SCOPE): principal results of a randomized double-blind intervention trial. J Hypertens. 2003;21:875-886
- 461. Napoli C, Bruzzese G, Ignarro LJ, Crimi E, de Nigris F, Williams-Ignarro S, Libardi S, Sommese L, Fiorito C, Mancini FP, Cacciatore F, Liguori A. Long-term treatment with sulfhydryl angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition reduces carotid intima-media thickening and improves the nitric oxide/oxidative stress pathways in newly diagnosed patients with mild to moderate primary hypertension. *Am Heart J.* 2008;156:1154.e1-8
- 462. Halm EA, Tuhrim S, Wang JJ, Rockman C, Riles TS, Chassin MR. Risk factors for perioperative death and stroke after carotid endarterectomy: results of the New York Carotid Artery Surgery Study. *Stroke*. 2009;40:221-229
- Schnaudigel S, Groschel K, Pilgram SM, Kastrup A. New brain lesions after carotid stenting versus carotid endarterectomy: a systematic review of the literature. *Stroke*. 2008;39:1911-1919

- 464. Vanninen E, Vanninen R, Äikiä M, Tulla H, Könönen M, Koivisto K, Partanen J, Partanen K, Hippeläinen M, Kuikka JT. Frequency of carotid endarterectomy-related subclinical cerebral complications. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 1996;6:272-280
- 465. Heyer EJ, Gold MI, Kirby EW, Zurica J, Mitchell E, Halazun HJ, Teverbaugh L, Sciacca RR, Solomon RA, Quest DO, Maldonado TS, Riles TS, Connolly ES, Jr. A study of cognitive dysfunction in patients having carotid endarterectomy performed with regional anesthesia. *Anesth Analg.* 2008;107:636-642
- 466. Wilson DA, Mocco J, D'Ambrosio AL, Komotar RJ, Zurica J, Kellner CP, Hahn DK, Connolly ES, Liu X, Imielinska C, Heyer EJ. Post-carotid endarterectomy neurocognitive decline is associated with cerebral blood flow asymmetry on post-operative magnetic resonance perfusion brain scans. *Neurol Res.* 2008;30:302-306
- 467. Heyer EJ, Wilson DA, Sahlein DH, Mocco J, Williams SC, Sciacca R, Rampersad A, Komotar RJ, Zurica J, Benvenisty A, Quest DO, Todd G, Solomon RA, Connolly ES, Jr. APOE-ε4 predisposes to cognitive dysfunction following uncomplicated carotid endarterectomy. *Neurology*. 2005;65:1759-1763
- 468. Crawley F, Stygall J, Lunn S, Harrison M, Brown MM, Newman S. Comparison of microembolism detected by transcranial Doppler and neuropsychological sequelae of carotid surgery and percutaneous transluminal angioplasty. *Stroke*. 2000;31:1329-1334
- 469. Gaunt ME, Martin PJ, Smith JL, Rimmer T, Cherryman G, Ratliff DA, Bell PRF, Naylor AR. Clinical relevance of intraoperative embolization detected by transcranial Doppler ultrasonography during carotid endarterectomy: A prospective study of 100 patients. *Br J Surg.* 1994;81:1435-1439
- 470. Martin KK, Wigginton JB, Babikian VL, Pochay VE, Crittenden MD, Rudolph JL. Intraoperative cerebral high-intensity transient signals and postoperative cognitive function: a systematic review. *Am J Surg.* 2009;197:55-63
- 471. Connolly Jr E, Winfree C, Rampersad A, Sharma R, Mack W, Mocco J, Solomon R, Todd G, Quest D, Stern Y, Heyer E. Serum S100B protein levels are correlated with subclinical neurocognitive declines after carotid endarterectomy. *Neurosurgery*. 2001;49:1076-1082
- 472. Rasmussen LS, Christiansen M, Johnsen J, Grønholdt ML, Moller JT. Subtle brain damage cannot be detected by measuring neuron-specific enolase and S-100beta protein after carotid endarterectomy. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth*. 2000;14:166-170
- 473. Sahlein DH, Heyer EJ, Rampersad A, Winfree CJ, Solomon RA, Benvenisty AI, Quest DO, Du E, Connolly ES. Failure of intraoperative jugular bulb S-100B and neuron-specific enolase sampling to predict cognitive injury after carotid endarterectomy. *Neurosurgery*. 2003;53:1243-1250
- 474. Hirooka R, Ogasawara K, Sasaki M, Yamadate K, Kobayashi M, Suga Y, Yoshida K, Otawara Y, Inoue T, Ogawa A. Magnetic resonance imaging in patients with cerebral hyperperfusion and cognitive impairment after carotid endarterectomy. *J Neurosurg*. 2008;108:1178-1183
- 475. Ogasawara K, Yamadate K, Kobayashi M, Endo H, Fukuda T, Yoshida K, Terasaki K, Inoue T, Ogawa A. Postoperative cerebral hyperperfusion associated with impaired cognitive function in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. *J Neurosurg.* 2005;102:38-44
- 476. De Rango P, Caso V, Leys D, Paciaroni M, Lenti M, Cao P. The role of carotid artery stenting and carotid endarterectomy in cognitive performance: a systematic review. *Stroke*. 2008;39:3116-3127
- 477. Hemmingsen R, Mejsholm B, Vorstrup S, Lester J, Engell HC, Boysen G. Carotid surgery, cognitive function, and cerebral blood flow in patients with transient ischemic attacks. *Ann Neurol.* 1986;20:13-19
- 478. Fearn SJ, Hutchinson S, Riding G, Hill-Wilson G, Wesnes K, McCollum CN. Carotid endarterectomy improves cognitive function in patients with exhausted cerebrovascular reserve. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* 2003;26:529-536

- 479. Fukunaga S, Okada Y, Inoue T, Hattori F, Hirata K. Neuropsychological changes in patients with carotid stenosis after carotid endarterectomy. *Eur Neurol*. 2006;55:145-150
- 480. Kishikawa K, Kamouchi M, Okada Y, Inoue T, Ibayashi S, Iida M. Effects of carotid endarterectomy on cerebral blood flow and neuropsychological test performance in patients with high-grade carotid stenosis. *J Neurol Sci.* 2003;213:19-24
- 481. Shellock F, Morisoli S, Kanal E. MR procedures and biomedical implants, materials, and devices: 1993 update. *Radiology*. 1993;189:587-599
- 482. Helenius J, Perkiö J, Soinne L, Østergaard L, Carano RAD, Salonen O, Savolainen S, Kaste M, Aronen HJ, Tatlisumak T. Cerebral hemodynamics in healthy population measured by dynamic susceptibility-contrast magnetic resonance imaging. *Acta Radiol.* 2003;44:1-9
- 483. Rahkonen O, Arber S, Lahelma E. Health inequalities in early adulthood: a comparison of young men and women in Britain and Finland. *Soc Sci Med.* 1995;41:163-171
- 484. Lythgoe DJ, Ostergaard L, Williams SCR, Cluckie A, Buxton-Thomas M, Simmons A, Markus HS. Quantitative perfusion imaging in carotid artery stenosis using dynamic susceptibility contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. *Magn Reson Imaging*. 2000;18:1-11
- 485. Basic identification criteria of Doppler microembolic signals. Stroke. 1995;26:1123-
- 486. Lezak MD, Howieson DB, Loring DW. *Neuropsychological assessment*. New York: Oxford University Press; 2004.
- 487. Lewis M, Maruff P, Silbert B. Statistical and conceptual issues in defining postoperative cognitive dysfunction. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2004;28:433-440
- 488. Rasmussen LS, Larsen K, Houx P, Skovgaard LT, Hanning CD, Moller JT, ISPOCD group. The assessment of postoperative cognitive function. *Acta Anaesth Scand*. 2001;45:275-289
- 489. Peltonen S, Lassila R, Rossi P, Salenius J-P, Lepäntalo M. Blood coagulation and fibrinolysis activation during sudden arterial occlusion of lower extremities an association with ischemia and patient outcome. *Thromb Haemost*. 1995;74:1442-1446
- 490. Weinfurt KP. Repeated measures analyses: ANOVA, MANOVA, and HLM. In: Grimm LG, Yarnold PR, eds. *Reading and understanding more multivariate statistics*. Washington DC: American Psychological Association; 2000:317-361.
- 491. Sullivan EV, Pfefferbaum A. Diffusion tensor imaging and aging. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2006;30:749-761
- 492. Charlton RA, Barrick TR, McIntyre DJ, Shen Y, O'Sullivan M, Howe FA, Clark CA, Morris RG, Markus HS. White matter damage on diffusion tensor imaging correlates with age-related cognitive decline. *Neurology*. 2006;66:217-222
- 493. Grieve SM, Williams LM, Paul RH, Clark CR, Gordon E. Cognitive aging, executive function, and fractional anisotropy: a diffusion tensor MR imaging study. *AJNR*. 2007;28:226-235
- 494. Tomimoto H, Ihara M, Wakita H, Ohtani R, Lin JX, Akiguchi I, Kinoshita M, Shibasaki H. Chronic cerebral hypoperfusion induces white matter lesions and loss of oligodendroglia with DNA fragmentation in the rat. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2003;106:527-534
- 495. Yamauchi H, Fukuyama H, Nagahama Y, Nabatame H, Nakamura K, Yamamoto Y, Yonekura Y, Konishi J, Kimura J. Evidence of misery perfusion and risk for recurrent stroke in major cerebral arterial occlusive diseases from PET. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1996;61:18-25
- 496. Engelter ST, Provenzale JM, Petrella JR. Assessment of vasogenic edema in eclampsia using diffusion imaging. *Neuroradiology*. 2000;42:818-820
- 497. Schwartz RB, Mulkern RV, Gudbjartsson H, Jolesz F. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging in hypertensive encephalopathy: clues to pathogenesis. *AJNR*. 1998;19:859-862
- 498. Kluytmans M, van der Grond J, Eikelboom BC, Viergever MA. Long-term hemodynamic effects of carotid endarterectomy. *Stroke*. 1998;29:1567-1572

- 499. Wiart M, Berthezéne Y, Adeleine P, Feugier P, Trouillas P, Froment J-C, Nighoghossian N. Vasodilatory response of border zones to acetazolamide before and after endarterectomy. *Stroke*. 2000;31:1561-1565
- 500. Tatu L, Moulin T, Bogousslavsky J, Duvernoy H. Arterial territories of human brain: brainstem and cerebellum. *Neurology*. 1996;47:1125-1135
- 501. Tatu L, Moulin T, Bogousslavsky J, Duvernoy H. Arterial territories of the human brain: cerebral hemispheres. *Neurology*. 1998;50:1699-1708
- 502. Maeda M, Yuh WTC, Ueda T, Maley JE, Crosby DL, Zhu M-W, Magnotta VA. Severe occlusive carotid artery disease: hemodynamic assessment by MR perfusion imaging in symptomatic patients. *AJNR*. 1999;20:43-51
- 503. Neumann-Haefelin T, Wittsack H-J, Fink GR, Wenserski F, Li T-Q, Seitz RJ, Siebler M, Mödder U, Freund H-J. Diffusion- and perfusion-weighted MRI. Influence of severe carotid artery stenosis on the DWI/PWI mismatch in acute stroke. *Stroke*. 2000;31:1311-1317
- 504. Schlaug G, Benfield A, Baird A, Siewert B, Lövblad K, Parker R, Edelman R, Warach S. The ischemic penumbra: operationally defined by diffusion and perfusion MRI. *Neurology*. 1999;53:1528-1537
- 505. Kluytmans M, van der Grond J, Folkers P, Mali W, Viergever M. Differentiation of gray matter and white matter perfusion in patients with unilateral internal carotid artery occlusion. J Magn Reson Imaging. 1998;8:767-774
- 506. Lee KY, Sohn YH, Baik JS, Kim GW, Kim J-S. Arterial pulsatility as an index of cerebral microangiopathy in diabetes. *Stroke*. 2000;31:1111-1115
- 507. Schneider P, Rossman M, Bernstein E, Torem S, Ringelstein E, Otis S. Effect of internal carotid artery occlusion on intracranial hemodynamics. Transcranial Doppler evaluation and clinical correlation. *Stroke*. 1988;19:589-593
- 508. Zbornikova V, Skoglund L. Early haemodynamic changes in the ophthalmic artery, siphon and intracranial arteries after carotid endarterectomy estimated by transcranial Doppler and duplex scanning. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* 1998;15:67-77
- 509. Wolf O, Heider P, Heinz M, Poppert H, Schmidt-Thieme T, Sander D, von Einsiedel G, Brandl R. Frequency, clinical significance and course of cerebral ischemic events after carotid endarterectomy evaluated by serial diffusion weighted imaging. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* 2004;27:167-171
- 510. Shenkin SD, Bastin ME, MacGillivray TJ, Deary IJ, Starr JM, Rivers CS, Wardlaw JM. Cognitive correlates of cerebral white matter lesions and water diffusion tensor parameters in community-dwelling older people. *Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2005;20:310-318
- 511. Jokinen H, Kalska H, Mäntylä R, Ylikoski R, Hietanen M, Pohjasvaara T, Kaste M, Erkinjuntti T. White matter hyperintensities as a predictor of neuropsychological deficits poststroke. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2005;76:1229-1233
- 512. Kennedy K, Raz N. Aging white matter and cognition: differential effects of regional variations in diffusion properties on memory, executive functions, and speed. *Neuropsychologia*. 2009;47:916-927
- 513. Hellings WE, Pasterkamp G, Verhoeven BAN, De Kleijn DPV, De Vries J-PPM, Seldenrijk KA, van den Broek T, Moll FL. Gender-associated differences in plaque phenotype of patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. *J Vasc Surg.* 2007;45:289-296
- 514. Carallo C, Pujia A, Irace C, De Franceschi MS, Motti C, Gnasso A. Whole blood viscosity and hematocrit are associated with internal carotid atherosclerosis in men. *Coron Artery Dis*. 1998;9:113-117
- 515. Turitto VT, Hall CL. Mechanical factors affecting hemostasis and thrombosis. *Thromb Res.* 1998;92:S25-S31
- 516. Ernst E, Resch KL, Matrai A, Buhl M, Schlosser P, Paulsen HF. Impaired blood rheology: a risk factor after stroke? *J Intern Med.* 1991;229:457-462

- 517. Tsuda Y, Satoh K, Kitadai M, Takahashi T. Hemorheologic profiles of plasma fibrinogen and blood viscosity from silent to acute and chronic cerebral infarctions. *J Neurol Sci.* 1997;147:49-54
- 518. Wannamethee G, Perry I, Shaper A. Haematocrit, hypertension and risk of stroke. *J Intern Med.* 1994;235:163-168
- 519. Alt E, Banyai S, Banyai M, Koppensteiner R. Blood rheology in deep venous thrombosis relation to persistent and transient risk factors. *Thromb Res.* 2002;107:101-107
- 520. Lip GYH, Blann AD, Jones AF, Lip PL, Beevers DG. Relation of endothelium, thrombogenesis, and hemorheology in systemic hypertension to ethnicity and left ventricular hypertrophy. *Am J Cardiol.* 1997;80:1566-1571
- 521. Kensey KR. The mechanistic relationships between hemorheological characteristics and cardiovascular disease. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2003;19:587-596
- 522. Macko RF, Kittner SJ, Epstein A, Cox DK, Wozniak MA, Wityk RJ, Stern BJ, Sloan MA, Sherwin R, Price TR, McCarter RJ, Johnson CJ, Earley CJ, Buchholz DW, Stolley PD. Elevated tissue plasminogen activator antigen and stroke risk: the Stroke Prevention in Young Women Study. *Stroke*. 1999;30:7-11
- 523. Smith FB, Lee AJ, Fowkes FGR, Price JF, Rumley A, Lowe GDO. Hemostatic factors as predictors of ischemic heart disease and stroke in the Edinburgh Artery Study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17:3321-3325
- 524. Geppert A, Graf S, Beckmann R, Hornykewycz S, Schuster E, Binder BR, Huber K. Concentration of endogenous tPA antigen in coronary artery disease: relation to thrombotic events, aspirin treatment, hyperlipidemia, and multivessel disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18:1634-1642
- 525. Juhan-Vague I, Pyke SDM, Alessi MC, Jespersen J, Haverkate F, Thompson SG. Fibrinolytic factors and the risk of myocardial infarction or sudden death in patients with angina pectoris. *Circulation*. 1996;94:2057-2063
- 526. Killewich L, Gardner A, Macko R, Hanna D, Goldberg A, Cox D, Flinn W. Progressive intermittent claudication is associated with impaired fibrinolysis. J Vasc Surg. 1998;27:645-650
- 527. Collen D. The plasminogen (fibrinolytic) system. *Thromb Haemost*. 1999;82:259-270
- 528. Lin W, Celik A, Derdeyn C, An H, Lee Y, Videen T, Østergaard L, Powers WJ. Quantitative measurements of cerebral blood flow in patients with unilateral carotid artery occlusion: a PET and MR study. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2001;14:659-667
- 529. Merlini PA, Bauer KA, Mannucci PM. Laboratory detection of the prethrombotic state. In: Verstraete M, Fuster V, Topol EJ, eds. *Cardiovascular thrombosis: Thrombocardiology and thromboneurology*. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers; 1998:103-118.
- 530. Bossema ER, Brand N, Moll FL, Ackerstaff RGA, van Doornen LJP. Does carotid endarterectomy improve cognitive functioning? *J Vasc Surg*. 2005;41:775-781
- 531. De Groot JC, De Leeuw F-E, Oudkerk M, Van Gijn J, Hofman A, Jolles J, Breteler MMB. Cerebral white matter lesions and cognitive function: the Rotterdam Scan Study. *Ann Neurol*. 2000;47:145-151
- 532. Pantoni L, Poggesi A, Inzitari D. The relation between white-matter lesions and cognition. *Curr Opin Neurol.* 2007;20:390-397